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Glossary of terms

Early-stage

Seed:

Financing provided to allow a business 
concept to be developed, perhaps 
involving production of prototypes and 
additional research, prior to bringing a 
product to market.

Start-up:

Financing provided to companies for the 
use in product development and initial 
marketing. Companies may be in the 
process of being set up or may have been 
in business for a short time, but have not 
sold their product commercially.

Other early-stage:

Financing provided to companies that 
have completed the product development 
stage and require further funds to initiate 
commercial manufacturing and sales. 
They will not yet be generating profit.

Late-stage

Expansion financing:

Capital provided for the growth and 
expansion of a company which is breaking 
even or even trading profitably. Funds may 
be used to finance increased production 
capacity, market or product development 
and/or provide additional working capital. 
Capital provided for turnaround situations 
is also included in this category.

Management Buy-In (MBI):

Funds provided to enable a manager or 
group of managers from outside the 
Company to buy into the Company.

Management Buy-Out (MBO):

Funds provided to enable current 
operating management and investors 
to acquire an existing business.

Follow-on investment
A company which has previously received 
private equity.

Secondary purchase
Purchase of existing shares in a company 
from another private equity firm, or from 
other shareholders.

Public to private
Purchase of the share capital of a company 
quoted on a stock exchange with the 
intention of de-listing the company and 
taking it private.

General Terms
Carried interest (“carry”).

Carried interest or simply “carry” 
represents the share of a private equity 
fund’s profit (usually 20%) that will accrue 
to the general partners.

Committed funds (or “raised funds” or 
“committed capital”) is capital committed 
by investors. This will be requested or 
‘drawn down’ by private equity managers 
on a deal-by-deal basis. This amount is 
different from invested funds for two 
reasons. Firstly, most partnerships will 
invest only between 80% and 95% of 
committed funds. Second, one has to 
deduct the annual management fee which 
is supposed to cover the cost of operation 
of a fund.

Distributions
Payments to investors after the realisation 
of investments of the partnership.

Divestments (or realisations or exits)
Exits of investments, usually via a trade sale 
or an IPO (Initial Public Offering) on a stock 
market.

Draw downs/calls
Payments to the partnership by investors 
in order to finance investments. Funds 
are drawn down from investors on a 
deal-by-deal basis.

Fund of funds
Private equity funds whose principal 
activity consists of investing in other private 
equity funds. Investors in funds of funds 
can thereby increase their level of 
diversification.

Gearing, debt/equity ratio 
or leverage
The level of a company’s borrowings as 
a percentage of shareholder funds.

Hurdle rate
Arrangement that caps the downside 
risk for investors. It allows investors to 
get preferential access to the profits of 
the partnership. In the absence of reaching 
the hurdle return, general partners will 
not receive a share of the profit (carried 
interest). A hurdle rate of 8% means 
that the private equity fund needs to 
achieve a return of at least 8% before 
the profits are shared according to the 
carried interest arrangement.

Limited partnership
Most private equity firms structure their 
funds as limited partnerships. Investors 
represent the limited partners and private 
equity managers the general partners.

Realisation
The sale of an investment.

Secondary market
The secondary market enables institutional 
investors to sell their stakes in a private 
equity partnership before it is wound up.

Trade sale
Sale of the equity share of an investee 
company to another company.

Turnaround
A loss-making company which can 
be successfully transformed into 
a profit maker.

Further information on our website

www.svgcapital.com
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independent adviser. If you have sold or otherwise 
transferred all of your shares, please pass this 
document together with the accompanying 
documents to the purchaser or transferee, or to 
the person who arranged the sale or transfer so they 
can pass these documents to the person who now 
holds the shares.

This document is important and requires your 
immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to 
any aspect of the resolutions being proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting, notice of which is set out 
at the back of this document, or as to the action you 
should take, you should seek your own advice from a 
stockbroker, solicitor, accountant or other appropriate 
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k  Commitment to a disciplined capital allocation 
programme
k  A tender of £65.0 million in April 2013 will 

complete the December 2011 commitment 
of returning £170.0 million
k  A target of a further £300.0 million of capital 

to be returned to shareholders over the next 
three years1

 
1  It is expected that these returns of capital will be in the form of buy-backs, regular tender offers and dividends 

and will be dependent on the size and timing of distributions from the existing investment portfolio and the 
requirement of SVG Capital to comply with the constraints of its senior borrowings; relevant taxation and other 
legislation; the Company’s overall priority of maintaining a prudent level of debt and in subsequent years, the 
renewal of relevant shareholder authorities. The pricing of any tenders will be with reference to net asset value at 
the time of the tender

k  SVG Capital will evolve from a single manager 
fund of funds to a listed private equity vehicle 
offering investors a balanced, single point exposure 
to private equity, allocating capital across the 
market dependent on market conditions
k  Our core strategy will be to build a portfolio 

of a limited number of leading private equity 
managers focused on management buyouts, 
building on the fund management business’ 
existing strengths
k  This strategy will provide increased investment 

flexibility to better align SVG Capital’s financing 
and investment strategy

A commitment  
to generating 
shareholder returns… 

A clear 
objective
Our strategy aims to 
maximise long term 
shareholder value by 
focusing on NAV 
growth and total 
shareholder return…

We will target returns of 5.0% p.a. net 
outperformance over public markets 
over a 10 year period

An evolving 
investment 
portfolio
Leveraging off 
the skill set of the 
investment team
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By capitalising 
on favourable 
mid-to-long 
term industry 
dynamics

Capital will be allocated 
with the over riding 
objective of maximising 
long term value for 
shareholders

New investment  
opportunities must  
pass two return hurdles:
kk a level of return that enables the 
Company to achieve its long-term 
objective of 5% p.a. net outperformance 
over public markets, with a margin of 
safety built in

kk be sufficiently attractive given the 
associated risk, relative to the alternative 
uses of capital including deleveraging or 
returning capital to shareholders

This capital allocation  
framework seeks to achieve  
two primary aims:
kk deliver a level of annual return  
reflecting the returns that top quartile 
private equity funds will generate in  
the long term

kk ensure that, on a relative basis,  
capital is allocated with the over-riding  
objective of maximising value for 
shareholders

Focus on value creation
Managers’ primary focus is on  
enhancing the value of the business  
and crystallising the value uplift for 
investors through an exit

Long term ownership model
Focus on long-term capital and 
value creation through strategic  
or operational improvement

Close alignment of interest
The incentive structures put in place  
for the management and employees  
of private equity backed businesses  
create a strong incentive to maximise  
value for investors

Highly skilled management
The private equity managers  
typically bring expertise in finance, 
operations and M&A gained  
from experience in similar business 
opportunities

We remain committed to the private equity 
asset class, where we see attractive opportunities 
over the mid-to-long term. Private equity has 
clear differentiation in driving returns:

We are well-positioned to capitalise on these:

Attractive competitive dynamics
kk Scarcity in capital favouring investors with access to capital

Heritage of private equity investment

Well established and proven investment selection capabilities

As a listed strategic investor in the asset class we are well placed  
to take advantage of these

Delivering our strategy

How we deliver on 
this commitment…

Through 
a disciplined 
approach 
to asset 
allocation
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By  
leveraging off
core skills

SVG Advisers Limited (SVGA) is a specialist private equity fund management and 
advisory business. It was established in 2001 to advise SVG Capital and also provide 
third-party investors with innovative ways to access the private equity asset class. 

SVGA has a strong track record of delivering private equity solutions for international 
investors and has funds and commitments under management and advice of 
£4.0 billion1. SVGA has offices in London, Boston and Singapore, offering “on the 
ground” access to major private equity markets. 

In February 2013, we announced a three year strategic alliance with Aberdeen 
Asset Management PLC. The strategic alliance combines SVGA’s private equity 
expertise with Aberdeen’s distribution platform, creating a leading private equity 
fund management business with assets under management or advice of £4.7 billion 
and significant growth potential.
1 At 31 December 2012

Private equity  
investment

Proven track record in 
fund commitments

Rigorous fund identification  
and selection process
kkManager universe defined from asset 
allocation process

kkMarket maps used to identify which  
top performing managers are likely to be 
fundraising within an investment period

kkModel portfolios used to ensure 
appropriate diversification and return 
expectations

Intensive due diligence process 
kk Detailed analysis of managers’  
track records

kkOn-site visits and reference calls

Robust investment process 
incorporating identification,  
due diligence and monitoring  
of funds

Investment  
monitoring

On-going portfolio company 
monitoring 
kk Bottom up portfolio company analysis 
and review

kk Detailed and regular interaction and 
questioning of private equity managers

kk Clear sight of current and future 
prospects of underlying companies

Independent view formed of 
portfolio company performance 
and prospects

Risk management  
and financing

Ensures delivery of investment 
objectives and maintenance of 
prudent and appropriate financing

Detailed modelling of cash,  
value and performance
kk Based on independent view of portfolio 
company performance and prospects

Risk assessment reviews liquidity 
and funding risk as well as currency 
and interest rate risks

Independent modelling facilitates 
investment optimisation through 
portfolio rebalancing and financing 

re-alignment, where appropriate
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Balance  
sheet

SVG Capital at a glance

Private  
equity  
investment

SVG Capital invests in a portfolio of private  
equity funds.

Fund  
management

SVG Capital’s fund management businesses,  
SVG Advisers (“SVGA”) and SVG Investment 
Managers (“SVGIM”), structure, market, manage  
and advise products for investment in private equity  
and public equity using private equity techniques.

31 Dec 2012 
audited

31 Dec 2011 
audited

Investment portfolio £1,014.0m2 £1,168.5m

Cash £269.4m £121.0m
Other assets £50.7m £17.4m
Total assets £1,334.1m £1,306.9m
Senior Notes (£150.3m) (£162.0m)
Bank facility – –
Convertible bonds (£92.8m) (£90.9m)
Other liabilities and non-controlling interests (£18.0m) (£15.3m)
Shareholders’ funds3 £1,073.0m £1,038.7m
Net assets per share  
(excluding SVGA and SVGIM) 391.2p 337.1p

31 Dec 2012 
unaudited

31 Dec 2011 
unaudited

Gross debt as a % of gross assets 18.0% 19.4%

Net (cash)/debt as a % of Shareholders’ funds (2.7%) 12.3%
Loan to value ratio (maximum of 30%)4 13.5% 13.4%

The Group invests from its own balance sheet 
as well as on behalf of third-party investors 
through funds that it manages and/or advises. 
At 31 December 2012, total assets and 
commitments under advice or management 
were £4.0 billion, including £2.6 billion1 managed 
or advised on behalf of third-parties.

Superior returns from 
a strong portfolio…

1  This figure excludes SVG Capital’s commitments/investments in SVG Advisers’ and SVG Investment  
Managers’ managed or advised funds

2 Excludes £27.7m deferred PE3 consideration
3 Calculated in accordance with IFRS
4 Maximum of 30% with the flexibility to go up to 40% for one nine month period

£1,334.1m
Total assets

£1,014.0m2 +13.5%
total returnNet investment portfolio

391.2p +16.0%per  
share

£1,073.0m
Shareholders’ funds
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Dec 2012 Dec 2011

Value £802.9m* £915.6m

Percentage of the net investment portfolio 79.2% 78.4%

Investing in eight funds with an underlying portfolio of 30 companies. 79.2% of the total 
investment portfolio is invested in Permira funds.

Full details on page 19.

Performance overview

915.6£m
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Opening 
valuation

Calls paid Capital distributions/
realisations received

Return Closing
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Sector
analysis

By value

31 Dec 2012 
% by value

31 Dec 2011 
% by value

1 Quoted 46 24

2 Earnings 35 59

3  Written down –  
earnings 13 12

4 Third-party 5 4

5 Cost 1 1

31 Dec 2012 
% by value

31 Dec 2011 
% by value

1 Global 77 56

2 Continental Europe 15 21

3 UK 6 11

4 North America 2 –

5 Asia – 12

31 Dec 2012 
% by value

31 Dec 2011 
% by value

1 Retail 43 30

2 Chemicals 23 15

3 Consumer 9 15

4 Media 9 7

5  Electronics and 
communications 8 13

6 Financial 6 5

7 Leisure 1 14

8  Industrial products/
services 1 1

Portfolio

Management 
buyout funds
Key features of the 12 months
kk Total return of 15.5% over the year 
driven by a strengthening of the Hugo 
Boss and Galaxy Entertainment share 
prices, good portfolio company 
earnings growth, especially those with 
diversified global revenue streams, and 
a modest increase in comparable 
earnings multiples which outweighed 
the negative impact of foreign 
exchange. 

kk Distributions of £249.8 million were 
dominated by the full realisation of 
Galaxy Entertainment over the year at 
a total uplift of £76.4 million to the 
31 December 2011 value.

kk Secondary sale of the direct holding in 
Permira Europe III completed at a 
13.3% discount – SVG Capital retained 
the right to receive distributions 
relating to 50% of its direct exposure 
to iglo Group as part of the sale and 
also has a material indirect exposure to 
Permira Europe III through its holdings 
in the Permira feeder vehicles.

* Includes £27.7m deferred consideration for PE3 sale.
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Freescale
Embedded semiconductors
Fund Permira IV

Cost £145.1m
% of gross MBO portfolio 4.8%
% of Shareholders’ funds 3.8%
Gross value Dec 2012 £40.6m
Date of acquisition Nov 2006
Freescale is a global leader in embedded processing 
solutions for the automotive, consumer, industrial and 
networking markets. The company has a heritage of 
innovation and product leadership spanning more than 
50 years and has an extensive intellectual property 
portfolio, including approximately 6,100 patent families, 
and serves more than 18,000 customers with leading 
products and solutions. The valuation basis is quoted.

Marazzi
Ceramic tiles
Fund Permira IV

Cost £39.9m
% of gross MBO portfolio 3.3%
% of Shareholders’ funds 2.6%
Gross value Dec 2012 £27.5m
Date of acquisition Jul 2008
Marazzi Group is a worldwide leader in the design, 
manufacturing and distribution of ceramic tiles. 
The company is a technological leader in the tiles 
sector and has a strong track record in design and 
innovation. Marazzi sells into 130 countries, with 
leadership in most of the markets in which it operates, 
and has manufacturing facilities in all of its key areas of 
activity (Europe, the US and Russia) as well as direct 
distribution in Russia and the US. The valuation basis 
is agreed sales proceeds.

7

SVG Capital at a glance continued

Portfolio

10 largest 
underlying 
companies
On these pages we show the 10 largest 
investments of the management buyout 
portfolio, by gross value, at 31 December 
2012. The valuations of these companies 
have been presented in accordance with 
IFRS and do not contain any provision for 
carried interest. A provision for carried 
interest is taken when calculating the net 
investment portfolio. Following the 
decision by the Company to cap its 
commitment to Permira IV in December 
2008, the valuations of all of the Permira 
IV investments made prior to 2009 
include a provision against future 
distributions. Value attributable to 
follow-ons into Permira IV companies 
is not subject to this provision.

1

6

Hugo Boss
Fashion
Fund Permira IV

Cost £202.3m
% of gross MBO portfolio 38.8%
% of Shareholders’ funds 30.4%
Gross value Dec 2012 £326.7m
Date of acquisition May 2007
Hugo Boss operates in the fashion and luxury goods 
market. It is the global leader in the formal menswear 
fashion market with a presence of over 6,100 points of 
sale across 124 countries. The valuation basis is quoted.

Arysta LifeScience 
Agrochemicals
Fund Permira IV

Cost £160.1m
% of gross MBO 
portfolio 22.6%
% of Shareholders’ funds 17.7%
Gross value Dec 2012 £190.1m
Date of acquisition Feb 2008
Arysta LifeScience is one of the world’s largest 
privately-held agrochemical businesses, specialising 
in crop protection including herbicides, insecticides 
and fungicides, as well as a number of products for 
the healthcare and veterinary medicine markets. 
Headquartered in Tokyo, the company markets 
a portfolio of more than 150 products in over 
125 countries. The valuation basis is earnings.

2
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TDC
Communications solutions
Fund Permira Europe II, 

Permira Europe III

Cost £9.6m
% of gross MBO portfolio 2.3%
% of Shareholders’ funds 1.8%
Gross value Dec 2012 £19.6m
Date of acquisition Dec 2005
TDC is a provider of communications solutions in 
Denmark with over nine million revenue generating 
units. It also has a significant presence in other markets 
across the Nordic region. The company is the leading 
provider of telecommunications and pay-TV services in 
Denmark with a market-leading position in each of its 
major business segments: landline telephony, internet 
access, mobility services and pay-TV. The valuation basis 
is quoted.

ProSiebenSat.1 Media
Television and radio
Fund Permira IV

Cost £140.2m
% of gross MBO portfolio 7.5%
% of Shareholders’ funds 5.9%
Gross value Dec 2012 £63.2m
Date of acquisition Mar 2007
ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG (“P7S1”) is a leading European 
broadcasting group. The company owns Germany’s 
largest family of Free TV stations. Its long-term strategy 
is to invest in new growth markets to become a digital 
entertainment powerhouse. The valuation basis 
is earnings.

5

Legico
Finance
Fund Permira IV

Cost £36.5m
% of gross MBO portfolio 5.0%
% of Shareholders’ funds 3.9%
Gross value Dec 2012 £42.0m
Date of acquisition Jan 2008
Legico seeks to invest in senior and subordinated 
LBO debt. Legico’s aim is to acquire high quality 
debt assets with attractive yields by investing in 
senior, mezzanine and PIK opportunities in both the 
primary and secondary markets. Legico is advised by 
the Permira Debt Managers team. The valuation basis 
is mark-to-market.

Acromas (AA Saga)
Motoring, travel, media, finance
Fund Permira Europe III

Cost £16.6m
% of gross MBO portfolio 2.0%
% of Shareholders’ funds 1.6%
Gross value Dec 2012 £16.7m
Date of acquisition Sep 2004
Acromas is the holding company for The AA and Saga, 
two of the UK’s most iconic brand names. With 15 
million members, The AA is the UK’s market leader in 
roadside assistance and is also one of the UK’s biggest 
names in insurance. Saga provides financial services 
to people aged over 50 in the UK, as well as personal 
financial products. Saga also offers a broad range of 
holidays and other travel services to its customers and 
is the UK’s largest independent provider of domiciliary 
care services. The valuation basis is earnings.

Sisal
Gaming
Fund Permira Europe III

Cost £6.5m
% of gross MBO portfolio 0.9%
% of Shareholders’ funds 0.7%
Gross value Dec 2012 £7.5m
Date of acquisition Oct 2006
Sisal is the No.2 gaming operator in Italy. The company 
operates in all segments of the gaming market, 
including lotteries, betting, slot machines, video lotteries 
and bingo, and has a long history of innovation in the 
Italian gaming market. It relaunched the Italian lottery 
as SuperEnalotto, and operates it under an exclusive 
concession from the Italian State Treasury that will 
continue until 2018. The valuation is earnings.

3

8 9

iglo Group
Frozen food
Fund Permira Europe III

Cost £25.3m
% of gross MBO portfolio 6.8%
% of Shareholders’ funds 5.3%
Gross value Dec 2012 £57.3m
Date of acquisition Nov 2006
The iglo Group is a branded European frozen food 
company that produces fish, vegetables and poultry, 
including a number of iconic products such as Fish 
Fingers, Schlemmer Filets and Sofficini. The Group 
operates under three brands: Birds Eye (UK and Ireland), 
iglo (Germany, Austria, Belgium, The Netherlands and 
other countries) and Findus (Italy). The valuation basis 
is earnings.

4

10
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SVG Capital at a glance continued

1 Gross of any carried interest provision
2 Including Permira feeder vehicles

+£76.4m
Change in year1 ,2
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+£65.8m +£28.8m +£20.4m +£11.3m (£7.3m) (£8.2m)

Hugo BossGalaxy
Entertainment

Arysta
LifeScience

ProSiebenSatLegico TDC Freescale

31 Dec 20121, 2 £m Distributions in year £m 31 Dec 20111, 2 £m Calls in year £m

48
.8

0.
2
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Galaxy Entertainment

Companies owned by Permira completed 
a full realisation of the remaining 
investment in Galaxy Entertainment over 
the year through two fully underwritten 
share placements at significant uplifts to 
the 31 December 2011 valuation.

Key investment highlights included:

kk Strong revenue growth, especially 
following the construction and opening 
of Galaxy Macau, and a focus on 
profitable gaming volumes

kk Galaxy Entertainment’s market share 
increased from c.10% to c.20% during 
Permira’s ownership, taking it from the 
fifth to the second largest operator in 
the Macau market

kkMacau has become the world’s largest 
and fastest growing gaming market at 
over five times the size of Las Vegas

kk Galaxy Entertainment benefited from 
the macroeconomic backdrop of 
mainland China

Portfolio

Major 
unrealised 
portfolio 
movements
Three largest movements over 
the 12 months
kk Galaxy Entertainment’s share price 
increased 91% from 31 December 
2011 to the final realisation in 
November 2012 following 
16 consecutive quarters of revenue and 
earnings growth and the launch of the 
second phase of Galaxy Macau’s 
construction. This investment is now 
fully exited.

kk Hugo Boss’ valuation increased 
following double digit revenue and 
earnings growth and an increase in its 
share price since the valuation changed 
to a quoted basis in June 2012. The sale 
of Valentino Fashion Group completed 
in October at a significant uplift to the 
31 December 2011 valuation and 
proceeds were used to deleverage the 
Hugo Boss investment holding 
company.

Portfolio 
realisations

2.8x original cost
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Portfolio

SVG 
managed or 
advised funds
Key features of the 12 months – 
private equity
kk Total return of 16.9% over the year

kk Strong increase in value of the private 
equity funds of funds as gains in 
underlying investment values have 
been amplified by the leverage within 
many of the fund structures

kk The valuations of these holdings are 
predominantly based on September 
2012 underlying fund valuations, 
adjusted for subsequent cash flows

kk During the year, SVG Capital sold its 
commitment to SVG Asia Fund of 
Funds, releasing £18.3 million of 
uncalled commitments

Key features of the 12 months – 
public equity 
kk Good performance over the 
12 months, reporting a total return 
of 12.3%

kk During the year SVG European Fund 
closed and SVG Capital exited its 
position

Dec 2012 Dec 2011

Value £138.9m £121.4m

Percentage of the investment portfolio 13.7% 10.4%

Investing in four diversified funds of funds managed or advised by SVG Advisers.

Private equity performance overview

Dec 2012 Dec 2011

Value £42.6m £55.0m

Percentage of the investment portfolio 4.2% 4.7%

Investing in three funds managed by SVG Investment Managers which invest in public 
markets using private equity techniques.

Public equity performance overview

121.4£m
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“ The overriding objective of the investment 
programme is to allocate capital in a disciplined 
manner, ensuring that it is deployed to maximise 
long term value for shareholders.”

Chairman’s statement

In my first statement as Chairman of the 
Company, I am pleased to report another 
year of strong performance with NAV per 
share increasing by 16.0% over the year 
to 391.2p, which compares to a return 
on the FTSE All-Share (TR) of 12.3%. This 
performance has once again been driven 
by both revenue and earnings growth at 
the underlying portfolio companies and 
the strong share price performance of 
Hugo Boss and Galaxy Entertainment.

The focus of the management team over 
the course of 2012 has been on disciplined 
capital allocation and on repositioning the 
portfolio ahead of our new investment 
programme, which was approved by 
shareholders in March 2012. As part of this 
process the investment committee has 
spent a considerable amount of time 
reviewing the assets on our balance sheet, 
with particular focus on the relative risk and 
return profiles of the more mature assets 
and the incremental return we expect to 
receive from these relative to other uses 
of capital.

This process led to the completion of six 
secondary sales during the course of the 
year, which generated total proceeds of 
£97.4 million1, and repositioned the 
portfolio towards higher growth and less 
mature assets. The proceeds of these sales 
will be used to complete our December 
2011 commitment to shareholders to 
return £170.0 million of capital through 
buy-backs and tender offers. To date2 we 
have returned 63.0% of this target and will 
complete this commitment in April 2013, 
with a tender of £65.0 million. The pricing 
of this tender will be with reference to the 

Another year of strong 
performance…

+16.0%
Increase in our NAV per share (excluding 
the value of SVG Advisers and SVG 
Investment Managers) over one year 
to 391.2p per share

£300.0m
Target Capital Return to shareholders over 
the next three years

1 £35.2 million in the form of deferred consideration
2 As at 11 February 2013
3 Including income distributions

December 2012 net asset value per share 
(rolled forward for movements in quoted 
holdings, finance costs, foreign exchange, 
realisations and fees).

We have also received distributions of 
£240.9 million3 from the portfolio over the 
year with the sale of the remaining holding 
in Galaxy completing in November. As a 
result, we finished the year with cash 
balances of £269.4 million, outweighing 
our gross debt of £240.7 million. These 
significant cash balances not only provide 
certainty on our ability to complete the 
commitment we made to shareholders in 
December 2011, but also allow us to focus 
on both short term and longer term 
returns, with an emphasis on the total 
returns generated for shareholders, 
through a combination of buy-backs, 
tender offers, dividends and longer term 
net asset growth.

The overriding objective of our future 
investment programme will be to allocate 
capital in a disciplined manner, ensuring 
that it is deployed to maximise long term 
value for shareholders. The Board believes 
the best to way to achieve this is through 
a combination of new investments, which 
will provide the longer term net asset 
growth and continued returns of capital 
to shareholders.

Over the longer term, the Board believes 
that returns from the private equity asset 
class will be attractive, with the potential to 
exceed SVG Capital’s long term objective 
of a 5% p.a. net outperformance over 
public markets over a 10 year period. 
Manager selection is paramount in 
achieving this outperformance and it is 
likely that SVG Capital will only invest with 
a small selection of high quality managers 
over the next three years. This approach is 
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designed to give shareholders a balanced 
portfolio of private equity assets, with an 
element of diversification across vintage 
year, manager and size, and will allow the 
Company to lay the foundations for returns 
beyond the current investment portfolio 
through a concentration on private equity 
managers who are assessed by our 
investment team to be amongst the best in 
the market. In line with this strategy I am 
pleased to announce that the Company 
has committed €100 million to the Fifth 
Cinven fund, the first new commitment 
the Company has made since its change 
of investment objective last year.

The Company has a concentrated 
investment portfolio, and therefore 
distributions from the portfolio are more 
likely to be large and infrequent. Balancing 
a desire for efficient balance sheet 
management with the importance of 
prudent risk controls, the Company will 
target to return a further £300.0 million1 to 
shareholders over the next three years, 
at the same time as executing the new 
investment programme. It is expected that 
these returns of capital will be in the form 
of buy-backs, regular tender offers and 
dividends and will be dependent on the 
size and timing of distributions from the 
existing investment portfolio and the 
requirement of SVG Capital to comply 
with: the constraints of its senior 
borrowings; relevant taxation and other 
legislation; the Company’s overall priority 
of maintaining a prudent level of debt and 
in subsequent years, the renewal of 
relevant shareholder authorities. The 
pricing of any tenders will be with reference 
to net asset value at the time of the tender.

As part of the wider review of the assets of 
the Company, the Board also initiated a 
strategic review of our private equity fund 
management business and we are pleased 
to announce that we have successfully 
negotiated a sale of 50.1% of SVG Advisers 
to Aberdeen Asset Management PLC 
(“Aberdeen”). This transaction not only 
crystallises a portion of the value created in 
this business but also provides SVG Advisers 
with a much enhanced platform for future 
growth. The CEO’s statement contains a 
detailed description of these arrangements.

The Board

Towards the end of the year, Nicholas 
Ferguson, who had been a non-executive 
director of the Company since its listing in 
May 1996 and Chairman since 2005, 
stepped down from the Board. Under 

1 Over and above the £65.0 million tender in April 2013

Nicholas’ stewardship the Company has 
become a leading listed private equity 
group and FTSE 250 company. On behalf 
of the Board I would like to thank him for 
his leadership and the significant 
contribution he has made to the Company 
over many years.

Denis Raeburn and Francis Finlay also 
retired in the early part of the year and 
Edgar Koning, who had been on the Board 
since it listed, stepped down from the 
Board in December 2012. Stephen Duckett 
joined the Board in March 2012 and brings 
a wealth of private equity experience with 
him. I would like to thank Denis, Francis 
and Edgar for their contributions to the 
Board and the Company over many years 
and welcome Stephen.

As previously announced, Charles Sinclair, 
who has been a non-executive director of 
the Company since 2006 and Senior 
Independent Director since 2009, intends 
to step down from the Board during 2013. 
The Board has commenced a search for a 
new independent non-executive director 
to ensure a seamless transition.

Corporate governance and risk 
oversight

The Board takes its governance and risk 
oversight responsibilities seriously, including 
overseeing compliance with the UK 
Governance Code. As part of the 2012 risk 
review process, a review of the Company’s 
risk management processes was 
undertaken. This review has resulted in the 
Group adopting a new risk management 
policy and supporting processes. The new 
framework more clearly identifies key risk 
management and risk oversight 
accountabilities, including the role of the 
Board and the Audit Committee, and 
describes the key processes that will 
support achievement of effective risk 
management and oversight. A copy of 
SVG Capital’s corporate risk management 
policy is available on the Company’s 
website.

Change to articles of association

In line with recent amendments to the 
2006 Companies Act, SVG Capital will 
be seeking shareholder approval at its 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting for 
a change in its Articles of Association that 
would allow the Company to pay 
dividends to shareholders from both capital 
and income reserves. This amendment is 
intended to facilitate the compliance by 
the Company with investment trust 
taxation rules.

Outlook

Although the outlook for the world 
economy continues to be very challenging, 
a number of positive steps and strong 
statements from the European Central 
Bank and the German Chancellor during 
the summer of 2012 have allayed the 
markets’ worst fears about the future of 
the Eurozone. This led to greater market 
stability, and has been followed by the 
short term resolution of the ‘fiscal cliff’ in 
the US and signs of more aggressive policy 
easing in Japan. While markets have been 
more buoyant as a result of these 
developments, the global economy 
remains weak and economic forecasters 
remain cautious. Despite this backdrop, 
many companies under private ownership 
have continued to perform well, 
demonstrating strong earnings and 
revenue growth over the year. After a weak 
first half for private equity deal activity, and 
a low level of European deals in aggregate 
for 2012, European deals began to build 
momentum in the second half of the year 
– particularly the fourth quarter – as 
evidenced by increased levels of activity 
in our MBO fund’s portfolio. Conversely, 
US activity built momentum throughout 
the year, fuelled by improved debt 
financing conditions, and in 2012 US deal 
flow and exits surpassed the post-Lehman 
highs of 2011.

We are positive about private equity as 
an asset class and its potential for positive 
returns in the future, while remaining 
mindful of the uncertainty within the 
macro-economic environment and the 
impact this could have on both the 
operating performance of our underlying 
companies and the speed and ability for 
private equity managers to acquire and exit 
investments over the near term. That said, 
we are encouraged by the performance of 
the companies in the MBO portfolio and 
their resilience to recent economic 
headwinds. The excellent work undertaken 
by Permira and underlying management 
teams to protect and improve their 
companies’ capital structures, has put 
them in a stronger position to withstand 
and take advantage of the opportunities 
emerging from the macro-economic 
environment. Provided the wider global 
economy continues to show signs of 
increasing stability, we feel positive about 
our underlying portfolio and its future 
potential as we move into 2013.

Andrew Sykes  
Chairman

14 February 2013
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Chief Executive’s statement

Against a backdrop of continued economic 
uncertainty, for the third consecutive year 
the investment portfolio has delivered a 
double digit total return (13.5%), which 
has again been driven by positive earnings 
momentum, deleveraging and the strong 
performance of some of our listed 
holdings. The portfolio, whilst focused, has 
significant exposure to global businesses 
with diversified and resilient revenue 
streams and most portfolio companies are 
budgeting for healthy revenue and profit 
growth performance in 2013.

Towards the end of the year the market 
environment improved and Permira exited 
several investments. The most material of 
these was the sale of the remaining holding 
in Galaxy Entertainment, in addition to this 
Permira also announced the sale of Marazzi 
and continued in the gradual sell down of 
its remaining stake in listed Danish 
Telecoms provider, TDC. Together with 
this we also completed on a number of 
secondary transactions, reorienting the 
portfolio towards less mature assets and 
strengthening liquidity.

The Company ended the year with net 
cash of £28.7 million, allowing the Board 
the opportunity to review the balance 
sheet with a view to simplifying the 
Company’s financing arrangements and 
move towards more flexible borrowing. 
In December, we agreed an additional 
facility of €50 million with our bankers, 
Lloyds, increasing our revolving credit 
facility to €150 million, maturing in 
December 20152 and in the coming 
months we will be repaying some of the 
outstanding Senior Notes.

The various funds managed by our fund 
management business, SVG Advisers, 
continued to perform well, however, the 
fundraising market for private equity 
remains challenging. In light of this, during 
the year we conducted a strategic review of 
the business and it became clear that if we 
wanted to grow SVG Advisers, it would 
need to partner with another asset 
management business that had a 
significant distribution platform. We are 
therefore pleased to announce that we 
have entered into a strategic alliance 
with Aberdeen.

We established SVG Advisers in 2001 and 
its funds have since gone on to commit 
over €7.5 billion to private equity funds 
globally, developing a long and strong 
track record in private equity fund 
selection. We believe that the strategic 
alliance is a good balance of crystallising 
some of the value in SVG Advisers for 
our shareholders, whilst still retaining 
influence and access to a skill set that 
we can leverage from for SVG Capital’s 
investment programme.

For the third consecutive 
year the investment 
portfolio has delivered 
a double digit 
total return…

1  Including fees of £1.0 million
2  The €100 million Tranche A of SVG Capital’s revolving 
credit facility matured on 18 January 2013

+13.5%
total return on the investment portfolio

£101.4m1
of capital returned since December 2011
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Aberdeen will pay a cash consideration of 
£17.5 million for the acquisition of a 50.1% 
interest in SVG Advisers1, as well as 
on-going income from certain Aberdeen 
private equity management contracts 
which are intended to be transferred to the 
combined business. In addition, we believe 
that the strategic alliance will enable 
SVG Advisers to grow its investment 
platform and enter new markets faster, 
at lower cost and with more diversification 
than it could currently achieve on its own. 
SVG Capital will continue to benefit from 
its share of the profit stream from this 
business during the period of the 
strategic alliance.

All of the staff within SVG Advisers and 
the private equity team from Aberdeen 
will work for the strategic alliance. The 
SVG Capital investment committee will 
continue to advise the Board of SVG Capital 
on its investment portfolio and new 
commitments. SVG Investment Managers, 
which manages approximately 
£200 million of public equity funds will 
not form part of the strategic alliance and 
will remain an asset of SVG Capital.

The combined business will be branded 
Aberdeen SVG Private Equity and will be 
led by Lynn Fordham who will also remain 
Chief Executive of SVG Capital. SVG Capital 
is proposing to enter into a new advisory 
contract with Aberdeen SVG Private Equity. 
The advisory fee of 0.5% of gross assets will 
remain unchanged. SVG Capital retains the 
freedom to tender its advisory contract, 
should it so wish, on 12 months’ notice.

The terms of the transaction are that at the 
end of the three year term Aberdeen has 
the option to acquire, and SVG Capital the 
option to sell the remaining 49.9% stake, at 
a price based on a valuation of the business 
at the time the option is exercised, with 
minimum and maximum prices set for 
the stake at £20.0 million and £35.0 million 
respectively. The proceeds of the 
transaction will be used for general 
corporate purposes. The transaction is 
subject to regulatory consent, certain other 
customary matters and is expected to be 
completed in the first half of 2013. The 
value of SVG Capital’s cash consideration 
and investment in the combined business, 
measured at fair value, will be included 
in the net asset value at that point. This is 
expected to add a minimum of 
£37.5 million (13.7p per share2) to the 
net assets of the business.

The strategic alliance with Aberdeen 
crystallises value for shareholders and 
combines SVG Advisers private equity 
expertise with Aberdeen’s distribution 
platform, creating a leading private 
equity fund management business with 
significant growth potential. 

We have laid the foundations for the next 
phase in the Company’s development 
aided by the continued strong 
performance of the portfolio and the 
significant strengthening of the balance 
sheet. The Company is well positioned 
to take advantage of new investment 
opportunities and has made its first new 
commitment, which is €100 million to 
the Fifth Cinven fund. Cinven is a leading 
European private equity firm with a strong 
and consistent track record of private 
equity investment dating back to 1977. 
We expect to announce other new 
investments during 2013.

Lynn Fordham  
Chief Executive

14 February 2013

“ The Company is well positioned to take 
advantage of new investment opportunities 
and has made its first new commitment, 
which is €100 million to the Fifth Cinven fund.”

1  SVG Advisers and SVG Managers
2  £17.5 million initial cash consideration and the 
minimum agreed price for SVG Capital’s remaining 
49.9% of the combined business. In addition, the 
Company will continue to benefit from its share of the 
profit stream from this business during the period of 
the strategic alliance.
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The Business review provides shareholders with an overview of SVG Capital’s:

Investment objective and policy – page 14

Key Performance Indicators – page 14

Marketplace – page 15

Financial review – page 16

Investment portfolio review – page 18

Contractual arrangements – page 23

Principal Risks, Risk Management and Risk Oversight – page 24

Introduction

SVG Capital is an international private equity investor and fund management business 
with offices in London, Boston and Singapore.

The Group invests from its own balance sheet as well as on behalf of third-party investors 
through funds that it manages and/or advises. 

At 31 December 2012, total assets and commitments under management and/or advice 
were £4.0 billion, including £2.6 billion4 managed or advised on behalf of third-parties.

Investment objective

SVG Capital’s investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing in a 
portfolio of private equity and private equity-related assets.

Investment policy 

The Company invests in private equity and private equity-related assets which provide 
it with exposure to a portfolio of companies that are diversified by vintage year, size, 
geography, manager and industry sector. The Company will seek to operate with a view 
to ensuring that no single underlying portfolio investment represents more than 15.0% of 
the Company’s investment portfolio by value at the time of acquisition. 

The Company has a desired maximum average level of gearing of approximately 20.0% 
of gross assets over time and has an absolute maximum limit on borrowings of two times 
its adjusted capital and reserves, as set out in the Articles of Association of the Company.

Business review

The Group’s 
Financial Key 
Performance 
Indicators

41.3%
Shareholder total return  
during the 12 months1

4.3% p.a.
Shareholder total return  
since listing in 19962

16.0%
Net asset per share growth  
during the 12 months3

4.4% p.a.
Net asset growth per share  
since listing in 19963

1  Assuming holding tendered in £50 million tender 
offer and ignoring on-market share buy-backs. 
The simple increase in the share price over the 
same period was 40.4%

2  Assuming holding tendered in £50 million tender 
offer, ignoring on-market share buy-backs, and 
assuming pro-rata participation in rights issue 
and placing

3  Excluding the valuation of SVG Advisers 
and SVG Investment Managers

More information on non-financial KPIs are 
contained in the Corporate social responsibility 
report on page 45

4 This figure excludes SVG Capital’s commitments/investments in SVG Advisers’ and SVG Investment Managers’ 
managed or advised funds

015616_SVG_R&A2012_p14-27.indd   14 21/02/2013   09:03
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Marketplace

Although the outlook for the world economy continues to be very challenging, 
a number of positive steps and strong statements from the European Central Bank 
and the German Chancellor during the summer of 2012 have allayed the markets’ worst 
fears about the future of the Eurozone. This led to greater market stability, and has been 
followed by the short-term resolution of the “fiscal cliff” in the USA and signs of more 
aggressive policy easing in Japan. While markets have been more buoyant as a result 
of these developments, the global economy remains weak and economic forecasters 
remain cautious. 

In terms of private equity, macroeconomic uncertainty continues to weigh on buyout 
activity, particularly in Europe, where leveraged buyouts declined in 2012 and fell 
to record lows2. Despite the weaker annual numbers, Q4 2012 was a strong quarter for 
European buyouts with deal value rising a significant 85% on Q3 2012 to €22.8 billion – 
the largest quarterly value recorded since Q2 20113. Deal activity has been building 
momentum in the US, driven by improved debt financing conditions, with US 
investments in 2012 surpassing the post-Lehman highs of 2011 for both buyouts and 
exits4. New deals are continuing to take place for quality businesses, though competition 
for assets is keeping acquisition prices high. Add-on acquisitions remain a key feature of 
deal activity, representing a third of all deals in 20125. European debt markets remain more 
challenging, but are still open for the ‘best’ deals, and refinancings through high yield 
bonds remain common. Private equity managers continue to use windows of opportunity 
to refinance portfolio companies to access cheaper and longer-dated financing and there 
continues to be a strong focus on pushing out loan maturities. 

Additionally, private equity managers are focused on partial or full realisations of portfolio 
investments and returning capital to investors with a number of partial realisations via 
dividend recapitalisations and partial sales of sponsors’ stakes. In practice a number of exit 
processes have been initiated and later pulled due to offers coming in below expectations. 
While there have been a handful of successful IPOs, the market conditions remain 
challenging for listings. Corporate balance sheets remain ‘cash rich’ and this could 
encourage a further recovery in the M&A market if overall sentiment continues to 
improve, directly acting as a catalyst to the private equity market. 

The wider economy is likely to remain weak in the near term, in turn impacting the 
environment in which the underlying companies operate. However, the corporate sector 
as a whole is proving resilient against a difficult macroeconomic backdrop and is in a 
strong position to withstand the impact of these potential headwinds and deliver positive 
returns over the longer term.

1 Editorial, ‘Cliff deal lifts markets but strife looms’, FT, 2 January 2013/’Stocks at highs as focus turns to US banks’, 
FT, 11 January 2013

2 S&P LCD ‘European Leveraged Buyout Review’, Q4 2012
3 Press release, ‘Q4 2012 unquote’ Private Equity Barometer, 21 January 2013 
4 Preqin quarterly report Q4 2012 – Private Equity-Backed Buyout Deals and Exits, January 2013
5 Preqin press release ‘Private Equity-Backed Buyout Deal Flow in North America Reaches Post-Lehman High 

in 2012’, 4 January 2013
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Business review continued

Financial review

The Group’s NAV per share increased during the year by 16.0% to 391.2p. The increase in 
NAV per share was primarily driven by a 13.5% total return from the investment portfolio. 
The portfolio performance is analysed in more detail in the investment portfolio review.

NAV per share evolution
337.1Pence

390.0

370.0

350.0

330.0

310.0

290.0

270.0

5.0 (0.3) 49.4341.8 391.2 

Opening NAV 
per share

Impact of 
share 

repurchases

Adjustments re. 
performance shares 

and options

Adjusted opening 
NAV per share

Increase 
in NAV 

per share

Closing
NAV per 

share

Investment activity
The investment portfolio was highly cash generative during the year, with total investment 
proceeds of £303.1 million significantly outweighing calls paid of £24.1 million. The sale 
of Galaxy Entertainment Group by Permira IV was the largest contributor, generating 
£160.3 million of proceeds during the year. Other material distributions include the 
partial realisations of TDC (£19.0 million) and Legico (£17.9 million) and the dividend 
recapitalisation of iglo Group (£13.9 million). In addition to these distributions, 
the Company generated cash proceeds of £62.2 million through secondary sales, 
with a further £35.2 million of deferred consideration due in 2013 and 2014.

Share repurchases
The Company has been using investment proceeds to return capital to shareholders. 
A total of £101.4 million was returned during the year. In March 2012, the Company 
completed a fully subscribed Tender Offer returning £50.0 million at 321.0p per share. 
In addition, the Company purchased 18.6 million shares in the market at an average 
share price of 270.7p, returning a further £50.2 million. These share repurchases, all at 
a discount to NAV, have been accretive to continuing shareholders, adding 5.0p to 
NAV per share over the year on a fully diluted basis.

The Board intends to continue to return capital to shareholders. Since 31 December 20121, 
the Company has purchased a further 1.5 million shares at an average price of 308.3p, 
returning a further £4.6 million. In addition, the Company intends to complete a 
£65.0 million Tender Offer in April 2013. This will take the total cash returned to 
shareholders since December 2011 to more than £170.0 million, meeting the Board’s 
stated objective to return at least that amount.

In addition, in the three years following the April 2013 tender offer, the Company will 
target to return a further £300.0 million by a combination of on-market buy-backs, 
tender offers and dividends.

1 Until 11 February 2013
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Borrowings
Following the net cash inflows received over the period, at 31 December 2012 the 
Company had cash balances of £269.4 million and a positive net cash position of 
£28.7 million (2.7% of Shareholders’ funds), compared to net debt at 31 December 2011 
of £127.7 million (12.3% of Shareholders’ funds).

During the year, the Company took the opportunity to repurchase £7.4 million of 
Senior Notes, contributing to an overall reduction in gross borrowings of £9.8 million 
to £240.7 million (or 18.0%1 of gross assets) down from 19.4% at 31 December 2011. 
In 2013, £55.7 million2 of Senior Notes will mature and be fully repaid by the Company, 
reducing gross debt to £185.0 million.

At 31 December 2012, the Company’s Loan to Value ratio was 13.5%, significantly below 
the maximum of 30%.

The Company has an available revolving credit facility of €150.0 million, having allowed 
a €100 million tranche of the facility to mature in January 2013. The remaining facility 
matures in December 2015. The facility remained fully undrawn throughout the year.

Cash balances and uncalled commitments
Uncalled commitments stood at £91.7 million, down from £170.2 million at 31 December 
2011. The Company is extremely well placed to meet these commitments with cash 
balances of £269.4 million and an undrawn loan facility of £121.7 million (€150.0 million) 
at 31 December 2012.

The Company will be making a €100.0 million commitment to the Fifth Cinven fund. 
Adjusting for this, uncalled commitments will increase to £172.8 million.

The Company expects to utilise its cash over the coming year to maximise long-term 
shareholder value through a combination of returning capital, deleveraging and new 
private equity commitments.

Fund management activities
The Company’s subsidiary fund management businesses continue to make a positive 
financial contribution to the Group. Distributions of £17.3 million were paid to the 
Company from these businesses during the period. Further distributions, including 
dividends of £5.8 million and a return of capital of £7.5 million will be paid in February 
2013.

The Company has entered into an agreement whereby Aberdeen will acquire 50.1% 
of its holding in SVG Advisers3, with a put and call option to sell the remaining holding 
in three years at an agreed price. As discussed in the Chief Executive’s Statement, the 
Company expects to receive £17.5 million cash consideration in relation to this transaction. 
In addition, the Company will receive dividends from the combined business.

Foreign exchange
The appreciation of sterling against the euro had a negative impact on portfolio gains, 
partly offset by the appreciation of the US dollar. In aggregate, foreign exchange reduced 
the overall portfolio returns by £35.5 million to £160.9 million. The foreign exchange 
losses on senior $-denominated borrowings were largely offset by gains on the related 
currency swap. To date in 2013, sterling has weakened against both the euro and the 
dollar which should have a positive impact on the value of the investment portfolio.

Risks
A description of the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties is included in the Principal 
Risks, Risk Management and Risk Oversight section of this statement. These include 
risks relating to valuation, leverage, funding, borrowing, concentration and portfolio 
company risk.

1 Net of the £2.4 million cross currency swap
2 Calculated at year-end exchange rates
3 SVG Advisers and SVG Managers



Hugo Boss
Double-digit growth in sales and earnings 
made 2012 the most successful year in 
Hugo Boss’ history to date with all regions 
and distribution channels generating 
sales increases. For 2012 as a whole the 
company reported a 14% increase in 
sales to €2.3bn and EBITDA before 
special items of €529m, a 13% increase. 
The company has said that despite the 
challenging market environment, it is 
confident that it will continue to post 
stronger growth than the overall market 
in 2013.

During H1 2012, funds advised by 
Permira agreed to sell VFG at a 
£34 million uplift to the 31 December 
2011 valuation of SVG Capital’s holding in 
VFG. The net cash proceeds have been 
used to repay the existing financing debt 
at the holding company which owns the 
majority of Hugo Boss. 
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Investment portfolio review

Large investments 
Listed below are the Company’s 10 largest fund investments by value at 
31 December 2012.

Funds £m

Permira IV  592.9 

P25  78.6 

SVG Diamond Holdings Limited  72.1 

P1234  60.6 

SVG Diamond Holdings II Limited  44.8 

P123  25.5 

SVG Diamond Holdings III Limited  21.2 

SV International Life Sciences Fund IV  20.3 

The Strategic Recovery Fund II  16.6 

SVG UK Focus Fund  14.1 

The investment portfolio recorded a total return of 13.5% over the year to 31 December 
2012. The management buyout (MBO) funds portfolio represents the majority of the 
investment portfolio, 79.2% by value, and consists of investments in Permira funds. 
Over the 12 months, the MBO funds reported a total return of 15.5%, driven by the 
sale of Galaxy Entertainment at a strong uplift to the 31 December 2011 valuation, 
a strengthening of the Hugo Boss share price and good portfolio company earnings 
growth, especially from those with diversified global revenue streams. The positive 
momentum more than outweighed the modest negative impact of foreign exchange 
over the 12 months as sterling gained approximately 3% against the euro over the year.

The majority of the remaining investment portfolio consists of the SVG Advisers’ managed 
or advised funds, specifically investments in the SVG Diamond suite of funds, which 
represent 13.7% of the total investment portfolio by value. The three SVG Diamond funds 
are leveraged fund of funds products with diversified portfolios of predominantly US and 
European focused private equity buyout funds. Over the 12 months to 31 December 
2012, the underlying private equity fund portfolios have reported good NAV growth 
which has been further enhanced by the leverage within the SVG Diamond structures, 
culminating in the SVG Advisers’ managed or advised funds reporting a total return of 
15.5% over the year.

Portfolio maturity – investments in companies –  
(£m – year of original investment in underlying companies) 

Cost

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Earnings (below cost)

Third party Quoted Earnings

500

400

300

200

100
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MBO funds – £802.9 million
(79.2% of the net investment portfolio)
The MBO funds portfolio consists of investments in Permira funds which represent 79.2% 
of the net investment portfolio.

2012 has been a year of significant transactional activity for the MBO portfolio, with 
Permira completing a number of exits, weighted towards the second half. SVG Capital has 
received total proceeds of £249.8 million from the MBO portfolio over the year.

In aggregate, the MBO portfolio reported a 15.5% total return over the 12 months to 
31 December 2012. The majority of this valuation gain was driven by the material uplift 
crystallised in the final realisations of Galaxy Entertainment over the year and the 25.1% 
increase in Hugo Boss’ value. Both portfolio company valuation gains were driven by a 
significant increase in their respective quoted share prices.

Companies valued on an earnings basis have also reported valuation gains as the majority 
continued to report good earnings growth, especially those companies with exposure to 
diversified global revenue streams. Looking at the MBO portfolio as a whole over the 
12 months to December 2012, the portfolio companies reported weighted average 
earnings growth of 8% and revenue growth of 9% year-on-year. With the sale of Galaxy 
Entertainment in the fourth quarter, these figures exclude the exceptionally strong 
year-on-year growth figures reported by this company since the opening of Galaxy Macau 
in May 2011. In addition, there has been a modest increase in the like-for-like weighted 
average earnings multiples used in the valuations of 3.2%, although this is heavily 
influenced by Arysta LifeScience and ProSiebenSat and on a non-weighted basis multiples 
were flat. At 31 December 2012, the weighted average discounted earnings multiple used 
to value the portfolio was 8.9x and the median was 9.1x.

Permira and the underlying management teams have continued to manage the capital 
structures of investee companies, opportunistically renegotiating covenants and terms. 
At 31 December 2012, less than 10% of the Permira funds’ portfolio companies’ debt 
was due to expire before 2015 and the teams have continued to take advantage of 
opportunities to further decrease leverage, particularly in more mature companies.

The portfolio has become increasingly focused over the year following the sale of Galaxy 
Entertainment and SVG Capital’s direct holding in Permira Europe III1. The MBO portfolio’s 
five largest investments (Hugo Boss, Arysta LifeScience, ProSiebenSat, iglo Group and 
Legico) represent 80.7% of the gross MBO portfolio value.

Major unrealised portfolio movements

+£76.4m
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+£65.8m +£28.8m +£20.4m +£11.3m (£7.3m) (£8.2m)

Hugo BossGalaxy
Entertainment

Arysta
LifeScience

ProSiebenSatLegico TDC Freescale

31 Dec 20122,3  £m Distributions in year £m 31 Dec 20112,3  £m Calls in year £m

Change in year2,3

2 Gross of any carried interest provision
3 Including Permira feeder vehicles

23
.3

0.
2

1  SVG Capital has retained a material exposure to Permira Europe III indirectly through the Permira feeder vehicles 
as well as retaining 50% of the direct economic interest in iglo Group
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The full realisation of Permira’s remaining holding in Galaxy Entertainment over 2012 
generated the largest portfolio value gain. Permira IV executed two fully underwritten 
placements of their remaining ordinary shares in Galaxy at significant uplifts to the 
31 December 2011 share price, resulting in total distributions to SVG Capital of 
£160.3 million. Together with the first placement in September 2011, Permira IV has 
generated a total multiple of 2.8x original cost and an IRR of 25% from this investment.

Hugo Boss was the other significant value driver over the year (+£65.8 million) and at 
31 December 2012 represented 38.8% of the gross MBO portfolio value. Hugo Boss 
reported profitable growth over the 12 months with sales increasing by 14% and EBITDA 
increasing by 13%. Following shareholder approval at an AGM in May 2012, all preference 
shares were converted into ordinary shares and Permira’s valuation of Hugo Boss changed 
to be based on the quoted share price. Funds advised by Permira also completed the sale 
of Valentino Fashion Group during the second half to an investment group backed by 
a leading investor from Qatar. The net proceeds from the sale have been used 
predominantly to repay the existing financing debt at the holding company of the 
Hugo Boss investment.

Arysta LifeScience is the second largest portfolio company, representing 22.6% of the 
gross MBO portfolio value at 31 December 2012. The company has continued to report 
positive results with EBITDA increasing on a constant currency basis by approximately 9% 
in 2012, driven by strong trading in Latin America as well as a recovery in Japan following 
the earthquake and tsunami in 2011. However, some of the strong results were partially 
offset by drought and price pressures from generics in North America, a slow recovery 
from the 2011 floods in China and South Asia, and dry weather in India. In May 2012, 
a £13.2 million follow on investment was made to support further M&A opportunities 
and deleverage the business. In addition, the valuation of the business has increased by 
a further £28.8 million over the year.

Legico delivered a £20.4 million value gain over 2012. The underlying portfolio of loans 
performed well during the year and following a global fixed income rally in September 
and October, Permira Debt Managers decided to liquidate part of Legico’s portfolio to 
lock in some significant gains on investments. The majority of net proceeds have been 
distributed back to investors with a portion being used to repay some of Legico’s term 
debt facility. In conjunction with this, Legico agreed an amendment and extension to its 
loan facility, extending the expiration date from December 2014 to December 2016. 
SVG Capital received a distribution of £17.9 million1 during Q4 2012.

ProSiebenSat’s value increased by £11.3 million over the year, largely driven by an increase 
in comparable earnings multiples. The company reported a 6.0% increase in revenues 
over the first nine months of 2012 and a 3.8% increase in EBITDA, mainly driven by strong 
diversification performance into digital and content production sales. Following the Q3 
2012 results, management reconfirmed their full year outlook, targeting mid-single digit 
growth in revenues. In December 2012, ProSiebenSat announced the sale of its northern 
European TV and radio activities to Discovery Communications, further increasing its focus 
on the German-speaking broadcasting and digital and entertainment segments. 
The transaction is subject to customary merger control clearance and is expected to close 
in Q1 2013. ProSiebenSat will use the proceeds to de-lever the business and increase 
its capacity for dividend distributions in 2013. Permira IV will use any additional 
distributions to de-lever the holding company of the ProSiebenSat investment. In addition, 
ProSiebenSat is proposing to merge its ordinary and preference share classes at the 
company’s AGM in July 2013.

TDC (-£7.3 million) and Freescale (-£8.2 million) reported the largest valuation declines 
over the year, driven by a fall in their respective share prices. TDC has continued to trade 
resiliently despite macro-economic uncertainty and a slowdown in Danish consumer 
spending as the domestic TV business and TDC’s Nordic operations continue to perform 
well. However, the market remains highly competitive and the business continues to focus 
on cost reduction. Permira completed two partial realisations of TDC during 2012, 
resulting in total distributions to SVG Capital of £19.0 million2.

1 The value of this distribution increased to £23.3m including SVG Capital’s holdings in the Permira Feeder Vehicles
2 The value of this distribution increased to £22.8m including SVG Capital’s holdings in the Permira Feeder Vehicles
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Consistent with other semiconductor companies, Freescale has been experiencing some 
revenue and backlog softness since Q3 2011, largely driven by global macro-economic 
uncertainties and weakness in the industrial, automotive and networking businesses. 
Q4 remained weak with revenue declining from last year’s levels, but was in line with 
management guidance. Factory utilisation levels fell from the previous quarter as 
management aimed towards lower inventory levels. Management expects the weakness 
in markets to continue to Q1 2013 – it has guided flat sales, but expects gross margins to 
improve as a result of operating initiatives taken in 2012.

Realisations
Distributions of £249.8 million were received from the MBO portfolio over the year, 
largely driven by the final realisations of Galaxy Entertainment during the second half, as 
discussed earlier. In addition, Legico crystallised some significant gains on its investments 
through asset sales during Q4 2012. The majority of these net proceeds have been 
distributed to investors and SVG Capital has received £17.91 million from this realisation. 
The remaining proceeds have been used to deleverage the investment company.

During 2012, Permira Europe III executed two partial realisations of TDC, the Danish listed 
communications solutions provider, at uplifts to the 31 December 2011 share price. From 
this investment, SVG Capital has received total distributions, both directly and indirectly 
through its holdings in the Permira feeder vehicles, of £22.8 million over the year.

On 7 November 2012, iglo Group completed an amendment and extension of its existing 
senior debt facilities, in order to extend maturities to 2017, and also raised some additional 
senior debt maturing in 2018. The rebalancing of the capital structure enabled the Group 
to redeem a portion of its existing shareholder debt. The transaction has improved the 
efficiency of the capital structure, whilst maintaining an appropriate risk profile, and 
optimises the operational and financial flexibility to support future value creation. 
The net proceeds from Permira Europe III in connection with this recapitalisation triggered 
a distribution from P123 and P1234 to SVG Capital of £10.9 million.

Finally, Permira IV signed a binding agreement to sell Marazzi, a global leader in the 
design, manufacturing and sale of ceramic and porcelain stoneware flooring and wall 
tiles, to Mohawk Industries, a leading building products company listed on the NYSE, 
on 20 December 2012. The transaction valued SVG Capital’s holding in Marazzi at 
£27.5 million, a £5.9 million uplift to the 31 December 2011 value. 50% of the 
consideration will be received by Permira IV in cash at closing and 50% in registered 
shares of Mohawk. The sale is subject to customary anti-trust approvals and is anticipated 
to complete in H1 2013.

New investments and follow-ons
Permira IV announced four portfolio company acquisitions during the year. SVG Capital 
will participate in these investments indirectly through its holdings in the Permira feeder 
vehicles and the SVG Diamond programme.

Genesys is a leading global provider of customer service software solutions that manage 
more than 100 million customer interactions every day in over 80 countries. Genesys 
develops, sells and services software products that enable businesses to provide more 
effective and efficient customer service and improve the productivity of customer facing 
personnel. The company specialises in managing human interactions where the initial 
customer contact could be through any communication channel including voice, web, 
mobile device or social media. The value of this investment for SVG Capital at 
31 December 2012 is £5.2 million.

Intelligrated is a leading North American-based provider of automated material handling 
solutions, services and products. Intelligrated designs, manufactures and installs complete 
material handling solutions for the warehousing, distribution, consumer product 
manufacturing, postal and parcel markets. Solutions include conveyor systems, sortation 
systems, palletisers and robotics, order fulfilment systems, warehouse control software 
and advanced machine controls. Intelligrated is headquartered in Mason, Ohio, and 
has operations throughout the United States and in Canada, Mexico and Brazil. The 
investment completed on 31 July 2012 and SVG Capital’s share is valued at £2.1 million 
at 31 December 2012.

1 The value of this distribution increased to £23.3m including SVG Capital’s holdings in the Permira Feeder Vehicles
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Akindo Sushiro is the market leading sushi restaurant chain in Japan in the fast growing 
value format revolving sushi segment. The company currently operates 335 revolving 
counter sushi restaurants, typically located in suburban areas, and serves over 100 million 
customers across Japan every year. In addition, the company opened its first overseas 
restaurant in Seoul, Korea, in December 2011, and now has three restaurants in Seoul. 
Akindo Sushiro offers high quality sushi at an attractive price point and has grown 
rapidly through addressing the large demand for sushi from its customer segment. 
The investment completed in September 2012 and SVG Capital’s share is valued at 
£3.5 million at 31 December 2012.

Ancestry is the world’s largest online family history resource, having pioneered the 
conversion of a time intensive, expensive offline pursuit into an affordable, accessible 
online one. Ancestry’s network of websites enables users to research and share family 
history, using an unrivalled data set with over 10 billion digitalised historic records from 
15 countries and four billon user generated records. SVG Capital’s share of this investment 
is valued at £2.8 million at 31 December 2012.

SVG managed or advised funds
SVG Advisers’ funds–£138.9 million
(13.7% of the net investment portfolio)
The SVG Advisers’ managed or advised funds portfolio represents the majority of the 
remaining investment portfolio and largely consists of investments in the SVG Diamond 
suite of funds. The three SVG Diamond funds are leveraged fund of funds products with 
diversified underlying portfolios of predominantly US and European focused buyout 
funds. SVG Capital has exposure to 122 underlying funds through these holdings, which 
are managed by 74 GPs, and hold 980 portfolio companies.

In aggregate, the SVG Advisers’ funds portfolio reported a 16.9% total return over the 
year, as underlying valuation increases have been amplified by the leverage within the 
SVG Diamond fund structures. During the year, SVG Capital sold its commitment to 
SVG Asia Fund of Funds releasing £18.3 million of uncalled commitments.

SVG Investment Managers’ funds–£42.6 million
(4.2% of the investment portfolio)
The funds managed by SVG Investment Managers reported good performance over the 
year delivering a 12.3% total return. During the year, the SVG European Fund closed and 
SVG Capital exited its position.

Capital commitments
At 31 December 2012, the Group had uncalled commitments as follows:

Amount called 
€

(unaudited)

Uncalled 
commitment  

€  
(unaudited)

Uncalled
commitment1 

£
(unaudited)

Management buyout funds
Permira IV 1,367.4 77.0 62.4
Sapphire IV 1.7 0.3 0.2
SVG Sapphire IV 11.3 1.7 1.4

64.0
SVG Advisers’ funds
SVG Diamond Private Equity III 47.2 18.3 14.8
Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III 0.9 0.1 0.1

14.9

Non-core portfolio 12.8

Total 91.7
1 Based on 31 December 2012 exchange rates
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Contractual arrangements

The Company relies on Permira to effectively manage the investments it makes. 
The Company invested in Permira IV on the same terms as other investors, which were 
customary terms for private equity fund investments at that time. In December 2008, 
the Company capped its commitment to Permira IV, pursuant to a re-organisation 
of the Fund. 

As at 31 December 2012, the Company was party to the following agreements that take 
effect, alter or terminate on a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid:

(a) the multicurrency revolving facility agreement made between the Company and 
Lloyds TSB Bank plc dated 10 March 2006. Under this agreement, the Company would 
be required to promptly notify Lloyds TSB Bank plc, in its capacity as agent for the banks, 
of any change of control. Such notification would open a negotiation period of 60 days to 
determine whether the lenders shall continue to make the facility available and whether 
any amendment is required. Failing agreement, any lender may require repayment of the 
amount outstanding to it under the facility and cancel its commitment.

(b) the note purchase agreements dated 18 July 2008 and 2 August 2007. Under these 
agreements, the Company would be required to promptly notify all noteholders of 
the change of control, offering to prepay the entire unpaid principal amount of notes held 
by each noteholder, with interest to the date of prepayment. Each noteholder has 30 days 
to accept or reject the prepayment offer. If no response is received by a noteholder, the 
offer shall be deemed to have been rejected.

(c) the trust deed dated 5 June 2008 between the Company and HSBC Corporate 
Trustee Company (UK) Limited (as trustee) constituting the £120.0 million 8.25 per cent 
converted bonds issued by the Company with a maturity of 2016. Under this agreement, 
the Company shall give notice to the trustee and bond holders within 14 calendar days 
of any change of control. Within 60 calendar days of the giving of such notice, each 
bondholder may give notice of their intention to exercise their conversion rights (at a 
decreased conversion price) or require the Company to redeem their bonds with interest 
to the date fixed for redemption.

(d) the operating agreement dated 21 March 2005 with Permira. This agreement allowed 
Permira to terminate the agreement in the event of a change of control of the Company. 
This agreement is now no longer in force.
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Principal Risks, Risk Management and Risk Oversight

Senior management and the Board take their responsibilities to oversee and assess the effectiveness 
of the Company’s risk management processes very seriously. In 2012 the Board conducted a self-
assessment of its overall performance and concluded that additional focus on board risk oversight and 
corporate risk management processes was warranted. The Company engaged the services of Risk 
Oversight Inc. to independently assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and 
oversight framework. As a result of this assessment, the Company has implemented a new framework 
to assess, manage and oversee risk that puts more focus on identifying, measuring and managing 
risks to the Company’s key strategic value creation objectives, as well as traditional risks that have 
potential to negatively impact shareholder value. Details of the new risk management framework are 
available on the Company’s website in the Governance section. The Company’s Audit Committee, the 
Committee assigned primary responsibility for assessing and overseeing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management and oversight processes, was provided with a briefing on global 
developments in the area of board oversight of risk and emerging best practices and reviewed and 
approved the Company’s new risk management policy at their meeting on 12 February 2013. 

The Companies Act and the Financial Reporting Council require companies to disclose the ‘principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the company’. The Company has a formal process to identify, evaluate 
and manage the risks that the Company faces. Output from that process was used as an input to this 
year’s disclosure. The process was further enhanced as a result of an independent assessment of the 
Company’s risk management framework and public disclosures processes in December 2012 and 
January 2013. Additional changes will be made, if appropriate, to the Company’s risk management 
framework in 2013 as the Company implements the new risk management policy. 

‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ are defined by us as risks with the highest overall potential to affect 
the achievement of the Company’s business objectives. 

Principal risks and uncertainties Change from 2011 Key risk treatments 

Current market, political and 
economic uncertainty may 
affect the returns earned by 
the Company and the trading 
price and value of its Ordinary 
Shares

vk

This risk was assessed as stable 
in 2012. While certain risks 
stabilised in 2012 (for example, 
collapse of the EU and the 
US “fiscal cliff”) there remains 
significant global uncertainty

•	continual discussion on the performance of portfolio companies 
with underlying fund managers, to verify that the companies 
are reacting to uncertainty. A sale of fund interests would be 
considered if thought appropriate

•	ongoing monitoring of market, political and economic 
developments

•	hedging of foreign currency risks, where appropriate

Borrowing and funding risk 
may prevent the Company 
from paying its unfunded 
commitments or repay its debt

 

k

This risk was assessed as 
decreasing in 2012 due to 
the decrease in unfunded 
commitments to £91.7 million 
(2011: £170.2 million) and 
increase in cash to £269.4 
million (2011: £121.0 million).

The Company has £150.9 
million of unsecured Senior 
Notes in issue, and £100.7 
million of subordinated 
convertible loan notes due 
in 2016

•	the Board considers detailed cash flow forecasts at each Board 
meeting. Realisation proceeds from existing investments can 
be used to pay uncalled commitments and repay borrowing

•	the Board reviews gearing at each Board meeting and imposes 
limits on borrowings and new commitments

•	the Company has the benefit of a revolving credit facility of 
€150 million available until 31 December 2015 which can 
be used to meet obligations in the absence of distributions

•	the Company can dispose of assets, raise capital or renegotiate 
the terms of borrowing or investments

Business review continued

Arrows: change in net risk assessment 
from 2011

k Net risk has increased

vk Level of net risk is unchanged

k

Net risk has decreased
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Principal risks and uncertainties Change from 2011 Key risk treatments 

Concentration risk may result 
in the performance of the 
Company being unduly 
affected by the performance 
of one or a small group of 
underlying investee 
companies. The Company’s 
largest individual underlying 
company holding represents 
38.8% of the gross 
management buy-out 
portfolio and the Top 10 
largest underlying holdings 
represents 91.4% of the gross 
management buy-out 
portfolio. In addition, the 
portfolio is concentrated by 
sector with retail accounting 
for 43% by value and 
chemicals 23% by value

k

This risk was assessed as 
increasing due to the increased 
concentration of the portfolio 
as Permira exited certain 
investments, while no new 
commitments were made 
in the period

•	the Board considers the performance of its largest portfolio 
companies in detail periodically and can dispose of fund 
commitments

•	the Company has changed its Investment Objective to evolve 
from a concentrated, single manager investor to one that is more 
diversified. No new commitments were made in the year, but the 
Company has announced a commitment to a new manager since 
year end

Currency risk may impact 
returns received by the 
Company as the majority of 
its assets are denominated 
in foreign currency. Many 
investee companies are 
international and therefore 
exposed to multiple currencies

In addition, certain liabilities 
are denominated in foreign 
currencies

vk

This risk was assessed as stable. 
Following the sale of Galaxy 
Entertainment, the Company is 
no longer exposed to HK$ 
currency risk. However, the 
majority of the Company’s 
assets continue to be 
denominated in foreign 
currency

•	the Company continually monitors foreign exchange risk

•	the Company has the ability to hedge against foreign currency 
movements. The Board has taken out currency swaps to mitigate 
the currency risk associated with the portion of Company’s 
liabilities that are denominated in US$

The Company’s excess 
liquidity is invested in bank 
accounts and money market 
funds until the capital 
is required to fund new 
investments and general 
corporate costs. The safety and 
soundness of the investments 
made with these funds 
represents a risk

vk

This risk has been added to the 
principal risks and uncertainties 
disclosed in prior year

•	the Company has a rigorous process to select and oversee where 
it invests surplus funds. This includes detailed analysis of the credit 
worthiness and historical track record of the financial institutions 
being considered, or in use, and ongoing monitoring of national 
and international developments that have potential to undermine 
the safety and soundness of those firms

The Company invests in funds 
managed by private equity 
managers, who in turn select 
and oversee underlying 
investee companies. The 
expertise, due diligence, risk 
management skills and 
integrity of the private equity 
fund managers selected by the 
Company is key to the success 
of the Company

vk

This risk has been added to the 
principal risks and uncertainties 
disclosed in prior year

•	 the Company performs extensive due-diligence on the private 
equity managers that it invests with, which includes assessing 
the adequacy of the risk management frameworks they use, 
and monitoring their performance
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Year  
formed

Original life  
(years)

SVG Capital’s
holding in

the fund
%

Value of 
SVG Capital’s  

holding  
£’000

% of total  
investments

Management buyout funds

Permira Europe I 

The first US$1 billion fund raised for private equity investment in Europe 
focusing on large and medium-sized leveraged buyout opportunities. 1997 10* 13.5 1,292 0.1

Permira Europe II 

Focused on European buyouts/ins, in addition to growth 
capital investments. 2000 10* 15.2 14,058 1.4

Economic interest in iglo Group (Permira Europe III) 3.6 19,863 2.0

Permira IV 

Focused on buyouts/ins and growth capital investments in businesses 
which have or intend to have significant activities in Europe. The fund 
may invest up to 30% of its committed capital in businesses which do not 
have or intend to have significant activities in Europe. 2006 10 22.2** 592,884 58.5

P123 

A fund of Permira buyout funds, with interests in Permira Europe I, II 
and III. 2003 15 24.8 25,542 2.5

P1234 

A fund of Permira buyout funds, with interests in P123 and Permira IV. 2006 15 42.8 60,582 6.0

P25

A fund of Permira buyout funds, with interests in Permira Europe III 
and Permira IV. 2006 15 47.7 78,613 7.7

Sapphire IV 

A feeder fund that invests solely in Permira IV. 2006 15 0.6 1,360 0.1

SVG Sapphire IV

A feeder fund that invests solely in Permira IV. 2006 15 31.7 8,754 0.9

Total management buyout funds 802,948 79.2
* The lives of these funds have been extended
** Interest in existing portfolio companies as at the date of the Permira IV reorganisation in 2008

List of investments (Group) at 31 December 2012
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Value of  
SVG Capital’s  

holding  
£’000

% of total  
investments

SVG managed or advised funds

SVG Advisers’ funds – private equity

SVG Diamond Holdings 61,739 6.1

SVG Diamond Holdings (F Notes) 10,381 1.0

SVG Diamond Holdings II 39,098 3.8

SVG Diamond Holdings II (F Notes) 5,734 0.6

SVG Diamond Private Equity III 21,186 2.1

Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III 774 0.1

SVG Investment Managers’ funds – public equity

Strategic Equity Capital 11,854 1.2

Strategic Recovery Fund II – co-investment 16,572 1.6

SVG UK Focus Fund 14,137 1.4

Total SVG managed or advised funds 181,475 17.9

Total non-core investments 29,612 2.9

Total investment portfolio 1,014,035 100.0

Other assets less total liabilities and non-controlling interests 58,936

Total Shareholders’ funds 1,072,971
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Board of Directors

Andrew Sykes 

Non-Executive Director 
Andrew Sykes was appointed as a Director on 8 February 2010 and became Chairman 
on 8 November 2012. He is deputy chairman of Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited, 
chairman of Schroder Real Estate Investment Trust Limited and Absolute Return Trust 
Limited. He is also a non-executive director of SVG Advisers Limited, Record plc, 
Gulf International Bank (UK) Limited and MBIA UK Insurance Limited. 

Committees:
Audit  
Nominations 
Remuneration

Lynn Fordham

Chief Executive
Lynn Fordham was appointed as a Director on 1 July 2008. She is the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer. She has over 20 years of financial experience and has worked 
in a number of companies including Mobil Oil, BAA plc, Boots Group plc and MAN 
Group plc. She is chairwoman of SVG Advisers and is a non-executive director of 
Fuller, Smith and Turner P.L.C. 

Committees:
Nominations

Stephen Duckett

Non-Executive Director
Stephen Duckett was appointed as a Director of the Company on 12 March 2012. 
Stephen is an experienced private equity professional having worked in the industry for 
the past 17 years, most recently as a Managing Director of Hellman & Friedman based 
in London. Stephen has been involved with numerous private equity transactions of 
various types over the course of his career.

Committees:
Audit (Chairman) 
Nominations  
Remuneration 
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Caroline Goodall

Non-Executive Director
Caroline Goodall was appointed as a Director of the Company on 4 October 2010. 
She is currently a consultant to international law firm Herbert Smith, where she 
was a partner and held a number of senior management positions. Caroline is an 
independent non-executive of accountancy firm Grant Thornton UK LLP and is a 
non-executive director of Next plc. She is also a trustee of the National Trust and has 
sat as a non-executive on the Governing Body of Newnham College, Cambridge.

Committees:
Audit 
Nominations  
Remuneration (Chairman) 

Charles Sinclair

Non-Executive Director
Charles Sinclair was appointed as a Director on 1 January 2005 and has been Senior 
Independent Director since 4 March 2009. He is Chairman of Associated British Foods plc. 
He retired as Chief Executive of Daily Mail and General Trust plc on 30 September 2008, 
a post he held since 1989. 

Committees:
Audit 
Nominations
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Report of the Directors 
for the year ended 31 December 2012

The Directors submit their report and the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Company’s business

The Company is an investment company within the meaning of Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. In order to obtain exemption 
from capital gains tax, the Company has conducted itself with a view to being an approved investment trust for the purposes of Section 
1158 of the United Kingdom Corporation Tax Act 2010. The last accounting period for which the Company has been treated as 
approved by HM Revenue & Customs as meeting the qualifying criteria for investment trust status is the year ended 31 December 2011 
and the Company has subsequently conducted its affairs so as to enable it to continue to qualify for such approval.

The Company is not a close company for taxation purposes.

A review of the Company’s business and its likely future development is given in the Chairman’s statement on pages 10 and 11, the 
Chief Executive’s report on pages 12 and 13 and the Business review on pages 14 to 27. The Business review, Corporate Governance 
review and Corporate Social Responsibility review are to be treated as part of the Report of the Directors. 

Revenue and earnings

The Company’s investment objective is one of capital growth and it is anticipated that returns for shareholders will derive primarily 
from capital. A decison will be taken later in the year on the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 
(2011: no dividend). 

The consolidated revenue loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £17,674,000 (2011: loss of £33,038,000). 
The Company’s revenue loss for the year was £16,755,000 (2011: loss of £32,116,000).

The consolidated capital gain for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £149,478,000 (2011: gain of £140,985,000). 
The Company’s capital gain for the year was £149,719,000 (2011: gain of £140,684,000).

Taking capital returns into account, the consolidated profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders was £131,804,000 
(2011: profit of £107,947,000). The Company’s profit for the year was £132,964,000 (2011: profit of £108,568,000).

Dividend

The Company is proposing to change its Articles of Association to allow the Company to pay dividends to shareholders from its capital 
reserves, as well as its income reserves. Further details are set out on page 33.

Policy for payment of creditors

It is the policy of the Company to settle all investment transactions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the relevant markets 
in which it operates. All other expenses are paid on a timely basis in the ordinary course of business. The Company had no trade creditors 
at 31 December 2012 (2011: nil).

Purchase of shares

At the AGM held on 23 March 2012, the Company was authorised to purchase up to 45,810,791 shares (representing 14.99% of share 
capital in issue on 14 February 2012). The Directors have relied on this authority to make market purchases of shares during the year. 
During 2012, the Company bought 18,556,729 shares of 100p each (representing 6.84% of the Company’s issued shares as at 
19 February 2013) at an average price of 269.9p per share and at a total cost of £50,081,934.76 (plus commission and stamp duty). 
Of these shares 4,798,910 were cancelled on 30 April 2012. The balance is currently held in treasury though may be cancelled. Since year 
end up until 19 February 2013, the Company has bought a further 1,657,500 shares at an average price of 309.8p per share which are 
also held in treasury though may be cancelled.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held at 11.30 am on 27 March 2013 at 61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE. Details of the resolutions to be proposed 
at the AGM, together with explanations, appear in the Notice of AGM on page 94.
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Directors 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the Company’s policy on tenure outlined on page 41, Andrew Sykes, 
Lynn Fordham and Charles Sinclair will retire at the Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
Stephen Duckett offers himself for election at the Annual General Meeting following his appointment on 12 March 2012. Stephen is 
an experienced private equity professional having worked in the industry for the past 17 years, most recently as a Managing Director 
of Hellman & Friedman based in London. Stephen has been involved with numerous private equity transactions of various types over 
the course of his career, has been chairman of Iris Software Group and Web Reservations International and a main board director of 
a number of European companies. The Board recommends that you support the election of Stephen Duckett and the re-elections of 
Andrew Sykes, Lynn Fordham and Charles Sinclair who continue to demonstrate commitment to their roles and provide valuable 
contributions to the deliberations of the Board and its Committees. 

Information on the independence of Directors is continued on page 40.

Biographical details of all current Directors may be found on pages 28 and 29.

The Directors of the Company and their beneficial and family interests in the Company’s share capital as at 31 December 2012 are 
given below:

Ordinary shares of £1.00 each

At 
 31 December 

2012

At  
1 January  

2012

Beneficial

Stephen Duckett**** Nil N/A

Nicholas Ferguson* 834,759 879,618

Francis Finlay** 250,000 250,000

Lynn Fordham 133,031 119,523

Caroline Goodall Nil Nil

Edgar Koning*** 75,413 80,000

Denis Raeburn** 328,332 328,332

Charles Sinclair 110,124 110,124

Andrew Sykes 21,000 21,000

Non-beneficial

Nicholas Ferguson 181,638 204,937
* Nicholas Ferguson resigned from the Board on 8 November 2012.
** Francis Finlay and Denis Raeburn resigned from the Board on 23 March 2012.
*** Edgar Koning resigned from the Board on 21 December 2012.
**** Stephen Duckett appointed to the Board on 12 March 2012.

Nicholas Ferguson had options over ordinary shares, details of which are given on page 38, all of which have now lapsed. Denis Raeburn 
holds £800,000 convertible loan notes due 2016 and Charles Sinclair holds £100,000 convertible loan notes due 2016.

Nicholas Ferguson and members of his family have an interest in the carried interest in respect of certain private equity funds. Nicholas 
Ferguson foregoed a portion of his entitlement to carried interest on existing private equity funds and any entitlement he may have had 
to carried interest on Permira or Schroder Ventures’ funds launched after 2001 in return for share options granted by the Company under 
the Executive Share Option Plan. Nicholas Ferguson received no further options following his retirement as Chief Executive Officer in 
April 2005. Nicholas Ferguson also participates in the Schroder Ventures Co-Investment Scheme and has a non-beneficial interest in 
Schroder Ventures Investments Limited. He received no new carried interest allocations and made no new commitments since he joined 
SVG Capital plc in 2001. Lynn Fordham has a service contract with SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”). Andrew Sykes is a non-executive 
director of SVGA. No other Director has any material interest in any other contract that is significant to the Company’s business.
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Report of the Directors continued

Auditors

During the year, the Company put out to tender the role of its auditors. Three firms were selected to submit proposals. Following review 
of these proposals, the Board decided to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP.

The Company is required to appoint auditors for each financial year of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
general meeting at which accounts are presented. Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to remain in office and resolutions 
to re-appoint them and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

The Auditor provides non-audit services to the Group, including tax and regulatory services. The Audit Committee has adopted a policy 
on the engagement of the Auditor to supply non-audit services to the Group. Certain non-audit services are not permitted. Certain types 
of non-audit services, including any non-audit service with a fee of greater than the lower of £50,000 or 25% of the most recent annual 
audit fee for the Group, must be referred to the Audit Committee for pre-approval. Certain types of non-audit services (such as tax 
compliance services) need not be referred to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee considers whether any engagement of the 
auditor for non-audit services will impair objectivity and independence and seeks written confirmation from the Auditor on its policies 
and procedures for maintaining independence. It is not considered that the independence of the Auditor has been prejudiced by the 
provision of non-audit services during 2012. The total amount of fees paid to the Auditor with respect to the provision of non-audit 
services was £165,000 in 2012. Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee may be found on the Company’s website, www.svgcapital.com.

Provision of information to auditors

As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware and they have taken all steps 
they should have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that information.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable United 
Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the Group financial statements unless they are satisfied that they present fairly the 
financial position of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that period. In preparing those financial 
statements, the Directors are required to: 

 –  select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and then 
apply them consistently; 

 –  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 
information; 

 –  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirement in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial performance; 

 – make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

 – state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 
4 of the IAS Regulation. 

They are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are set out in this report, confirms that, to the best of their knowledge:

 –  the accounts, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and net return of the Group; and

 –  the Report of the Directors includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

Substantial share interests

As at 19 February 2013, the Company had 290,032,690 shares of £1 in issue. 18,616,535 shares were held in treasury. The total number 
of voting rights as at 19 February 2013 was 271,416,155 (excluding shares held in treasury).
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As at 19 February 2013, the Company is aware of the following significant direct or indirect holding of securities in the Company.

Voting rights attached to shares

Number of 
ordinary  

shares

% of  
total voting 

rights

Coller Investment Management Limited 58,444,773 21.53

AEGON Investment Management BV 51,849,081 19.10

Schroder Investment Management, Schroder Channel Islands Limited, Schroder & Co Limited 22,120,460 8.15

OZ Management LP and Och-Ziff Management Europe 13,706,190 5.05

Permira Capital Limited 12,000,000 4.42

Standard Life Investments 10,910,696 4.02

AVIVA Investors Global Services Ltd 10,506,224 3.87

Threadneedle Asset Management 10,326,588 3.80

Legal and General Group Plc 8,941,703 3.29

Rights attaching to shares

The Company has one class of shares, namely ordinary shares, with standard rights as to voting, dividends and payment on winding-up 
and no special rights and obligations attaching to them. There are no material restrictions on transfers of shares. Other than as disclosed 
above, the Company is not aware of any person who has a significant direct or indirect holding of securities in the Company. There are no 
restrictions on voting rights. The Company is not aware of any agreements between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on 
the transfer of securities or on voting rights. The Company follows the established procedure in the Companies Act 2006 for changing 
articles of association and has no other rules about the amendment of the Company’s articles of association. 

Changes to the Articles of Association

Following recent amendments to the Companies Act 2006 and the investment trust taxation rules, the Company is seeking the approval 
of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for a change to its Articles of Association so as to allow the Company to pay dividends to 
shareholders by taking account of its capital reserves as well as its income reserves. Before these legislative changes, the Company was 
prohibited from applying capital profits and surpluses arising from the realisation of investments in the payment of dividends, although 
these amounts could be used for the purposes of other distributions. The Articles of Association accordingly contained relevant prohibitions 
in this regard. Given that these restrictions have been removed, this constitutional prohibition is no longer appropriate. Accordingly, 
Resolution 13 to be proposed as a special resolution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting proposes to amend the Articles of 
Association by removing Article 124(C) and making certain consequential changes to the rest of Article 124. Following this change, the 
Company will continue to operate as an investment trust under the investment trust taxation rules and as an investment company under 
the Companies Act 2006.

The full terms of the new Articles of Association of the Company which will apply if Resolution 13 is passed, together with a version 
showing the changes proposed, are available for inspection until the close of the Annual General Meeting at the registered office of 
the Company.

The Board considers that all the resolutions to be put to the Annual General Meeting are in the best interests of the Company and its 
shareholders as a whole. Those Directors who are shareholders will be voting in favour of them and the Board unanimously recommends 
that you do so as well.

By order of the Board

Stuart Ballard
Company Secretary

21 February 2013 

Registered Number: 3066856; Registered Office: 61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE
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Remuneration report
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Introduction

This report provides details of the remuneration paid to the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2012 and describes the 
Remuneration Committee’s policy on the remuneration of the Directors for the coming year.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. The report is divided 
into two parts. Part A, which is not subject to audit, describes the Remuneration Committee’s policy on the remuneration of Directors 
for the coming year. Part B, which is audited, contains tables detailing the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2012, 
their accrued pensions and their interests under the Companies’ long-term incentive arrangements. 

A resolution to approve this report will be put to shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in March 2013.

Part A – Unaudited section

The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”)

The Committee’s members at the start of the year were Francis Finlay (Chairman), Denis Raeburn and Caroline Goodall. Mr Finlay and 
Mr Raeburn resigned as directors during the year and were replaced by Stephen Duckett and Andrew Sykes who each became members 
of the Committee on 8 August 2012. Caroline Goodall was appointed Chairman of the Committee following Francis Finlay’s retirement. 
The biographies of the current members are provided on pages 28 and 29. Selected executives, including the Chief Executive, and the 
Committee’s advisers are invited to attend meetings of the Committee as appropriate. Neither the chairman nor the executives invited 
to attend during the year participated in discussions or decisions regarding their remuneration.

The Committee is responsible for determining the remuneration policy throughout the SVG Group (including making a 
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the Chairman) and the operation of the Company’s Executive Share Incentive 
Plans. Its terms of reference take into account the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. The Committee is able to consider 
corporate performance on environmental, social and governance issues when setting remuneration of executive Directors. As a financial 
services firm, the environmental and social impact of the Company’s activities is low. Governance issues, including effective engagement 
with shareholders and the general partners of the funds the Company invests in, is considered in evaluating the CEO’s performance and 
therefore impacts the performance-related portion of her remuneration package. 

The Committee has appointed independent remuneration consultants, New Bridge Street (a trading name of Aon plc), to advise it. 
New Bridge Street also provides advice on the operation of the Company’s share schemes. Work by New Bridge Street included 
providing updates on governance and tax developments and providing benchmark and market information. Neither New Bridge Street 
nor any other part of Aon Corporation provided other services to the Company during the year. New Bridge Street is a member of the 
Remuneration Consultants Group and has signed up to its Code of Conduct.

The Committee meets at least twice a year and during the year under review it met six times to agree remuneration proposals, consider 
regulatory developments, deal with LTIP awards and vestings and approve the fee payable to the new Chairman. Mr Finlay and 
Mr Raeburn attended both meetings that took place while they were still members. Ms Goodall attended all six meetings. Mr Duckett 
and Mr Sykes each attended three of the four meetings that took place after they joined the Committee.

During the year the Committee:

 – Determined the aggregate bonus awards for the years to 31 December 2011.

 – Approved the granting of an award to Lynn Fordham under the Company’s performance share plan (“PSP”).

 –  Approved the award of deferred cash bonuses to staff members for the year to 31 December 2011. These deferred bonuses replaced 
LTIP awards. It was felt that it was appropriate for Lynn Fordham, as CEO, to continue to receive LTIPs for the work performed in 2011.

 – Approved all remuneration packages for any Group executive with a proposed total cash remuneration in excess of £250,000 
per annum.

 – Approved the salary payable to Andrew Sykes on his appointment as Chairman (Mr Sykes was not present at the meeting at which 
this decision was taken).

Both SVGA and SVGIM have separate Boards with independent directors and separate remuneration committees. The SVG Capital 
Remuneration Committee sets parameters and principles for the salary increases, discretionary bonuses and long-term incentive plans for 
these subsidiaries which are consistent with effective risk management. Accordingly, the subsidiary remuneration committees, operating 
under specified delegated limits of authority from the main Board, met during the year to determine increases in salary and discretionary 
bonuses for all executives below main Board level. A summary of these were presented to the SVG Capital Remuneration Committee for 
its approval.

A summary of the terms of reference of the Committee are set out on page 43. A copy of the full terms of reference of the Committee 
is available on the Company’s website, www.svgcapital.com.
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Policy on the remuneration of executive Directors

The Committee’s aim is to ensure that remuneration packages should attract, retain and motivate senior executives (including executive 
Directors) while avoiding paying more than is necessary for this purpose and not encouraging excessive risk taking or rewarding failure. 
At 31 December 2012, Lynn Fordham was the only executive Director of the Company.

The Committee’s policy is that the fixed elements of remuneration should be sufficient to allow the Company to be competitive 
against other companies with which the Company competes for executive talent. The majority of the remuneration package should be 
performance-related so that it is linked to the returns created for shareholders and the total cost is sufficiently flexible to reflect changes 
in business performance. The variable element comprises a balance between short-term and long-term performance through the 
Company’s annual bonus and the performance share plan.

In order to help mitigate risk and ensure that overall rewards are not excessive, incentive levels are capped at a level that encourages 
out-performance and allows the Company to deliver competitive levels of remuneration without encouraging undue risk taking.

The Committee considers performance on a multi-year basis and in the event of exceptional circumstances of misstatement or 
misconduct, an appropriate reduction will be made to a following year’s bonus. This, coupled with the cap on bonuses which can be 
only exceeded in exceptional circumstances and an appropriate weighting to the long-term remuneration including performance shares, 
means the Committee is satisfied that it has sufficient flexibility within the current arrangements to enable it to adjust future bonus 
payouts for exceptional circumstances and that executives are not incentivised to take undue risks.

The Committee continues to keep its policy under review in light of market and corporate governance developments and including 
BIS’s review of executive remuneration. The Committee reviewed its policy during the year and decided that for 2012 and future years it 
would be appropriate to introduce an annual deferred share bonus and reduce the long-term incentive award in order to create a more 
transparent set of awards while maintaining a clear alignment of incentives between management and shareholders. The overall effect of 
these changes will be to reduce Lynn Fordham’s total remuneration. The changes are explained in further detail below.

Basic salary

Salaries are reviewed annually with changes becoming effective in April each year. The Committee decides on the increases awarded to 
the executive Directors and is consulted on increases for all employees of the business. The Committee considers Group performance, 
individual performance and pay and employment conditions of employees of the Group in reaching any decisions. In addition, relevant 
compensation surveys are reviewed but as a guide only. No executive Director of the Company is involved in deciding his or her own 
remuneration.

Lynn Fordham’s salary was increased by 5% in April 2012 from £350,000 to £367,500 per annum which was in line with the rest of the 
workforce. Lynn Fordham’s salary will not be increased in 2013. 

Annual bonus

Annual bonuses are intended to reward achievement of Group and personal objectives. Bonuses are non-pensionable and discretionary. 
The Committee sets the performance targets for the annual bonus plan at the beginning of the financial year. The targets are chosen to 
reflect the successful implementation of the business plan and strategies agreed by the Board and may be adjusted to take account of 
risk. The normal maximum annual bonus for an executive Director has been set at 200% of salary, although this cap can be exceeded 
in exceptional circumstances. The Committee believes that capping bonuses at this level enables the Company to provide competitive 
levels of remuneration while ensuring that executives are not incentivised to take inappropriate risks.

The cash bonus awarded to Lynn Fordham in respect of her performance in the year to December 2012 amounted to £280,000 being 
76% of her 2012 salary (compared to a bonus of £560,000 last year which was 160% of the 2011 salary). A deferred share bonus award 
of £250,000 has also been made that will normally vest on the third anniversary of grant subject only to continued service and good 
leaver/bad leaver provisions. The cash bonus and deferred share bonus award together amount to 144% of Lynn Fordham’s 2012 salary, 
compared to a bonus of £560,000 (160% of 2011 salary) paid in 2012. The key performance parameters for Lynn Fordham for 2012 
included increasing the strength of the balance sheet, developing the Company’s long-term strategy and widening shareholder 
relationships.
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Remuneration report continued

The Chairman met with Lynn Fordham to assess her performance in 2012.

In each case, Lynn Fordham had met or exceeded her goals. In particular, it was noted that:

 – the Company’s new strategy had been approved by shareholders;

 – the Company had a positive net cash position of £28.7 million compared to net debt at 31 December 2011 of £127.7 million;

 – significant progress on strategy development in the Group’s fund management business had been made.

It was also noted that over the period, the Company’s net asset value per share had grown by 16.0% versus an increase of 12.3% in the 
FTSE All Share (TR) Index.

Long-term incentives

Lynn Fordham and selected employees of the SVG Group are eligible to participate in the PSP at the discretion of the Remuneration 
Committee.

The Committee believes that participation in long-term incentives ensures that a significant part of executives’ potential remuneration 
is tied to the returns received by shareholders over the longer term through the use of performance conditions linked to the Group’s 
strategy and through exposure to the Group’s share price. This provides alignment between executives and shareholders and, because 
vesting of awards takes place three or four years after grant, provides an element of lock-in and encourages a focus on performance 
that is sustainable in the longer term and potentially protects against misstatement or misconduct during the vesting period. 

PSP awards have in the past been made annually, as this enables executives to build up a series of overlapping awards, which the 
Committee believes is more retentive than larger one-off awards. The PSP enables awards of conditional free shares (or nil or nominal cost 
options) to be made. Award levels are determined by reference to the individual’s seniority, level of salary and bonus earned in the 
previous year (as this provides a link to individual performance). The maximum that can be currently awarded in any financial year is 
200% of base salary and bonus. In future years, this will be capped at 200% of base salary only.

In order to ensure that long-term incentives provide alignment with shareholders, the Committee sets performance conditions that 
reward executives for delivering absolute growth in the value of the Group. The performance conditions used for the 2012 awards were 
the same as those for the 2011 awards and consist of (i) the average growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share 
(“NAV”) over a four-year period of 7% per annum (0% of the award vests) and 15% per annum (100% of the award vests) and (ii) the 
Company’s average annual compound total shareholder return (“TSR”) over a three-year period of 10% per annum (0% of the award 
vests) and 20% per annum (100% of the award vests), with each determining the vesting of 50% of the award. The 2013 targets will 
be the same as the 2012 targets.

In 2012, Lynn Fordham was awarded 571,402 shares under the PSP. The face value of that award (£1,592,000) represented 175% 
of Lynn Fordham’s 2011 base salary and bonus paid in 2012. The expected value of that award was £636,800 estimated by 
New Bridge Street. For 2013, the Committee has approved a PSP award for Lynn Fordham with a face value of £600,000 (and an 
approximate expected value of £240,000 as estimated by New Bridge Street) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012. 

The Remuneration Committee believes that TSR and growth in NAV are appropriate measures of long-term performance for a business 
focused on delivering superior levels of NAV growth and returns to shareholders. In setting the performance targets for the 2012 awards 
the Remuneration Committee took account of the current shareholder expectations of future performance for the Company. The PSP 
replaced the 2001 ESOP following the 2007 AGM. No further grants can be made under the 2001 ESOP.

The Company introduced a SIP at the 2007 AGM. The SIP is a tax approved all-employee share plan with standard features. No awards 
have been made under the SIP.

The combination of cash bonus, deferred shares and long-term incentives awarded will be lower than the 2011 level, but with a different 
composition, reflecting the Committee’s assessment that Lynn Fordham’s targets were again fully met and that Lynn Fordham had 
performed very well during the year. A comparison of Lynn Fordham’s 2011 and 2012 compensation is set out below:

Bonus Long-term Incentive* Total

£ Salary Cash Shares deferred Expected value Expected value

2011 367,500 560,000 – 636,800 1,564,300

2012 367,500 280,000 250,000 240,000 1,137,500

* Vests three or four years after grant subject to performance

Benefits

Benefits in kind (which are not pensionable) relate to the provision of health insurance and life assurance cover. Private health insurance 
is offered to all employees who have the option to cover their partners and dependent children. In addition, all employees are entitled 
to a contribution to their pension plans.
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External appointments

The Company permits executive Directors of the Company to accept limited non-executive directorships and other similar 
appointments, it being recognised that such appointments increase their commercial knowledge and business experience to the 
general benefit of the Company. Fees earned from such directorships may be retained by the executive Directors.

Lynn Fordham is a non-executive director of Fuller, Smith and Turner P.L.C. and received fees of £53,000 in respect of this appointment 
during 2012. Such fees were retained by Mrs Fordham.

Executive Director service contracts

Lynn Fordham’s contract provides for six months’ notice for termination and SVG Advisers Limited may terminate her employment 
by paying a sum in lieu of notice calculated by reference to her salary and other benefits.

Date of last issued contract Notice period (months)

Lynn Fordham 13 November 2009 6

Policy on the remuneration of non-executive Directors

Remuneration paid to non-executive Directors is determined by the Board and reviewed each year. When considering remuneration 
levels, the Board will consider, amongst other things, industry practice and contribution to various committees and time spent on the 
business of the Company. Fees payable to non-executive Directors have not been increased in the past five years. A base fee is paid and 
supplemental fees are also paid for attendance at Board meetings and contributions to committees.

Appointment, re-appointment and re-election of non-executive Directors

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years, subject to election or re-election at the Annual General Meeting. Thereafter 
Directors retire by rotation at least every three years. The Company will introduce annual re-election for each director when he or she is 
next due for re-election. Further details on re-election are on page 41. Subject to the evaluation of performance carried out each year, the 
Board agrees whether it is appropriate for that Director to seek an additional term. When recommending whether an individual Director 
should seek re-election, the Board will take into account the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Non-executive Directors are appointed under letters of appointment and do not have service contracts. The letters of appointment are 
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours.

Performance graph

The TSR for the five years to 31 December 2012 is shown in the graph below. This graph looks at the value, by the end of 2012, of £100 
invested in SVG Capital on 31 December 2007 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE All-Share Index. The other points 
plotted are the values at intermediate financial year ends. For this purpose, the Committee has decided that the FTSE All-Share Total 
Return Index is the most appropriate available broad market index for comparative purposes because it is the principal index in which 
the Company’s shares are quoted.
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Remuneration report continued

Part B – audited

Directors’ remuneration

The emoluments of the Directors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012 were as specified below:

Salary and fee 
£’000

Benefits  
£’000

Cash 
bonus§

£’000

Deferred  
annual share  

bonus 
£’000

Other 
compensation 

£’000

Total emoluments  
Year to 31 December  

2012  
£’000

Total 
emoluments 

Year to 
31 December 

2011  
£’000

Nicholas Ferguson 171 – – – – 171 200

Lynn Fordham 373 62* 280 250 – 965 970

Stephen Duckett 34 – – – – 34 –

Francis Finlay 12 – – – – 12 44

Caroline Goodall 44 – – – – 44 38

Edgar Koning 31 – – – – 31 31

Denis Raeburn 12 – – – – 12 44

Charles Sinclair 46 – – – – 46 44

Andrew Sykes 59† – – – – 59 68

Aggregate emoluments 782 62 280 250 – 1,374 1,439
*  The Company is liable to attribute an amount equal to 30% of Lynn Fordham’s basic annual salary to her personal pension plan, subject to a notional salary cap equal 

to £200,000. For the year ended 31 December 2012 the Company made a total contribution of £50,000 to Lynn Fordham’s personal pension plan and paid the balance 
of £10,000 by way of a non-bonusable cash allowance. Other benefits relate to the provision of health insurance and life assurance cover

†  For the period to 8 November 2012, Andrew Sykes received £15,000 p.a. for acting as a non-executive director of SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”) and received £8,686 p.a. 
for acting as the Company’s observer on the advisory committee to SVGA in respect of SVG Diamond Holdings Limited. For the period from 8 November 2012, Andrew 
Sykes received £130,000 p.a. to cover all work performed for the Group

§ Bonuses include provision for amounts accrued but not paid in each year. Annual bonuses are awarded in respect of calendar years

Details of the Directors’ interests in shares are shown on page 31.

Pension and other arrangements

No defined benefit pension arrangements are in place for any of the Directors. There are no agreements between the Company and its 
Directors or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or employment that occurs because of a takeover bid.

Awards Under the Company’s Executive Share Incentive Plans

Options held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company under the 2001 ESOP

The following Directors have been granted options over ordinary shares under the Executive Share Option Plan. 

During the year Exercise dates**

At  
31 December  

2011
Options  
granted

Options 
exercised

Options  
lapsed

At  
31 December 

2012
Exercise price 

(pence) Earliest Latest

Nicholas Ferguson* 404,484 – – 404,484 – 334.50 5 April 2005 4 April 2012

349,840 – – 349,840 – 392.75 13 March 2006 12 March 2013

363,256 – – 363,256 – 479.00 12 March 2007 11 March 2014

250,704 – – 250,704 – 564.00 23 March 2008 22 March 2015

Total 1,368,284 – – 1,368,284 –
* Options granted to Nicholas Ferguson were made at a time prior to his appointment as Chairman. All options lapsed on his resignation from the Board. 
** Options are exercisable subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions

The performance targets have been met in respect of all the options listed above.

All options under the 2001 ESOP were granted for nil consideration at the prevailing market price around the time of grant.
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Awards held by Directors over ordinary shares of the Company

During the year Vesting dates

At  
31 December 

2011
Awards  
granted

Awards  
vested

Awards  
lapsed

At  
31 December 

2012

Exercise price  
per share 
 (pence) Earliest Latest

L Fordham* 99,999* – – 99,999*** 0 0.00 25 September 2012 25 September 2018

412,044** – 412,044**** – 0 0.00 13 October 2012 13 October 2019

412,044** – – – 412,044 0.00 13 October 2013 13 October 2019

384,446** – – 384,446 0.00 15 April 2013 15 April 2020

384,446** – – 384,446 0.00 15 April 2014 15 April 2020

281,750** – – 281,750 0.00 17 February 2014 17 February 2021

281,750** – – 281,750 0.00 17 February 2015 17 February 2021

– 285,701 – – 285,701 0.00 22 March 2015 22 March 2022

– 285,701 – – 285,701 0.00 22 March 2016 22 March 2022

Total 2,256,479 571,402 412,044 99,999 2,315,838
*  Awards made before 2009 were to vest and become exercisable subject to the satisfaction of an NAV performance condition requiring the average annual growth in SVG’s 

NAV over four years to be between 10% per annum (25% of the award vests) and 18% per annum (100% vests). Of the 99,999 shares awarded to Lynn Fordham in 2008, 
awards over 83,478 shares were made under the PSP and the remaining 16,521 shares were awarded under a one-off agreement under Listing Rule 9.4.2R(2). The details 
of this award were fully disclosed in the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts. The one-off award was granted on substantially the same terms as the 2008 PSP award and is 
subject to the same NAV growth performance conditions

**  The awards granted in 2009, 2010 and 2011 were split equally between awards based on NAV growth and awards based on TSR (details summarised in the section headed 
‘Long-Term Incentives’ above)

***  These awards were subject to the performance conditions that the Company’s net asset value grow by at least 10% per annum over a four year period from 30 June 2008. 
The Company’s net asset value decreased over that period, so the awards lapsed.

****  These awards were over the three year period from 13 October 2009 subject to the performance condition that average annual compound total shareholders return 
be at least 10% with full vesting taking place at 20%. The actual average annual compound total shareholder return was 30% so the awards vested fully.

The price of an ordinary share on 25 September 2008, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP and one-off 
agreement, was 579.0p.

The price of an ordinary share on 13 October 2009, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP, was 126.2p.

The price of an ordinary share on 15 April 2010, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP, was 170.7p.

The price of an ordinary share on 17 February 2011, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP, was 250.5p.

The price of an ordinary share on 22 March 2012, when awards were granted to Lynn Fordham under the PSP, was 278.7p.

The mid-market price of shares at 31 December 2012 was 287.9p and the range for the year was 208.0p to 295.5p.

External advisers will confirm the methodology used for performance criteria calculations for the Committee, which will be measured 
on a consistent basis.

Share Plan Dilution Limits

The Company has established an employee benefit trust to enable it to subscribe for or purchase shares in the market to satisfy awards 
and options made to employees under the PSP and the 2001 ESOP. During the year, the employee benefit trust sold 509,849 shares in 
the Tender Offer and with the proceeds received purchased 567,201 shares at an average price of 286.5p. In addition, 156,694 shares 
were transferred from Treasury to the EBT during the year to be used to satisfy vested LTIP awards. 1,806,743 shares were sold or 
transferred by the EBT to satisfy LTIP awards that vested in 2012. The total number of shares held by the employee benefit trust is 
7,298,621 at a total cost of £15,417,607 (excluding commission and stamp duty) (representing 2.69% of the Company’s issued share 
capital excluding treasury shares as at 19 February 2013). The maximum number of shares that the Company may require to satisfy 
awards (assuming that all awards vest fully and are exercised) is 9,071,186 shares. The Board will continue to regularly review the benefit 
of using the trust to make market purchases. The Board may use new issue shares or shares held in treasury (if any) to satisfy grants. 
In any 10 calendar year period the Company may not issue (or grant rights to issue) more than 10% of the issued ordinary share capital 
of the Company under the PSP, the 2001 ESOP and any other employees’ share scheme adopted by the Company. As at 31 December 
2012, the total number of shares issued or issuable under awards and options made under the PSP and the 2001 ESOP in the last 
10 calendar years was equal to 3.32% of the issued ordinary share capital on that date excluding treasury shares.

On behalf of the Board

Caroline Goodall
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

21 February 2013
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Corporate governance

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance and has implemented a framework for corporate governance which 
it considers to be appropriate for the Company. This framework is reviewed on an annual basis as part of the Board evaluation process 
and will be reviewed in light of any changes to the Company’s strategy. The Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), published in 
June 2010 by the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”), applies to disclosures in this statement. The Code is available to download from 
www.frc.org.uk. Plans and processes to meet the heightened requirements of the September 2012 update to the Corporate Governance 
Code are being developed. These requirements become affective for financial years commencing after 1 October 2012. 

Compliance Statement 

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose how they have complied with the provisions of the Code. This Corporate 
governance statement, together with the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities on page 32 and Going concern set out on page 43, 
indicates how the Company has complied with the principles of good governance of the Code and its requirements on risk management 
and internal control. The Board considers that the Company has, throughout the year under review, complied with the principles of the 
Code other than the requirement that all directors be subject to annual election, which the Company proposes to phase in, as more fully 
explained on page 41 under ‘Tenure’. 

Role of the Chairman 

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and setting its agenda. 

During the course of the year, Nicholas Ferguson retired as Chairman of the Company. Andrew Sykes was appointed as his successor. 
This appointment was made following a thorough selection process led by the Senior Independent Director. An external search firm 
The Zygos Partnership, was retained by the Company to ensure a wide range of potential candidates was considered in compiling a 
long-list. The Zygos Partnership has no other connection to the Company. 

The Nominations Committee met on several occasions to narrow the long-list to a short-list of suitably qualified candidates. 

These candidates were interviewed by all members of the Nominations Committee. Mr Sykes, as an existing non-executive Director, 
interviewed all the short-listed candidates and participated in that part of the Nominations Committee meeting that considered the 
merits of the external candidates. Mr Sykes excused himself from the proceedings of the Committee that considered his merits and 
considered who the role should be offered to. The rest of the Committee were unanimous in agreeing that the role should be offered to 
Mr Sykes. As part of the process, the Committee considered Mr Sykes’ independence, and concluded he is an effective member of the 
Board and clearly independent, notwithstanding his directorship of SVGA.

Role of the Board 

The Board determines and monitors the Company’s investment objectives and policy, decides on individual fund investments and 
considers the future strategic direction of the Company. The Board is responsible for presenting a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s position and, where appropriate, future prospects in annual and half-yearly reports and other forms of 
public reporting. It monitors and reviews the shareholder base of the Company, marketing and shareholder communication strategies, 
and evaluates the performance of all service providers, with input from its Committees where appropriate. 

The business of the Company is managed by the Board which may exercise all the powers of the Company including those powers 
relating to the issuing or buying back of shares. Further details of the authorities to be sought at the AGM with respect to issuing or 
buying back shares can be found on pages 96 to 97. A procedure for Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to take independent 
professional advice at the expense of the Company has been agreed. 

Composition and independence 

At 31 December 2012, there was one executive and four non-executive Directors, including the Chairman. Profiles of each of the 
Directors, including length of service, may be found on pages 28 and 29. The Board considers each of Stephen Duckett, Caroline Goodall 
and Charles Sinclair to be independent. 

A review of Board composition and balance, including succession planning for appointments to the Board, is included as part of the 
annual performance evaluation of the Board, details of which may be found below. 

The Board is satisfied that it is of sufficient size, with an appropriate balance of skills and experience, and that no individual or group of 
individuals is or has been in a position to dominate decision making. 
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Senior Independent Director 

Charles Sinclair was appointed Senior Independent Director on 4 March 2009. The Senior Independent Director is available to 
shareholders if they have concerns that cannot be resolved through discussion with the Chairman. 

Company Secretary 

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board, inter alia, for ensuring 
that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 

Tenure 

The Directors have adopted a policy on tenure that they consider appropriate for the Company as a self-managed investment trust. 

The Board does not believe that length of service, by itself, impacts on independence. The independence of non-executive Directors will 
continue to be assessed on a case-by-case basis. While the Code recommends that all directors be subject to annual re-election at the 
Annual General Meeting, the Directors believe that it is appropriate to introduce annual re-election on a phased basis. 

The Company will introduce annual re-election for each director when he or she is next due for re-election. This year, four of the five 
directors will be subject to ongoing annual re-election. At the AGM in 2014, the remaining director will be subject to ongoing annual 
re-election with the other directors. Accordingly the current policy of Directors retiring by rotation at least every three years will end. 

The Company’s articles provide that in addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Act 2006, the Company may by 
special resolution remove any director. The Company may by ordinary resolution elect a director. 

Induction and training 

When a Director is appointed he or she receives a full, formal and tailored induction. This includes a detailed briefing from the Company 
Secretary on the running of the Board covering such matters as terms of reference, governance practices, risk management and 
oversight, and calendar of events. In addition meetings are arranged with various members of management to facilitate a better 
understanding of the business. Changes affecting Directors’ responsibilities are advised to the Board as they arise. 

Advisers to the Company also prepare reports for the Board from time to time. In addition, Directors may attend ad hoc seminars 
covering issues and developments relevant to the Company. The suitability and adequacy of training that is made available to Directors 
is assessed as part of the performance evaluation process. It was assessed as adequate in the most recent evaluation. 

Performance evaluation 

The Board performance evaluation at the end of 2011 identified the importance of reviewing the composition of the Board and the 
Board committees in light of the new strategy which has been proposed to and subsequently approved by shareholders. In addition, 
a number of practical suggestions were made to improve information flows and risk management practices, thereby improving risk 
management and governance. A list of action points to deal with these suggestions was implemented under the direction of the 
Chairman. During the course of the year, various changes to the composition of the Board and Committees were made.

In 2012, the Board has again adopted a formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its Committees and 
individual Directors. This year, the evaluation process was completed in December 2012 and the results reviewed by the Board in early 
2013. The process was led by Caroline Goodall, one of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors. 

The process involved compiling a discussion guide which covered designated topics, with a particular focus this year on the development 
of strategy, corporate governance and risk management.

A written report was produced and discussed with the Chairman, before being sent to Board members and discussed at the following 
Board meeting. 

Overall the evaluation process confirmed that each Director continued to contribute to his or her role effectively and with proper 
commitment, including of time. The evaluation process specifically addressed diversity, including gender, within the Board. The Board 
was in agreement that it had an appropriate level of diversity, but that this should be kept under review. 

The Board has considered carefully whether the evaluation of its performance should be externally facilitated at least once every three 
years. It was decided that due to the appointment of a new Chairman and other Board changes during the year, it was not appropriate 
to undertake an external review of the Board’s effectiveness in 2012. 

This year’s evaluation indicated that the Board and its Committees were operating more effectively. With the adoption of the Company’s 
new strategy, the Board’s focus will move more towards implementation. Risk and its effective management has received increased 
attention during the year and this should continue. This composition of the Board should be kept under review, to ensure it has the right 
combination of skills and experience to implement the new strategy.

Information flows 

Management reports to the Board on at least a quarterly basis and as appropriate on specific matters. The Chairman ensures that 
Directors are provided, on a regular basis, with key information on the Company’s policies, regulatory requirements, and the Company’s 
risk management and control results. The Board receives and considers reports regularly from its advisers and ad hoc reports and 
information are supplied to the Board as required. 
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Insurance and Indemnities 

During the year, the Company maintained cover for its Directors and Officers under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy. 

The Company provides a Deed of Indemnity to each Director to the extent permitted by United Kingdom law whereby the Company 
agrees to indemnify such Director against any liability incurred in proceedings in which the Director is successful, and for costs in 
defending a claim brought against the Director for breach of duty where the Director acted honestly and reasonably. 

Conflicts of interest 

In the light of changes to the law resulting from the implementation of the Companies Act 2006, the Board has approved a policy 
on Directors’ conflicts of interest. Under this policy, the Directors are required to disclose all actual and potential conflicts of interest 
to the Board as they arise for consideration and approval. The Board may impose restrictions or refuse to authorise such conflicts if 
deemed appropriate. 

Committees 

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities and functions to Committees. Terms of Reference for each of these Committees are 
available on the Company’s website at www.svgcapital.com. Details of membership of the Committees at 31 December 2012 may 
be found on pages 28 and 29 and information regarding attendance at Committee meetings during the year under review may be 
found below. Given the reduced size of the Board, it was decided that all non-executive Directors and the Chairman should sit on the 
Audit Committee. For the same reason, it was decided that the Chairman should sit on the Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee 

The role of the Audit Committee is to ensure that the Company maintains the highest standards of integrity and competence in financial 
reporting, risk management and internal control. The Board considers each member of the Committee to be independent. The Board 
also considers that members of the Committee have competence in accounting.

To discharge its duties, the Committee met on four occasions during the year ended 31 December 2012 and considered the annual 
financial statements, the half-yearly financial statements and the quarterly valuation update, the external Auditors’ year end reports and 
management letters, the effectiveness of the audit process, the independence and objectivity of the external Auditor (including the 
provision of non-audit services by the auditors), the risk management processes and risk profile of the Group and the internal audit review 
process. 

As at 31 December 2012, members of the Committee had competence in accounting.

Meetings 

The Board held eight meetings during 2012. 

Attendance at the Board and Committee meetings was as set out below: 

Director Board
Audit  

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nominations 

Committee

Stephen Duckett 4/6 2/3 3/4 1/2

Nicholas Ferguson 5/5 N/A N/A 0/2

Francis Finlay 2/2 N/A 2/2 0/0

Lynn Fordham 8/8 N/A N/A 2/2

Caroline Goodall 8/8 N/A 6/6 2/2

Edgar Koning 4/8 N/A N/A 0/2 

Denis Raeburn 2/2 1/1 2/2 0/0

Charles Sinclair 8/8 4/4 N/A 2/2 

Andrew Sykes 8/8 4/4 3/4 2/2

The Board is satisfied that each of the Chairman and the other non-executive Directors commit sufficient time to the affairs of the 
Company to fulfil their duties as Directors. Mr Koning had an executive role with Aegon in the Netherlands which from time to time 
made attending Board meetings difficult. Mr Duckett had one pre-existing commitment prior to joining the Board that prevented him 
from attending one of the Board meetings and the Audit and Remuneration Committee meetings on the same day. In addition one 
Board meeting was convened on short notice which Mr Duckett was unable to attend. In the event that a Director does not attend the 
Chairman and/or the Chief Executive will contact him prior to and following the meeting to keep him apprised and seek his views on the 
matters to be discussed. 
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Diversity 

As mentioned above, the Board is comfortable it has an appropriate level of diversity for the Company’s current strategy. It will seek to 
maintain at least a 25% proportion of female board membership. It currently has a 40% proportion of female board membership and a 
high percentage of women throughout the organisation. In addition the Company’s subsidiaries monitor diversity and in particular adopt 
policies (such as flexible working arrangements and enhanced maternity pay) to encourage gender diversity. 

Remuneration Committee 

The role of the Committee is to determine remuneration policy throughout the SVG Group and to operate the Company’s Share Awards 
Schemes. The Board considers each member of the Committee to be independent. To discharge its duties, the Committee met formally 
on six occasions during the year ended 31 December 2012 and considered the remuneration of the new Chairman, the approval of 
annual bonus proposals and long-term incentives for the executive Directors, and key staff based on performance levels within one 
organisation in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012. 

Nominations Committee 

The role of the Committee is to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the Board’s composition and balance of skill and 
experience, and on individual appointments, to lead the process and make recommendations to the Board. 

To discharge its duties, the Committee met twice during the year ended 31 December 2012 and considered an evaluation of the balance 
of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the Company in the Board succession planning and the appointment of the new 
Chairman.

Relations with shareholders

The Board believes that the maintenance of good relations with both institutional and retail shareholders is important for the prospects of 
the Company. It has, since its launch, sought engagement with investors. The Chief Executive and Chairman and other Directors, where 
appropriate, discuss governance and strategy with major shareholders and the Chairman ensures communication of shareholders’ views 
to the Board. The Board also undertakes shareholder perceptions research from time to time. 

The Board believes that the Annual General Meeting provides an appropriate forum for investors to communicate with the Board, and 
encourages participation. The Annual Report and Accounts is, when possible, sent to shareholders at least 20 business days before the 
Annual General Meeting, which is normally attended by the full Board of Directors. There is an opportunity for individual shareholders 
to question the chairmen of the Board, Audit and Remuneration Committees. Details of proxy votes received in respect of each resolution 
are made available to shareholders at the meeting. The Board believes that the Company’s policy of reporting to shareholders as soon as 
possible after the Company’s year end is valuable. The notice of AGM at page 94 sets out the business of the meeting. 

Going concern 

The Group’s activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the 
Chairman’s statement on pages 10 and 11, the Chief Executive’s report on pages 12 and 13 and the Business Review on pages 14 to 25. 

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review 
on page 16. In addition note 28 to the financial statements includes details of the Group’s financial instruments and its risk profile. 
A description of the Group’s risks and risk management framework are also outlined in the Business Review on pages 24 to 25. 

The Group finished the year with cash balances of £269.4 million and has access to an additional €150.0 million through the Revolving 
Credit Facility to December 2015. This adequately covers the £91.7 million of uncalled commitments to the investment portfolio. 

In light of the Group’s financial resources, the Directors believe that the Group is well positioned to manage its business risks within the 
Group’s risk appetite and tolerance successfully despite the continuing uncertain economic outlook, and, after making enquiries, the 
Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 
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Internal control 

The Code requires the Board to at least annually conduct a review of the adequacy of the Group’s systems of risk management and 
internal control processes and report to shareholders that it has done so. During 2012, the existing Risk Map was adopted to identify, 
evaluate and manage risks. The principal risks identified on pages 24 and 25, along with the other risks noted at note 28 to the Accounts 
provide details of the risks facing the Group. As part of the risk review process, a full review of the Company’s risk management processes 
and capabilities was undertaken.

After careful evaluation of new and emerging risk oversight expectations for boards in the UK and globally a new group risk 
management policy and approach was developed and approved by the Board at the February 2013 meeting. A copy of the Group’s 
new risk management policy is available on the Company’s website at www.svgcapital.com/capital/corporategovernance/
corporateriskmanagement/. The Board believes that implementation of this enhanced approach to identifying, measuring, treating, and 
overseeing risks that create uncertainty that the Group’s key strategic and core objectives will be achieved, will significantly enhance the 
Group’s risk management and oversight capabilities and provide additional assurance to our shareholders, clients, and regulators globally.

The Board has appointed Deloitte LLP to provide internal audit support and management are required to provide appropriate support to 
Deloitte LLP in its effort.

The Board believes that the combination of the Group’s new risk management framework, together with the work undertaken by 
Deloitte are appropriate to the Group’s business as an investment trust. 

The Board considers that adequate risk mitigation controls exist over the financial reporting process. A single team is responsible for 
preparing and consolidating the financial reporting for each of the Group entities and ensuring that financial information is accurate, 
complete, reconciled and reviewed by senior members of staff, and that transactions and balances are recognised and measured on a 
consistent basis and in accordance with accounting policies and financial reporting standards. Although the Board believes that it has a 
robust framework of internal control over financial reporting in place, this can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material financial mis-statement or loss and is designed to manage, not eliminate, risk.
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Corporate social responsibility

Introduction

The long-term business success of the SVG Capital group requires effective management of both financial and non-financial 
performance. Our business relies in particular on strong relationships with our employees, our investors, and the general partners  
of the funds in which we invest.

Although we are a major investor in private equity funds, regulations and commercial realities limit the degree to which we can  
have an active influence on those funds. We aim to develop open, long-term relationships with the private equity managers with whom  
we invest. Nonetheless we do engage with general partners to identify where non-financial issues may have an impact on our reputation 
and on that of our investors. We also engage with relevant industry associations and participate in other initiatives to help raise awareness 
and understanding of these issues, both within and outside the sector.

The Group employs around 60 people based in London, Boston and Singapore. As a financial services firm, the environmental and social 
impact of our activities is low. However, we are looking at ways to reduce this environmental impact, and to support local communities. 
We recognise the mutual benefits that can arise from doing so in a consistent way.

Overall responsibility for the implementation of the Group’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy rests with the Board, 
working with relevant corporate functions, including a CSR committee.

The Board’s strategic priorities with respect to the CSR policy are:

Employees

Our objective is to recruit, train and retain high calibre employees, and to foster a work environment that helps them to fulfil their 
potential. To do this we aim to:

 – provide a supportive work environment and corporate culture

 – provide appropriate training and development

 – address, where possible, employees’ interests regarding environmental, social and governance issues

Investors

Our objective is to ensure that our operations address investors’ policies relating to environmental, social and governance issues. 
To do this we aim to:

 – maintain a high standard of corporate governance

 – respond to investors’ environmental, social and governance concerns as they relate to our own operations

 – give full consideration to investors’ concerns as they relate to our investment activities

Funds in which we invest

Our objective is to develop strong relationships, balancing the legitimate needs of the general partners of the funds in which we invest 
with our interests and the expectations of our investors. We aim to do this by:

 – ensuring the highest levels of integrity in our relationships with general partners

 – developing strong and open working relationships with general partners, so that we can maintain trust without unnecessary 
restrictions and unrealistic requests

 – undertaking early and constructive engagement on environmental, social and governance issues of legitimate concern to our 
investors. Prior to investment, we evaluate how the general partners assess such issues as part of their due diligence on underlying 
companies and how they report on such issues.

 – being a signatory of the United Nations’ Principles of Responsible Investing
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Making a difference where we can

Communities
Our objectives are to support our employees’ volunteering and charitable donations through a matched giving scheme and to support 
communities by providing charitable donations from the Group of up to £350,000 in aggregate per annum. The CSR committee has 
responsibility for the implementation of the charitable donations policy which is focused on:

 – creating opportunity

 – providing access to education

 – protecting the environment.

In 2012, the Group agreed to continue to support the School for Social Entrepreneurs, Fairbridge and the Venture Partnership 
Foundation. A total of £131,886 was committed to our chosen charities in 2012. Additionally, approximately £30,000 was given via 
the give as you earn matching programme and other ad hoc donations. 

Fairbridge
Based in 15 of the most disadvantaged areas in England, Scotland and Wales, Fairbridge supports young people aged 13–25 who are not 
in education, employment or training – giving them the motivation, confidence and skills they need to change their lives. 

For more information: www.fairbridge.org.uk

School for Social Entrepreneurs
The School for Social Entrepreneurs (“SSE”) exists to provide training and opportunities to enable people to use their creative and 
entrepreneurial abilities more fully for social benefit. SSE also want to recruit more innovative and capable people into voluntary and other 
organisations. The SSE runs practical learning programmes aimed at helping develop the individual entrepreneur and their organisation 
simultaneously. SSE’s approach, and belief, is that social change is people-powered, and that the most valuable assets and resources we 
have are human ones. During the year, a number of SVG Advisers staff acted as mentors to SSE members.

For more information: www.sse.org.uk

Venture Partnership Foundation
VPF is a grant-making foundation dedicated to supporting social entrepreneurs and the dynamic charities that they run. Using a 
due diligence process, VPF sources small, fast growing and well-run charities with an innovative solution to a deep social need and 
entrepreneurial and visionary leadership. VPF provides these charities with financial support (£25,000 of unrestricted funding for three to 
five years) and significant non-financial pro-bono support from its members and volunteers, such as strategy expertise, 
senior management mentoring and pro-bono legal advice.

In 2012, a number of SVG Advisers’ staff took part in a volunteer-led due diligence process conducting web-based due diligence followed 
by face-to-face interviews with a range of charities/social enterprises that VPF was looking to include into its portfolio – 
thereby supporting an important new philanthropic concept. 

For more information: www.vpf.org.uk

Environment
Our objective is to reduce the most significant environmental impact of our operations. We aim to do this by:

 – periodically undertaking a carbon footprint analysis

 – reducing the impact of our travel and energy use

 – disposing of office waste and used equipment in a responsible manner.

Engagement with the sector
Our objective is to engage in debates on the role and impact of private equity. We aim to do this by:

 – working with relevant sector associations

 – participation in other relevant initiatives

 – engage in discussions with stakeholders.
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the shareholders of SVG Capital plc

We have audited the financial statements of SVG Capital plc for the year ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the Consolidated 
and Company Income Statements, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and 
Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow 
Statements and the related notes 1 to 29. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Company financial 
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 32, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report 
and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
 – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 

2012 and of the Group and parent Company’s profit for the year then ended;
 – the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and 
 – the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
 – the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 

Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
 – the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 

2006; and
 – the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 

the financial statements;
 – the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 40 to 44 with respect to internal control and risk 

management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 – adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or
 – the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with 

the accounting records and returns; or
 – certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 – we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
 – a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the Company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
 – the Directors’ statement, set out on page 43, in relation to going concern;
 – the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate 

Governance Code specified for our review; and
 – certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Andrew McIntyre
(Senior statutory auditor)  
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor  
London
21 February 2013
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2011

Notes

Revenue  
return  
£’000

Capital  
return  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Revenue  
return  
£’000

Capital  
return  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Gains on investments – at fair value through profit and loss 13 – 146,306 146,306 – 138,488 138,488

Exchange gains on other items – 4,942 4,942 – 989 989

Movement in fair value of derivative contracts – (1,836) (1,836) – 3,277 3,277

– 149,412 149,412 – 142,754 142,754

Operating income

Investment income 14,615 – 14,615 4,706 – 4,706

Income from investment advisory services 23,345 – 23,345 24,052 – 24,052

Other operating income 80 – 80 71 – 71

Total operating income 4 38,040 – 38,040 28,829 – 28,829

Operating expenses

Administrative expenses 5 (25,866) – (25,866) (26,200) – (26,200)

Total expenses (25,866) – (25,866) (26,200) – (26,200)

Operating profit 12,174 – 12,174 2,629 – 2,629

Finance costs 8 (29,977) – (29,977) (36,590) (1,715) (38,305)

(Loss)/profit before tax (17,803) 149,412 131,609 (33,961) 141,039 107,078

Tax 9 129 66 195 898 (54) 844

(Loss)/profit for the year (17,674) 149,478 131,804 (33,063) 140,985 107,922

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (17,674) 149,478 131,804 (33,038) 140,985 107,947

Non-controlling interests – – – (25) – (25)

Earnings per share

From continuing activities

Basic 11 47.7p 35.6p

Diluted 11 46.2p 34.6p

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s income statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The supplementary 
revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Companies. 
All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year  

ended 
31 December 

2012  
£’000

For the year 
ended 

31 December 
2011  

£’000

Profit for the year 131,804 107,922

Other comprehensive income:

(Loss)/gain on currency contracts (866) 695

Gain on interest rate swaps – 1,121

Movement in fair value of cash flow hedges 736 374

Other comprehensive (loss)/income (130) 2,190

Total comprehensive income 131,674 110,112

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 131,674 110,137

Non-controlling interests – (25)

131,674 110,112

Consolidated income statement



49SVG Capital plc 
Annual report 

2012
Overview

Business  
review

Company 
information

Corporate 
information

Financial  
information

For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2011

Notes

Revenue 
return  
£’000

Capital  
return  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Revenue  
return  
£’000

Capital  
return  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Gains on investments – at fair value through profit and loss 13 – 146,218 146,218 – 138,297 138,297

Exchange gains on other items – 5,337 5,337 – 825 825

Movement in fair value of derivative contracts – (1,836) (1,836) – 3,277 3,277

– 149,719 149,719 – 142,399 142,399

Operating income

Investment income 20,882 – 20,882 11,254 – 11,254

Other operating income 83 – 83 23 – 23

Total operating income 4 20,965 – 20,965 11,277 – 11,277

Operating expenses

Administrative expenses 5 (8,723) – (8,723) (9,660) – (9,660)

Total expenses (8,723) – (8,723) (9,660) – (9,660)

Operating profit 12,242 – 12,242 1,617 – 1,617

Finance costs 8 (30,278) – (30,278) (37,041) (1,715) (38,756)

(Loss)/profit before tax (18,036) 149,719 131,683 (35,424) 140,684 105,260

Tax 9 1,281 – 1,281 3,308 – 3,308

(Loss)/profit for the year (16,755) 149,719 132,964 (32,116) 140,684 108,568

Earnings per share

From continuing activities

Basic 11 48.1p 35.8

Diluted 11 46.6p 34.8

The total column of this statement represents the Company’s income statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The supplementary 
revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment Trust 
Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Company statement of comprehensive income
For the  

year ended  
31 December 

2012  
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

£’000

Profit for the year 132,964 108,568

Other comprehensive income:

Gain on interest rate swaps – 1,121

Movement in fair value of cash flow hedges – (284)

Other comprehensive income – 837

Total comprehensive income 132,964 109,405

Company income statement
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Share  
capital and 
own shares 

£’000

Share 
premium  

£’000

Revenue  
reserve  
£’000

Capital  
reserve  
£’000

Hedge  
reserves  

£’000

Share  
option  
reserve  
£’000

Other1
reserves 

£’000

Total  
equity  

holders  
£’000

Non-
controlling 

interests  
£’000

Total  
£’000

For the year ended 
31 December 2012

Balance at 31 December 2011 291,074 131,230 (87,477) 590,158 719 12,194 100,835 1,038,733 100 1,038,833

(Loss)/profit for the year – – (17,674) 149,478 – – – 131,804 – 131,804

Other comprehensive income

Recycled through the 
income statement: 

–  currency contracts 
(investment advisory services) – – – – (866) – – (866) – (866)

Movement in fair value 
of cash flow hedges – – – – 736 – – 736 – 736

291,074 131,230 (105,151) 739,636 589 12,194 100,835 1,170,407 100 1,170,507

Liquidation of subsidiary – – – – – – – – (100) (100)

Performance share awards: 

–  performance shares and options 
fair value charge – – – – – 3,320 – 3,320 – 3,320

– deferred tax asset – – – – – 658 – 658 – 658

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (101,414) (101,414) – (101,414)

Own shares disposed by EBT 3,904 – – (3,904) – – – – – –

Cancellation of shares (20,375) – – – – – 20,375 – – –

Balance at 31 December 2012 274,603 131,230 (105,151) 735,732 589 16,172 19,796 1,072,971 – 1,072,971

Share  
capital and 
own shares 

£’000

Share 
premium  

£’000

Revenue  
reserve  
£’000

Capital  
reserve  
£’000

Hedge  
reserves  

£’000

Share  
option  
reserve  
£’000

Other1
reserves 

£’000

Total  
equity  

holders  
£’000

Non-
controlling 

interest  
£’000

Total  
£’000

For the year ended 
31 December 2011

Balance at 31 December 2010 305,408 131,230 (54,439) 447,419 (1,471) 8,166 109,364 945,677 125 945,802

(Loss)/profit for the year – – (33,038) 140,985 – – – 107,947 (25) 107,922

Other comprehensive income

Recycled through the 
income statement: 

–  currency contracts 
(investment advisory services) – – – – 695 – – 695 – 695

– interest rate swaps – – – – 1,121 – – 1,121 – 1,121

Movement in fair value 
of cash flow hedges – – – – 374 – – 374 – 374

305,408 131,230 (87,477)588,404 719 8,166 109,364 1,055,814 100 1,055,914

Performance share awards: 

–  performance shares and options 
fair value charge – – – – – 3,218 – 3,218 – 3,218

– deferred tax asset – – – – – 810 – 810 – 810

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (6,775) (6,775) – (6,775)

Own shares purchased by EBT (14,334) – – – – – – (14,334) – (14,334)

Buy-back of convertible loan notes – – – 1,754 – – (1,754) – – –

Balance at 31 December 2011 291,074 131,230 (87,477) 590,158 719 12,194 100,835 1,038,733 100 1,038,833

1. Included within other reserves are the share purchase, capital redemption and convertible loan note reserves

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Share  
capital and 
own shares  

£’000

Share 
premium  

£’000

Revenue  
reserve  
£’000

Capital  
reserve  
£’000

Hedge 
reserves  

£’000 

Share  
option  
reserve  
£’000

Other1
reserves 

£’000
Total  

£’000

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Balance at 31 December 2011 291,074 131,230 (93,380) 590,275 – 11,036 100,835 1,031,070

(Loss)/profit for the year – – (16,755) 149,719 – – – 132,964

Other comprehensive income

Recycled through the income statement – – – – – – – –

Movement in fair value of cash flow hedges – – – – – – – –

291,074 131,230 (110,135) 739,994 – 11,036 100,835 1,164,034

Issue of performance share awards – – – – – 3,297 – 3,297

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (101,414) (101,414)

Own shares disposed by EBT 3,904 – – (3,904) – – – –

Cancellation of shares (20,375) – – – – – 20,375 –

Balance at 31 December 2012 274,603 131,230 (110,135) 736,090 – 14,333 19,796 1,065,917

Share  
capital and 
own shares  

£’000

Share 
premium  

£’000

Revenue  
reserve  
£’000

Capital  
reserve  
£’000

Hedge 
reserves  

£’000 

Share  
option  
reserve  
£’000

Other1
reserves 

£’000
Total  

£’000

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Balance at 31 December 2010 305,408 131,230 (61,264) 447,837 (837) 7,818 109,364 939,556

(Loss)/profit for the year – – (32,116) 140,684 – – – 108,568

Other comprehensive income

Recycled through the income statement – – – – 1,121 – – 1,121

Movement in fair value of cash flow hedges – – – – (284) – – (284)

305,408 131,230 (93,380) 588,521 – 7,818 109,364 1,048,961

Issue of performance share awards – – – – – 3,218 – 3,218

Buy-back of convertible loan notes – – – 1,754 – – (1,754) –

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (6,775) (6,775)

Own shares purchased by EBT (14,334) – – – – – – (14,334)

Balance at 31 December 2011 291,074 131,230 (93,380) 590,275 – 11,036 100,835 1,031,070

1. Included within other reserves are the share purchase, capital redemption and convertible loan note reserves

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Company statement of changes in equity



52 SVG Capital plc 
Annual report 
2012

Notes

As at  
31 December 

2012  
£’000

As at  
31 December 

2011  
£’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,314 1,605

Investments designated as fair value through profit and loss 13 1,014,035 1,168,511

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss – 4,451

Deferred consideration receivable 14 13,859 –

Deferred tax asset 9 3,724 2,868

1,032,932 1,177,435

Current assets

Deferred consideration receivable 14 21,383 –

Other receivables 17 10,318 8,498

Cash and cash equivalents 17 269,441 121,004

301,142 129,502

Total assets 1,334,074 1,306,937

Current liabilities

Other payables 18 (17,951) (15,107)

Senior notes 18 (53,199) –

(71,150) (15,107)

Non-current liabilities

Senior Notes 19 (97,118) (162,046)

Convertible loan notes 19 (92,814) (90,929)

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss 19 (10) –

Deferred tax liability 19 (11) (22)

(189,953) (252,997)

Net assets 1,072,971 1,038,833

Equity

Called up share capital 21 290,033 310,408

Own shares 22 (15,430) (19,334)

Share premium account 23 131,230 131,230

Capital redemption reserve 23 3,204 3,204

Share purchase reserve 23 4,240 85,279

Share option reserve 23 16,172 12,194

Convertible loan notes – equity 23 12,352 12,352

Hedge reserves 23 589 719

Capital reserve 23 735,732 590,158

Revenue reserve 23 (105,151) (87,477)

Shareholders’ funds 1,072,971 1,038,733

Non-controlling interests – 100

Total equity 1,072,971 1,038,833

Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)

– undiluted 24 403.7p 348.4p

– diluted 24 391.2p 337.1p

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

The Group’s financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2013 and the balance sheets 
were signed on behalf of the Board by: 

Lynn Fordham

Consolidated balance sheet
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Notes

As at  
31 December  

2012 
£’000

As at  
31 December  

2011  
£’000

Non-current assets

Investments designated as fair value through profit and loss 13 1,010,443 1,160,074

Investments in subsidiaries 16 12,502 25,170

1,022,945 1,185,244

Deferred consideration receivable 14 13,859 –

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss – 4,159

1,036,804 1,189,403

Current assets

Deferred consideration receivable 14 21,383 –

Other receivables 17 10,252 1,630

Cash and cash equivalents 17 253,242 109,580

284,877 111,210

Total assets 1,321,681 1,300,613

Current liabilities

Other payables 18 (12,633) (16,568)

Senior notes 18 (53,199) –

(65,832) (16,568)

Non-current liabilities

Senior Notes 19 (97,118) (162,046)

Convertible loan notes 19 (92,814) (90,929)

(189,932) (252,975)

Net assets 1,065,917 1,031,070

Equity

Called up share capital 21 290,033 310,408

Own shares 22 (15,430) (19,334)

Share premium account 23 131,230 131,230

Capital redemption reserve 23 3,204 3,204

Share purchase reserve 23 4,240 85,279

Share option reserve 23 14,333 11,036

Convertible loan notes – equity 23 12,352 12,352

Capital reserve 23 736,090 590,275

Revenue reserve 23 (110,135) (93,380)

Shareholders’ funds 1,065,917 1,031,070

Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)

– undiluted 24 401.1p 345.8p

– diluted 24 388.7p 334.6p

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

The Company’s financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2013 and the balance sheets 
were signed on behalf of the Board by:

Lynn Fordham 

Company balance sheet
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Notes

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

£’000

Investment management and advisory fee income 25,122 23,944

Interest income 1,822 1,130

Income distributions 13,064 3,577

Expenses of the management and advisory group (11,523) (18,203)

Other expenses (10,145) (2,161)

Finance costs (26,553) (35,025)

Tax recovered (3) 3,776

Net cash used in operating activities (8,216) (22,962)

Investing activities

Capital distributions from Management buyout fund portfolio 237,758 224,869

Capital distributions from SVG managed or advised funds 23,538 704

Capital distributions from non-core investments 28,752 23,564

Calls paid to Management buyout fund portfolio (19,451) (12,085)

Calls paid to SVG managed or advised funds (2,192) (15,096)

Calls paid to non-core investments (2,426) (3,154)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (62) (608)

Net cash from investing activities 265,917 218,194

Financing

Loan facility drawdowns – 83,942

Loan facility repayments – (102,137)

Purchase of own shares into treasury (101,056) (5,951)

Purchase of own shares by EBT – (14,334)

Tender offer costs (1,182) –

Buy-back of Senior Notes (7,399) (37,960)

Buy-back of convertible loan notes – (14,260)

Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests (114) (9)

Net cash used in financing activities (109,751) (90,709)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 147,950 104,523

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 121,004 17,111

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 487 (630)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 269,441 121,004

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Consolidated cash flow statement
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Notes

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

£’000

Interest income 1,096 1,078

Dividends from subsidiaries 6,288 6,575

Income distributions 13,064 3,574

Expenses (10,145) (6,188)

Finance costs (26,239) (35,490)

Tax received 2,213 4,578

Net cash used in operating activities (13,723) (25,873)

Investing activities

Capital distributions from Management buyout fund portfolio 237,746 224,861

Capital distributions from SVG managed or advised funds 23,538 704

Capital distributions from non-core investments 26,459 23,284

Calls paid to Management buyout fund portfolio (19,450) (12,085)

Calls paid to SVG managed or advised funds (2,192) (15,096)

Calls paid to non-core investments (2,426) (3,107)

Capital distributions from/(investment in) subsidiaries 13,419 (217)

Net cash from investing activities 277,094 218,344

Financing

Loan facility drawdowns – 83,942

Loan facility repayments – (102,137)

Loans from subsidiaries drawn/(repaid) (10,000) –

Purchase of own shares into treasury (101,056) (5,951)

Purchase of own shares by EBT – (14,334)

Tender offer costs (1,182) –

Buy-back of Senior Notes (7,399) (37,960)

Buy-back of convertible loan notes – (14,260)

Net cash used in financing activities (119,637) (90,700)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 143,734 101,771

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 109,580 7,912

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (72) (103)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 253,242 109,580

The notes on pages 56 to 93 form an integral part of these accounts.

Company cash flow statement
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1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company and the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), 
and International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the International 
Accounting Standards Committee (“IASC”) that remain in effect, and to the extent that they have been adopted by the EU and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (“SORP”) for the Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and Venture Capital Trusts issued by the Association of 
Investment Companies (“AIC”) in January 2009 is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the financial statements have been prepared 
on a basis compliant with the SORP.

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds 
(£’000) except when otherwise indicated.

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors consider that for the foreseeable future the Group will 
continue to be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.

Summary of new standards and interpretations not applied

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial 
statements:

Effective date

IFRS 7 (Amendment) Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2013

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2014

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements 1 January 2013

IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012

IAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits 1 January 2013

IAS 28 (Amendment) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2014

IAS 32 (Amendment) Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in 
the period of initial application however it is recognised that additional disclosures within the financial statements will be required.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries).

Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Financial statements of all Group companies are prepared for the same reporting period.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with 
those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Presentation of income statement

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company and in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC, 
supplementary information which analyses the income statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented 
alongside the income statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a UK investment company under Section 833 of the 
Companies Act 2006, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend.

Notes to the accounts
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1 Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the Company’s contractual right to the cash flow from the asset 
expires or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual 
obligation is discharged, with gains and losses recognised in the income statement.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value.

As the Company’s business is investing in financial assets with a view to profiting from their total return in the form of income or capital 
gains, such financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. Incidental costs on acquisition of such 
assets are expensed.

Financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which for 
investment funds is at their net asset value based on the fair value of the underlying investments.

Quoted instruments are valued at either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which 
the investment is quoted.

In respect of unquoted instruments, or where the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established by using 
recognised valuation methodologies, in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEV”) Valuation Guidelines. 
Fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants at the reporting date.

Gains and losses arising from investments, designated as investments held at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise. Foreign exchange gains and losses on fair value through profit or loss investments are 
included within the changes in its fair value.

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks associated with interest rate fluctuations and foreign exchange 
movements. It is not the Group’s policy to trade in derivative instruments. 

Derivative instruments are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. Fair value is determined by reference to market values for similar 
instruments. Unless designated as cash flow hedges all changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are taken to the 
income statement.

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the unrealised gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in equity and recorded 
in the statement of comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement. Amounts taken to equity 
are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase 
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the initial 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously 
recognised in equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised 
without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity 
until the forecast transaction occurs and are transferred to the income statement or to the initial carrying amount of a non-financial asset 
or liability as above. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if all of the following conditions are met.

•  At the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the entity’s risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 

•  The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, 
consistently with the originally documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship.

•  For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge must be highly probable and must present an exposure 
to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

•  The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e. the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the 
hedged risk and the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured.

•  The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined actually to have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting 
periods for which the hedge was designated.

Investments in subsidiaries

In its separate financial statements the Company recognises its investment in subsidiaries at cost, unless they are investment vehicles, 
in which case they are included at fair value. Subsidiaries recognised at cost are subject to an annual impairment review.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Investments in associates

In accordance with IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates’, the standard does not apply to investments held in associates by private equity 
organisations that are designated as fair value through profit or loss. Such investments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they occur.

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, through 
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity component. At the 
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible 
debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, 
representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity. Issue costs are allocated 
proportionately to the liability and equity components. The liability component is accounted for as a borrowing.

Bank borrowings and loan notes

Interest-bearing bank loans and loan notes issued are recorded at the value of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in the 
income statement account using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 
that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Own shares

Own shares represent SVG Capital plc shares held in Employee Benefit Trusts to meet the future requirements of the employee 
share-based payment plans. The EBTs are accounted for as extensions of the parent company.

Share-based payments

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’. In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has 
been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2005.

The cost of equity-settled share-based payments with employees of the Group are measured at fair value at the date of grant and 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the award. Fair value is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate valuation model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, 
no account is taken of any non-market vesting conditions.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period 
has expired and management’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in cumulative 
expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the consolidated income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity. 
The cost of equity awards to employees of subsidiaries is added to the Company’s investment in subsidiaries.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided 
in the normal course of business.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 
amount. Interest income is classified within operating activities in the cash flow statement.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment has been established and is classified 
within operating activities in the cash flow statement.

Investment management and advisory fees are accrued over the period for which the service is provided. Revenue that has been earned, 
but the receipt of which is contingent on the occurrence of a future event, such as investors receiving a return of capital, is only 
recognised when Management judges the realisation of that income to be virtually certain.

The Group’s revenue and realised capital gains are derived primarily from distributions in respect of its holdings in fund investments.

Realised gains on capital distributions which arise from the realisation of investments within the funds, and on sale of investments are 
credited to the income statement and taken to the capital reserve. Income distributions are credited to the income statement and taken 
to the revenue reserve.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. The costs relating to defined 
benefit schemes are accounted for in the same way as for defined contribution schemes where the Group is unable to identify its share 
of the underlying performance and financial position of the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Such situations arise 
where the contributions payable by the Group are set in terms of the scheme as a whole and, as such, there is no consistent and reliable 
basis for allocating the Group’s obligations, plan assets, or costs.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is pounds sterling, as this is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
Group operates. Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the income statement and are 
allocated either to revenue or capital, as appropriate.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the balance sheet date.

Investment trusts which have approval under Section 1158 Income and Corporation Tax Act 2010 are not liable for taxation on 
capital gains.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests 
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to other 
comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost, including direct acquisition costs, less accumulated depreciation and any recognised 
impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost less estimated residual value of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases:

Telecommunications and office equipment  10%–20%

Leasehold improvements    10% 

Computer equipment    20%–33%

The Group does not ordinarily provide for depreciation against art.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes. 
Assets are classified as cash equivalents if they are readily convertible to cash and are not subject to significant changes in value. The 
Company has classified short-term bank deposits, investments in money market funds and short-dated treasury bills as cash equivalents.

Deferred consideration

This deferred consideration that is not contingent on future events is recognised as a receivable on the Company’s balance sheet. 
Amounts due within 12 months are recorded as current assets. Amounts due in greater than 12 months are recorded as 
non-current assets.

2 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of profits and net assets at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that have a material impact on net assets in future periods.

The key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to net assets within the next financial year are discussed below. Other areas of uncertainty and risk are discussed in note 28.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group primarily invests in private equity limited partnerships (“Funds”) that in turn invest in companies that are typically unquoted. 
Valuing unquoted investments involves a significant degree of judgement.

Fair values of the Funds in which the Group invests are typically provided by the general partner of such funds and are reviewed 
and, if considered appropriate, approved by the Board. The fair value of a Fund’s investment in an investee company is generally obtained 
by calculating the Enterprise Value (“EV”) of the company and then deducting financial instruments, such as external debt, ranking 
ahead of the Fund’s highest ranking instrument in the company. The Group’s participation in the remaining instruments is then 
calculated to assess the fair value of the Group’s investment.

A common method of determining the EV is to apply a market-based multiple (e.g. an average multiple based on a selection 
of comparable quoted companies) to the ‘maintainable’ earnings of the investee company. This market-based approach presumes 
that the comparator companies are correctly valued by the market. A discount is sometimes applied to market based multiples 
to adjust for points of difference between the comparators and the company being valued.

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded in the Group’s balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using valuation techniques, in accordance with IPEV Valuation Guidelines, including the methodology briefly outlined above. The 
valuation techniques recommended by the IPEV Board are industry standard. However, amounts ultimately realised on disposal of an 
investee company can differ materially from the previous carrying value and therefore have a significant impact on the Group’s profits 
and net assets. 
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2 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the amount and timing of future taxable income. Significant deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of brought-forward tax losses that the Company can utilise to offset future taxable profits. Management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and 
the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Company expects to derive returns primarily in the form of capital gains on its investment portfolio. As an investment trust, 
the Company is exempt from corporation tax on capital gains.

Recovery of contingent fees

Uncertainty exists with respect to the recoverability of certain investment advisory fees that are contingent on future events, such 
as investors receiving a return of capital. Management judgement is required to determine the probability that fees are recoverable. 
Income in respect of fees that are contingent on future events is only recognised when the realisation of that income is deemed to 
be virtually certain. No amounts in respect of contingent fees has been recognised in the year (2011: Nil).

3 Business segments
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into the following two principal activities:

Investing activities

SVG Capital’s investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing in a portfolio of private equity and private equity-related 
assets. Investing activities are undertaken by SVG Capital plc and SVG India LP.

Investment management and advisory services

To complement this investment objective and create capital and income for the Company, its fund advisory businesses structure, market, 
manage and advise products for investment in private equity and in public equity using private equity techniques. 
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3 Business segments continued
These activities are undertaken by SVG Advisers Limited, SVG Managers Limited, SVG Investment Managers Limited, SVG Advisers 
(Singapore) Pte. Limited, SVG Advisers Inc. and SVG North America Inc. Segmental information showing the performance of these 
business segments is presented below:

For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2011

Group 

Investing 
activities  

£’000

Investment 
management  
and advisory 

services  
£’000

Eliminations 
£’000

Total  
£’000

Investing 
activities  

£’000

Investment 
management  
and advisory 

services  
£’000

Eliminations 
£’000

Total  
£’000

Income from investment advisory services – 23,345 – 23,345 – 24,052 – 24,052

Other operating and investment income 14,661 34 – 14,695 4,671 106 – 4,777

Intra-group income 6,322 6,809 (13,131) – 6,609 7,660 (14,269) –

20,983 30,188 (13,131) 38,040 11,280 31,818 (14,269) 28,829

Performance shares and options fair value  
& N.I – (4,316) – (4,316) – (3,581) – (3,581)

Other administrative costs (2,312) (19,238) – (21,550) (2,644) (19,975) – (22,619)

Intra-group expenses (6,495) – 6,495 – (7,194) – 7,194 –

(8,807) (23,554) 6,495 (25,866) (9,838) (23,556) 7,194 (26,200)

Operating profit/(loss) 12,176 6,634 (6,636) 12,174 1,442 8,262 (7,075) 2,629

Finance costs (29,965) (12) – (29,977) (38,305) – – (38,305)

Intra-group finance costs (314) (34) 348 – (466) (34) 500 –

Gains/(losses) on fair value through  
profit and loss, including derivatives 144,465 5 – 144,470 141,758 7 – 141,765

Exchange gains/(losses) 5,315 (373) – 4,942 826 163 – 989

Profit before tax 131,677 6,220 (6,288) 131,609 105,255 8,398 (6,575) 107,078

Dividends – – – – – – – –

Intra-group dividends – (6,288) 6,288 – – (6,575) 6,575 –

– (6,288) 6,288 – – (6,575) 6,575 –

Total assets 1,307,794 26,280 – 1,334,074 1,267,865 39,072 – 1,306,937

Total liabilities (252,330) (8,773) – (261,103) (258,011) (10,093) – (268,104)

Intra-group assets/(liabilities) 1,781 (1,781) – – (15,523) 15,523 – –

Net assets 1,057,245 15,726 – 1,072,971 994,331 44,502 – 1,038,833
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4 Operating income

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011 

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Income from investments:

Dividends from subsidiaries – 6,288 – 6,575

Income from money market instruments 246 219 85 61

Interest from funds and co-investments 1,154 1,154 1,045 1,045

Other income from funds and co-investments 13,215 13,221 3,576 3,573

Other operating income:

Income from investment advisory services 22,479 – 24,747 –

Gain/(loss) on forward rate contracts 866 (23) (695) –

Other interest receivable and other income 80 106 71 23

38,040 20,965 28,829 11,277

Represented by:

Interest 1,480 1,479 1,201 1,129

Income from investment advisory services 23,345 – 24,052 –

Dividends from subsidiaries – 6,288 – 6,575

Other income from funds and co-investments 13,215 13,198 3,576 3,573

38,040 20,965 28,829 11,277

5 Administrative expenses

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Fees payable to SVG Advisers Limited – 6,494 – 7,194

Directors’ remuneration 1,374 409 1,439 468

Performance shares and options fair value charge 3,320 – 3,218 –

N.I. on performance shares and options 996 – 363 –

Staff costs (note 6) 11,535 – 10,533 –

Depreciation (note 12) 253 – 1,724 –

General expenses 8,032 1,612 8,568 1,848

Auditors’ remuneration

– Statutory audit fees: Company 104 104 110 110

– Statutory audit fees: subsidiaries 87 – 115 –

– Regulatory reporting 6 – 6 –

– Tax compliance services 86 53 77 19

– Tax advisory services 33 33 29 3

– Assurance services 18 18 18 18

– Other non-audit services 22 – – –

25,866 8,723 26,200 9,660

The Directors are the only key management personnel of the Company. Their total remuneration is discussed in more detail in the 
Remuneration Report. The Company’s current executive Director, Lynn Fordham, received remuneration in the form of salary, bonus and 
benefits as a Director of SVG Capital of £965,000 (2011: £970,000) in respect of her employment with SVG Advisers Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary. The fair value charge to the Group in respect of performance shares includes an amount of £816,000 (2011: £655,000) 
attributable to Lynn Fordham. 
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6 Staff costs

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 8,595 – 8,310 –

Social security costs 1,164 – 1,082 –

Pension costs (note 7) 824 – 209 –

Other staff costs 952 – 932 –

11,535 – 10,533 –

The Company has no employees (2011: nil). The average number of staff employed by the Group was:

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012 

Number

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Number

Employees 61 70

61 70

7 Pension costs
The charge for pension costs comprises:

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Defined benefit schemes – – (449) –

Money purchase schemes 824 – 658 –

824 – 209 –

The Group does not participate in a SVG Group pension scheme. Costs in respect of defined benefit schemes relate to payments due 
to the Schroders Retirement Benefits Scheme (“the Scheme”) in respect of four former employees of SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, that were seconded from Schroder Investment Management Limited. SVGA and the 
Scheme’s trustees, taking advice from the independent actuaries, agree the contributions.

In accordance with IAS 19, the Group’s contributions to the Scheme are accounted for as a defined contribution scheme on the basis that 
the Group is unable to readily identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the Scheme at the balance sheet date as there is 
no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligations, plan assets and costs to the Group. Further details of the Scheme can be 
found in the Annual Report and Accounts of Schroders plc. In particular, the Scheme had no active members in the defined benefit 
scheme at 31 December 2011 and is closed to new entrants. The accounts of Schroders plc disclosed a net pension surplus in respect of 
the Scheme of £55.7 million at 31 December 2011, calculated under IAS 19. Whilst the Group does not expect to make further payments 
under this scheme, if a material deficit were to arise, the Group may be required to make further payments. 

Of the £824,000 expense relating to money purchase schemes, £774,000 is in respect of staff and £50,000 is in respect of directors.
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8 Finance costs

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Convertible loan note interest 8,355 8,355 9,336 9,336

Amortisation of issue and listing costs plus premium to redemption on convertible 
loan notes 1,885 1,885 1,609 1,609

Release of premium on buy-back of convertible loan notes – – 1,715 1,715

Senior Note interest 14,163 14,163 16,598 16,598

Amortisation of issue costs on Senior Notes 1,018 1,018 1,308 1,308

Net swap (income)/expenses (599) (599) 1,121 1,121

Loan facility finance costs 2,860 2,860 4,399 4,399

Amortisation of loan facility issue costs 2,164 2,164 1,769 1,769

Other finance costs 131 432 450 901

29,977 30,278 38,305 38,756

9 Tax

(a) The charge for tax for the year is made up as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2011

Group
Revenue  

£’000
Capital  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Revenue  
£’000

Capital  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Current tax

Corporation tax 66 (66) – (51) 54 3

Overseas tax – – – (2) – (2)

Prior year adjustment (group relief) – – – 13 – 13

Total current tax 66 (66) – (40) 54 14

Deferred tax

Deferred tax (198) – (198) (858) – (858)

Prior year adjustment 3 – 3 – – –

Total deferred tax (195) – (195) (858) – (858)

Total tax charge/(credit) (note 9(c)) (129) (66) (195) (898) 54 (844)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 For the year ended 31 December 2011

Company
Revenue  

£’000
Capital  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Revenue  
£’000

Capital  
£’000

Total  
£’000

Current tax

Group relief (1,281) – (1,281) (3,248) – (3,248)

Prior year adjustment – – – (60) – (60)

Total current tax (1,281) – (1,281) (3,308) – (3,308)

Deferred tax – – – – – –

Total deferred tax – – – – – –

Total tax credit (note 9(c)) (1,281) – (1,281) (3,308) – (3,308)

There are no profits chargeable to corporation tax for the Company in the current year. As the Company invests primarily through 
partnership structures, excess management expenses relating to the private equity funds’ portfolio incurred by those partnerships are 
available to set off against any taxable income of the Company. These excess management expenses are not capitalised but unutilised 
expenses are carried forward to future periods. 
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9 Tax continued

(b) Movement in deferred income taxes:

Group

Other 
2012 

£’000

Share-based 
payments 

2012 
£’000

Total 
deferred tax 

2012 
£’000

Other 
2011 

£’000

Share-based 
payments 

2011 
£’000

Total 
deferred tax 

2011 
£’000

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax asset brought forward 669 2,199 2,868 549 651 1,200

Credit/(charge) recognised in the income statement (24) 222 198 120 738 858

Credit/(charge) recognised directly in equity – 658 658 – 810 810

Deferred tax asset carried forward 645 3,079 3,724 669 2,199 2,868

A deferred tax asset of £25.7 million (2011: £32.7 million), of which £nil (2011: £nil) would have been recognised in equity, relating to 
excess management expenses, losses and other temporary differences, has not been recognised as there is insufficient evidence that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which these losses and temporary differences can be utilised. The excess management 
expenses and other temporary differences to which this unrecognised asset relates are available indefinitely for offset against future 
taxable profits.

Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 23% (2011: 25%). A deferred 
tax asset of £196,000 (2011: £205,000) has been recognised by SVG Advisers Inc. in respect of US taxation. A deferred tax asset of 
£3,260,000 (2011: £2,560,000) has been recognised in respect of SVG Advisers Ltd. A deferred tax asset of £268,000 (2011: £73,000) 
has been recognised by SVG Investment Managers Ltd.

(c) Factors affecting current tax charge for the year:

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24.5% for a large company (2011: 26.5%). 
The differences are explained below:

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012 

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 131,609 131,683 107,078 105,260

Corporation tax at 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) 32,244 32,262 28,376 27,894

Effects of:

Non-taxable capital (gains)/losses (36,606) (36,681) (37,329) (37,281)

Non-taxable income net of disallowable expenses (156) (1,560) (450) (2,207)

Difference between accounting and taxable income from funds (3,064) (3,064) (867) (867)

Depreciation of items not eligible for capital allowances 8 – 68 –

Income of subsidiary not taxable – – – –

Income taxable at (lower)/higher rates – – – –

Prior year adjustments re UK corporation tax 3 – (29) (60)

Temporary differences arising in the year on which deferred tax is not recognised – – – –

Unutilised current year losses carried forward 7,762 7,762 9,217 9,213

Overseas tax – – 21 –

Share-based payment deduction (428) – – –

Share price movements on deferred tax assets relating to share options and long-term 
incentive schemes (9) – 56 –

Net overseas losses for which no deferred tax has been recognised 16 – 59 –

Deferred tax adjustments in respect of changes in UK tax rates 35 – 34 –

Total tax credit for the year (note 9(a)) (195) (1,281) (844) (3,308)
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10 Dividends

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Amounts recognised as distributions in the year:

Dividend of nil (2011: nil) – – – –

In order to maintain investment trust status, the Company must not retain more than 15% of its income from shares and securities. 
The total dividend payable in respect of the financial year and which will be taken into account in determining the amount of net revenue 
retained under the requirements of Section 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, is set out below.

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Dividend of nil (2011: nil) – – – –

11 Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share, in accordance with IAS 33, is based on the following data:

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000 

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit  
attributable to equity holders of the parent 131,804 132,964 107,947 108,568

Number Number Number Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic 
earnings per share 276,605,010 276,605,010 303,637,117 303,637,117

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options and performance shares 8,761,641 8,761,641 8,638,346 8,638,346

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted 
earnings per share 285,366,651 285,366,651 312,275,463 312,275,463

Earnings per share

Basic 47.7p 48.1p 35.6p 35.8p

Diluted 46.2p 46.6p 34.6p 34.8p
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12 Property, plant and equipment (Group)

 

 Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000

Computer 
equipment 

£’000

Telecom- 
munications 

and office 
equipment 

£’000
Art 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2012 1,607 2,632 687 99 5,025

Additions – 62 – – 62

Disposals – (1,786) – (99) (1,885)

Exchange translation (2) (3) (5) – (10)

At 31 December 2012 1,605 905 682 – 3,192

Depreciation

At 1 January 2012 509 2,604 307 – 3,420

Charge for the year 150 37 66 – 253

Disposals – (1,786) – – (1,786)

Exchange translation (2) (3) (4) – (9)

At 31 December 2012 657 852 369 – 1,878

Net book value

At 31 December 2012 948 53 313 – 1,314

At 1 January 2012 1,098 28 380 99 1,605

Property, plant and equipment are assets of SVG Capital’s subsidiary companies.

 

 Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000

Computer 
equipment 

£’000

Telecom- 
munications 

and office 
equipment 

£’000
Art 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2011 1,607 2,045 696 108 4,456

Additions – 617 – – 617

Disposals – (31) (10) (9) (50)

Exchange translation – 1 1 – 2

At 31 December 2011 1,607 2,632 687 99 5,025

Depreciation

At 1 January 2011 347 1,147 242 – 1,736

Charge for the year 162 1,488 74 – 1,724

Disposals – (31) (10) – (41)

Exchange translation – – 1 – 1

At 31 December 2011 509 2,604 307 – 3,420

Net book value

At 31 December 2011 1,098 28 380 99 1,605

At 1 January 2011 1,260 898 454 108 2,720
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13 Investments

(a) Group

Fair value through profit or loss assets

Management  
buy-out 
portfolio 

2012 
£’000

SVG  
managed or  

advised 
 funds  
2012 

£’000

Non-core 
investments 

2012 
£’000

Total 
portfolio 

2012 
£’000

Management 
buy-out 
portfolio 

2011 
£’000

SVG  
managed or  

advised  
funds 
2011 

£’000

Non-core 
investments 

2011 
£’000

Total 
portfolio 

2011 
£’000

Valuation brought forward 915,561 176,400 76,550 1,168,511 1,004,947 151,465 92,362 1,248,774

Calls and purchases 19,451 2,192 2,426 24,069 12,085 15,096 3,154 30,335

Distributions and sales (237,758) (23,538) (28,752) (290,048) (224,869) (704) (23,513) (249,086)

Deferred consideration and 
payment in kind (27,719) 340 (7,424) (34,803) – – – –

Gains/(losses) on investments 133,413 26,081 (13,188) 146,306 123,398 10,543 4,547 138,488

Valuation carried forward 802,948 181,475 29,612 1,014,035 915,561 176,400 76,550 1,168,511

(b) Company

Management  
buy-out 
portfolio 

2012 
£’000

SVG  
managed or  

advised  
funds 
2012 

£’000

Non-core 
investments 

2012 
£’000

Total 
portfolio 

2012 
£’000

Management 
buy-out 
portfolio 

2011 
£’000

SVG  
managed or  

advised  
funds 
2011 

£’000

Non-core 
investments 

2011 
£’000

Total 
portfolio 

2011 
£’000

Valuation brought forward 915,503 176,400 68,171 1,160,074 1,004,887 151,465 83,055 1,239,407

Calls and purchases 19,450 2,192 2,426 24,068 12,085 15,096 3,107 30,288

Distributions and sales (237,746) (23,538) (26,459) (287,743) (228,119) (1,730) (18,938) (248,787)

Deferred consideration and 
payment in kind (27,719) 340 (7,424) (34,803) – – – –

Gains/(losses) on investments 133,435 26,081 (10,669) 148,847 126,650 11,569 947 139,166

Valuation carried forward 802,923 181,475 26,045 1,010,443 915,503 176,400 68,171 1,160,074

The total gain of £146,218,000 (2011: gain of £138,297,000) shown in the Company’s income statement also includes a loss on 
subsidiaries during the year of £2,629,000 (2011: loss of £869,000). 

All funds in the management buy-out portfolio are unlisted. However, some of the underlying companies held within those funds 
are listed. Included in the value of total management buy-out fund portfolio are gross valuations of listed investments amounting 
to £386.9 million (31 December 2011: £238.7 million). The Group and Company investment portfolios include Permira IV at a value 
of £592.4 million, which is net of a 25% provision against future distributions on the realisation of investments held by Permira IV, 
in accordance with the terms of the Permira IV re-organisation in December 2008. It should also be noted that the value of the 
Permira IV investments attributed to follow-ons that were made after 2008 are not subject to a provision, as distributions in respect 
of such investments will be received in full.
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13 Investments continued
During the year, the Company sold its direct holding in Permira Europe III. However, it retained 50% of its exposure through Permira III 
to one of the underlying investments, the iglo Group (“iglo”).

A contract is in place giving the Company the rights to 50% of all future distributions received by the acquirer in relation to its holding in 
Permira Europe III.

The contract has been valued at £19.9 million. The Board considers that the best indication of the fair value of the right to future 
distributions from iglo is the current valuation of iglo as calculated in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies.

Significant interests in investment funds

Details of investments in which the Company or Group has an interest of 10% or more of any class of share/units are detailed in the list of 
investments on pages 26 and 27.

In addition, SVG Capital has a 20.2% interest in the I Class units of the SVG UK Focus Fund, which forms part of SVG Investment Funds 
(Dublin) plc, a Dublin-listed OEIC and comprises an aggregate interest of 17.6%. SVG Investment Managers Limited provides services to 
that company under an investment management agreement. It also has a 20.0% interest in Strategic Equity Capital plc, a UK-listed 
investment trust to which SVG Investment Managers Limited provides services under an investment management agreement and a 
£17.0 million commitment to co-invest alongside the Strategic Recovery Fund II. Furthermore the Company has a 35.5% interest in SVG 
Diamond, a 35.6% interest in SVG Diamond II, and a 23.4% interest in SVG Diamond III, for all of which SVG Advisers Limited provides 
services under an investment advisory contract.

The Company’s holdings in these entities do not represent controlling interests as the Company owns less than 50% of the voting rights, 
each entity has an independent Board of Directors, and the management and/or advisory agreements can be terminated at the request 
of the investors or by order of the relevant Board of Directors. The Company, therefore, does not have the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of these entities so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The Company also has a 100% interest in SVG India 
LP. SVG India LP does qualify as a subsidiary as the Company owns 100% of the voting rights and is therefore consolidated into the 
Group financial statements.

14 Fair values
The following table shows financial instruments recognised at fair value, analysed between those whose fair value is based on:

•  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

•  those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and

•  those with inputs for the instrument that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Group 

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Investment portfolio

Management buy-out portfolio – – 802,948 802,948 – – 915,561 915,561

SVGA managed funds – – 138,912 138,912 – – 121,366 121,366

SVGIM managed funds 25,991 – 16,572 42,563 33,581 – 21,453 55,034

Non-core investments – – 29,612 29,612 – – 76,550 76,550

Derivatives

Currency swaps – 2,430 – 2,430 – 4,159 – 4,159

Forward currency contracts – 599 – 599 – 718 – 718

25,991 3,029 988,044 1,017,064 33,581 4,877 1,134,930 1,173,388

Financial liabilities

Forward currency contracts – (116) – (116) – – – –

– (116) – (116) – – – –
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14 Fair values continued

Company

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Investment portfolio

Management buy-out portfolio – – 802,923 802,923 – – 915,503 915,503

SVGA managed funds – – 138,912 138,912 – – 121,366 121,366

SVGIM managed funds 25,991 – 16,572 42,563 33,581 – 21,453 55,034

Non-core investments – – 26,045 26,045 – – 68,171 68,171

Subsidiary investments at fair 
value – – 3,820 3,820 – – 9,314 9,314

Derivatives

Currency swaps – 2,430 – 2,430 – 4,159 – 4,159

Forward currency contracts – – – – – – – –

25,991 2,430 988,272 1,016,693 33,581 4,159 1,135,807 1,173,547

Financial liabilities

Forward currency contracts – (106) – (106) – – – –

– (106) – (106) – – – –

The Group primarily invests in private equity via limited partnerships or other fund structures. Such vehicles are typically unquoted and 
in turn invest in unquoted securities. The Group’s investment portfolio is recognised in the balance sheet at fair value, in accordance with 
IPEV Valuation Guidelines (note 2). 

Group

31 December 
2012  

Level 3
£’000

31 December 
2011 

Level 3
£’000

Valuation brought forward 1,134,930 1,218,502

Calls and purchases 24,069 21,587

Distributions and sales (278,746) (248,418)

Deferred consideration and payments in kind (34,803) –

Fair value gains 142,594 143,259

Valuation carried forward 988,044 1,134,930

Company

31 December 
2012 

Level 3
£’000

31 December 
2011 

Level 3
£’000

Valuation brought forward 1,135,807 1,219,125

Calls and purchases 24,068 21,743

Distributions and sales (276,441) (248,130)

Deferred consideration and payments in kind (34,803) –

Fair value gains 135,821 143,069

Valuation carried forward 984,452 1,135,807

Out of the total fair value gains recognised in the Group and Company Income Statements in respect of Level 3 investments, losses of 
£23.5 million relate to assets sold in the year. The remaining gains are in respect of assets held at 31 December 2012.

In addition to the receipts detailed above in respect of Level 3 assets, deferred consideration of £21.4 million is due within one year, and 
£13.9 million is due no later than 31 December 2014.
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14 Fair values continued

Transfers

During the year there were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3. 

Fair value of financial instruments not held at fair value

The Group’s debt instruments, such as the loan facility, Senior Notes and convertible loan notes, are not held at fair value. Indicative fair 
values of these instruments are shown below along with the corresponding par value used as the basis for their carrying value in the 
balance sheet (see notes 18 and 19).

31 December 2012  31 December 2011

Carrying value  
£’000

Fair value  
£’000

Carrying value  
£’000

Fair value  
£’000

Group and Company

9.10% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 ($85.0 million) 52,309 53,627 54,712 56,107

Floating Rate Series C Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (£1.0 million) 1,028 1,047 1,028 1,028

8.49% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 ($99.0 million) 60,906 64,530 71,250 74,970

9.10% Fixed Rate Series D Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 (£36.7 million) 36,650 40,897 36,650 38,966

Convertible loan notes (£100.7 million) 92,814 100,650 90,929 100,650

Total 243,707 260,751 254,569 271,721

15 Geographical analysis of investments

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Management buy-out portfolio

Europe* 802,948 802,923 915,561 915,503

Total Management buy-out portfolio 802,948 802,923 915,561 915,503

SVG managed funds

SVGA managed funds **:

Asia 2,378 2,378 1,214 1,214

United States 56,758 56,758 50,913 50,913

Europe 79,777 79,777 69,239 69,239

SVGIM managed funds:

UK 42,562 42,562 44,925 44,925

Europe – – 10,109 10,109

Total SVG managed funds 181,475 181,475 176,400 176,400

Non-core investments 29,612 26,045 76,550 68,171

Total investment portfolio 1,014,035 1,010,443 1,168,511 1,160,074

Allocations are based on the expected geographical focus of the funds. A further analysis of the estimated currency exposure of assets is 
provided in note 28.

* Management buy-out funds (Permira funds) have been included in Europe, which is the primary focus of such funds, although they can and have invested a significant 
amount of their committed capital in businesses which have significant activities outside Europe.
** The value of the SVGA managed funds has been allocated based on the geographic focus on the underlying private equity commitments made by these funds.
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16 Investments in subsidiaries

Year ended
31 December

2012
Company

£’000

Year ended
31 December

2011
Company

£’000

Cost at the beginning of the year 32,146 28,711

Cash contributions 596 217

Capital distributions (13,955) –

Capital contribution in respect of performance shares and options over SVG Capital shares 3,320 3,218

Cost at the end of the year 22,107 32,146

Net unrealised loss on investment at the end of the year (9,605) (6,976)

Carrying value at the end of the year 12,502 25,170

 
Analysed as:

Subsidiaries at cost 8,672 15,856

Subsidiaries at fair value 3,830 9,314

12,502 25,170

In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value amount of options issued that have been charged in the income statements of SVG Advisers 
Limited (“SVGA”) and SVG Advisers Inc. are treated as a non-refundable contribution to subsidiaries and added to the cost of subsidiaries 
in SVG Capital’s accounts.

The Platinum Trust was liquidated in September 2012, as an investment vehicle, the Platinum Trust was included in the Company’s 
balance sheet at its fair value (31 December 2011: £928,000). Similarly, SVG India LP is an investment entity and is included in the 
Company’s balance sheet at its fair value of £3,830,000 (31 December 2011: £8,386,000). The other subsidiaries are operating 
companies rather than investment vehicles and are included at cost. SVG Advisers Limited is included at cost of £7,496,000 
(31 December 2011: £15,231,000). SVG Investment Managers Limited is included at cost of £906,000 (31 December 2011: £355,000). 
SVG Managers Limited is included at cost of £250,000 (31 December 2011: £250,000). SVG Investments Limited is included at cost 
of £20,000 (2011: £20,000). SVG North America Inc., SVG Advisers Inc. and SVG Advisers (Singapore) Limited Pte. are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of SVGA. 

Subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2012:

Company and business

Country of 
registration, 

incorporation 
and operation

Number and 
class of 

shares/units  
held by the  

Group
Group

holding

Capital and
reserves at

31 December
2012  

£’000

Profit/(loss)  
after tax

for the year
ended

31 December
2012

£’000

SVG Advisers Limited 
– advisory and administration services UK 4,250,000 Ordinary Shares 100% 15,729 5,721

SVG North America, Inc. 
– broker/dealer US 3,000 Common Shares 100% 138 3

SVG Advisers, Inc 
– investment adviser US 100 Common Shares 100% 1,124 (140)

SVG Investment Managers Limited 
– investment manager UK 25,000,000 ‘A’ Ordinary Shares 100% 413 (817)

5,000,000 ‘B’ Ordinary  
Non-voting Shares 100%

SVG Managers Limited 
– investment manager UK 250,000 Ordinary Shares 100% 375 67

SVG Advisers (Singapore) Ltd Pte 
– advisory services Singapore 1,017,097 Ordinary Shares 100% 568 27

SVG Investments Limited 
– investment entity UK 20,100 Ordinary Shares 100% 6 15

SVG India LP 
– investment vehicle Guernsey US$32,040,980 commitment 100% 3,830 (82)
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17 Current assets

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Other receivables
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings – 5,216 – 762

Interest receivable 516 514 341 320

Prepayments and other debtors 4,638 2,092 1,838 548

Fair value derivative contracts 3,029 2,430 426 –

Accrued investment advisory fee income† 2,135 – 5,893 –

10,318 10,252 8,498 1,630

† Investment advisory fee income of £4.0 million (2011: £3.2 million) has been deferred and has not been recognised by SVGA as its future recoverability is contingent 
on future events. The Directors consider the recoverability of this amount to be probable, but not virtually certain, and therefore this amount has been disclosed but 
not recognised. 

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Cash and cash equivalents
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Bank balances and short-term deposits 89,666 78,092 8,955 4,369

Money market funds 179,775 175,150 112,049 105,211

269,441 253,242 121,004 109,580

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in 
value, other than those arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Cash at bank and investments in money market funds earn interest at floating rates. Money market funds are redeemable for same-day 
value and are AAA-rated. 

18 Current liabilities

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Other payables
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings – 3,436 – 10,824

Interest payable and similar charges 6,811 6,811 4,250 4,250

Other creditors and accruals 11,034 2,280 10,857 1,494

Fair value of forward currency contracts 106 106 – –

17,951 12,633 15,107 16,568

Senior notes 53,199 53,199 – –

71,150 65,832 15,107 16,568

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The fair value of forward currency contracts and interest rate contracts are determined using valuation techniques based on observable 
inputs (Level 2), as further detailed in note 14.

Senior notes

The Company has £150.3 million of Senior unsecured loan notes of which £53.2 million are payable in July 2013 and are therefore 
classified as current liabilities. Further details of the notes are provided in note 19.

Borrowings

In November 2012, the Company renegotiated its loan facility with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, Lloyds TSB Bank plc and Unicredit 
Bank AG. Under the terms of the renegotiations, Tranche A of the facility, which matured in January 2013 was reduced to €100 million 
(31 December 2012: €150 million) and Tranche B of the facility, maturing in December 2015 was increased to €150 million 
(31 December 2012: €100 million). Both tranches are subject to financial covenants (see note 19).

The Company is undrawn on the facility (2011: €nil) at 31 December 2012.

Drawings on the facility are subject to an interest charge of Euribor plus a margin of 3.00%. Undrawn amounts are subject to a 
non-utilisation fee of 1.375% per annum.
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18 Current liabilities continued

Tax payable/(recoverable)

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2012  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2012 

Company 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December 
2011  

Group 
£’000

For the  
year ended  

31 December  
2011 

Company 
£’000

Current tax liability/(debtor) – corporation tax

Balance brought forward – – (3,781) –

Corporation tax recovered – – 3,772 –

Overseas fax paid – – – –

Corporation tax charged to income statement (note 9(a)) – – – –

Prior year adjustment – – 9 –

Balance carried forward – – – –

19 Non-current liabilities

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group  
£’000

Company  
£’000

Group  
£’000

Company  
£’000

Senior Notes 97,118 97,118 162,046 162,046

Convertible loan notes 92,814 92,814 90,929 90,929

Fair value of forward currency contracts 10 – – –

Deferred tax liability 11 – 22 –

189,953 189,932 252,997 252,975

Non-current liabilities include £97.2 million of Senior unsecured loan Notes. Further details of the Notes are provided in the 
following table:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
 £’000

Company
£’000

Current liabilities:

9.10% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (US$85.0 million) 52,309 52,309 – –

Floating Rate Series C Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (£1.0 million) 1,028 1,028 – –

Total nominal amount of Senior Notes 53,337 53,337 – –

Unamortised issue costs (138) (138) – –

Net Senior Notes classified as current liabilities 53,199 53,199 – –

Non-current liabilities:

9.10% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (US$85.0 million) – – 54,712 54,712

Floating Rate Series C Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (£1.0 million) – – 1,028 1,028

8.49% Fixed Rate Series A Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 (US$99.0 million) 60,906 60,906 71,250 71,250

9.10% Fixed Rate Series D Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 (£36.7 million) 36,650 36,650 36,650 36,650

Total nominal amount of Senior Notes 97,556 97,556 163,640 163,640

Unamortised issue costs (438) (438) (1,594) (1,594)

Net Senior Notes classified as non-current liabilities 97,118 97,118 162,046 162,046

Total Senior Notes 150,317 150,317 162,046 162,046

During the year, the Company repurchased and cancelled US$11.7 million of the original nominal amount of the Senior Notes in issue.

In respect of certain foreign currency borrowings, the Company has executed currency swaps to hedge the foreign exchange risk on 
the principal outstanding and the interest payments on a portion of the $-denominated Senior Notes. The Company has entered into 
agreements to effectively swap US$180 million of its Senior Notes into euro. The contracts were entered into at an exchange rate of 
$1.347:€1 and mature on 18 January 2013. The fair value gain on currency swaps is included in the balance sheet as current assets. 
At 31 December 2012, the fair value gain on currency swaps was £2.4 million (2011: £4.2 million).

In December 2012, the Company entered into agreements to extend a proportion of the currency swaps. The Company has effectively 
swapped US$70 million into euros, maturing 18 July 2013 and US$80 million into euros, maturing 18 July 2014. The contracts were 
entered into at an exchange rate of $1.2905:€1. These contracts have an effective date of 18 January 2013, the date upon which the 
existing contracts mature. 

Issue costs are charged to the revenue account over the term of the Senior Notes.
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19 Non-current liabilities continued

Covenants

The loan facility and Senior Notes are subject to financial covenants. The maximum loan to value (LTV) covenant is 30%, with the 
flexibility of one nine month period to rectify an LTV above 30% (up to a maximum of 40%) to below 30%. At 31 December 2012, 
the LTV covenant stood at 13.5%. Borrowings under the loan facility are subject to an increased margin should the LTV exceed 30%.

Non-current liabilities also include £92.8 million of convertible loan notes. Further details are provided in the following table:

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group  
£’000

Company  
£’000

Group  
£’000

Company  
£’000

8.25% subordinated convertible loan notes 2016 – nominal 100,650 100,650 100,650 100,650

Unamortised premium, issue and listing costs (7,836) (7,836) (9,721) (9,721)

92,814 92,814 90,929 90,929

The convertible loan notes were issued on 5 June 2008 and are redeemable at par on 5 June 2016. At issue the conversion option was valued 
at £14,726,000 and this amount was credited to an equity reserve (see note 23). As a result of the Rights Issue and Placing, the Conversion 
Price was amended to £6.48 on 10 February 2009, in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the convertible loan notes. Following 
the Tender Offer completed in the year the Conversion Price was amended to £6.10. The convertible loan notes are convertible at the option 
of the convertible loan note holder. They are not currently dilutive as the Conversion Price is above the Company’s undiluted NAV per share.

As the convertible loan notes are subordinated to the Senior Notes and the loan facility, they are not counted as debt for the purposes of 
calculating the loan to value covenants for the Senior Notes and loan facility.

20 Capital commitments and contingencies
At 31 December 2012, the Group had uncalled commitments to its fund investments as follows:

2012
Uncalled

commitment
(local currency)

2012
Uncalled

commitment*
£’million

2011
Uncalled

commitment*
£’million

Management buy-out funds

Permira Europe III – – 5.1

Permira IV €77.0 62.4 84.4

P1234 – – 6.4

Sapphire IV €0.3 0.2 0.3

SVG Sapphire IV €1.7 1.4 1.4

64.0 97.6

SVG managed or advised funds

SVG Diamond Private Equity III €18.3 14.8 15.3

Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III €0.1 0.1 0.1

14.9 15.4

Non-core investments 12.8 57.2

Total 91.7 170.2

* Based on exchange rates at the relevant year-end 

Commitments are payable at short notice.

Operating leases

The Group has the following obligations under operating leases:

< 1 year
£’000

1–5 years
£’000

> 5 years
£’000

Total
£’000

Operating lease obligation as at 31 December 2012 1,061 4,244 1,857 7,162

Operating lease obligation as at 31 December 2011 1,061 4,244 2,152 7,457

The obligation under operating leases relates to SVG Advisers, which holds a long-term lease (11 years) over its office space at 
61 Aldwych. The lease terms are subject to upward only rent reviews every five years.

During the year, an expense of £819,000 (2011: £856,000) was recognised in respect of the operating lease. The expense is included as 
part of general expenses in note 5.

Guarantees

The Company has not granted any guarantees to third parties.
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21 Share capital

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

Opening balance of 310,407,923 (2011: 310,407,923) shares 310,408 310,408 310,408 310,408

Cancellation of shares (20,375) (20,375) – –

Closing balance of 290,032,690 (2011: 310,407,923) shares 290,033 290,033 310,408 310,408

During the year, the Company invited shareholders to tender ordinary shares for sale to J.P.Morgan Cazenove and subsequent on-sale to 
the Company at a price of 321p per share (“the Tender Offer”). The Company purchased a total of 15.6 million shares from J.P.Morgan 
Cazenove following the Tender Offer. All shares purchased through the Tender Offer have been subsequently cancelled by the Company.

In addition to the Tender Offer, the Company purchased 18.6 million shares through on-market buybacks. The cost of shares purchased 
through the Tender Offer and on-market share buy-back, along with associated transaction costs, have been debited to the Share 
Purchase Reserve.

A total of 4.8 million shares have been cancelled from treasury, following the on-market repurchases. In addition, a further 0.2 million 
shares were transferred from treasury to satisfy the exercise of LTIP awards in respect of US employees. At 31 December 2012 the 
Company held 16,959,035 shares in Treasury (2011: 3,357,910).

Options over ordinary shares

Issue date Latest exercise date

Options
granted  

in the year

Options
exercised  

in the year

Options
lapsed  

in the year
Exercise price  

per share

31 December 
2012

number in issue

31 December 
2011

number in issue

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – 514,795 334.50p – 514,795

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – 3,029 335.00p – 3,029

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – 349,840 397.75p 153,658 503,498

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – – 397.50p 3,522 3,522

15 October 2003 14 October 2013 – – – 493.00p – –

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – – 363,256 479.00p 192,001 555,257

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – – – 492.00p 4,684 4,684

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – 250,704 564.00p 226,471 477,175

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – – 569.50p 13,355 13,355

– – 1,481,624 593,691 2,075,315

Issue date Latest exercise date

Options  
granted

 in the year

Options 
exercised 

in the year

Options 
lapsed 

in the year
Exercise price  

per share

31 December 
2011

number in issue

31 December 
2010

number in issue

21 June 2001 20 June 2011 – – 1,163,411 410.00p – 1,163,411

21 June 2001 20 June 2011 – – 3,699 405.50p – 3,699

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – – 334.50p 514,795 514,795

5 April 2002 4 April 2012 – – – 335.00p 3,029 3,029

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – 2,546 397.75p 503,498 506,044

13 March 2003 12 March 2013 – – – 397.50p 3,522 3,522

15 October 2003 14 October 2013 – – – 493.00p – –

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – – – 479.00p 555,257 555,257

12 March 2004 11 March 2014 – – – 492.00p 4,684 4,684

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – – 564.00p 477,175 477,175

23 March 2005 22 March 2015 – – – 569.50p 13,355 13,355

– – 1,169,656 2,075,315 3,244,971

Prior to the 2007 AGM, the Company granted options with a performance target for growth of the Company’s net asset value 
per ordinary share to exceed the growth in the Retail Prices Index plus 4% per annum over the three years from the date of grant 
(“the old option plan”).

The performance target has been met for all options issued by the end of March 2005. 

No options were granted under the old option plan during the year (2011: nil). The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 
the year end was 392.8p to 569.5p (2011: 334.5p to 569.5p). The weighted average exercise price of options in issue at the year end 
under the old option plan was 477.8p (2011: 442.0p). All options in issue under the old option plan will be equity-settled.
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21 Share capital continued

Performance shares

A new option plan was approved at the 2007 AGM (“performance shares”) to replace further grants of options under the old plan, other 
than in exceptional circumstances. Performance shares are share options with a strike price of £nil.

Issue date
Earliest vesting/

exercise date(1) Latest exercise date*

Performance 
shares granted 

in the year

Performance 
shares vested/

exercised  
in the year

Performance 
shares lapsed  

in the year
Exercise price 

per share

31 December 
2012 

number  
in issue

31 December 
2011 

number 
in issue

25 September 2008 25 September 2012(5) 25 September 2018 – – 99,999 0.0p – 99,999

13 October 2009 13 October 2012(6) 13 October 2019 – 857,764 – 0.0p – 857,764

13 October 2009 13 October 2013(7) 13 October 2019 – – – 0.0p 857,764 857,764

7 May 2010 13 October 2012(6) 13 October 2019 – 948,979 – 0.0p 477,415 1,426,394

7 May 2010 13 October 2013(7) 13 October 2019 – – 39,533 0.0p 1,386,861 1,426,394

15 April 2010 15 April 2013(8) 15 April 2020 – – 29,186 0.0p 1,827,796 1,856,982

15 April 2010 15 April 2014(9) 15 April 2020 – – 21,336 0.0p 1,822,909 1,844,245

17 February 2011 17 February 2014(10)  17 February 2021 – – 39,655 0.0p 767,795 807,450

17 February 2011 17 February 2015(11)  17 February 2021 – – 41,897 0.0p 765,553 807,450

22 March 2012 22 March 2015(12) 22 March 2022 285,701 – – 0.0p 285,701 –

22 March 2012 22 March 2016(13) 22 March 2022 285,701 – – 0.0p 285,701 –

571,402 1,806,743 271,606 8,477,495 9,984,442

Issue date
Earliest vesting/

exercise date(1) Latest exercise date*

Performance 
shares granted 

in the year

Performance 
shares vested/

exercised  
in the year

Performance 
shares lapsed  

in the year
Exercise price 

per share

31 December 
2011 

number  
in issue

31 December 
2010 

number 
in issue

15 May 2007 15 May 2011(1) 15 May 2017 – – – 0.0p – –

13 March 2008 13 March 2011(2) 13 March 2018 – – – 0.0p – –

13 March 2008 13 March 2012(3) 13 March 2018 – – 28,208 0.0p – 28,208

13 March 2008 13 March 2011(2) 13 March 2018 – – – 100.0p – –

25 September 2008 25 September 2011(4) 25 September 2018 – – – 0.0p – –

25 September 2008 25 September 2012(5) 25 September 2018 – – – 0.0p 99,999 99,999

13 October 2009 13 October 2012(6) 13 October 2019 – – 25,753 0.0p 857,764 883,517

13 October 2009 13 October 2013(7) 13 October 2019 – – 25,753 0.0p 857,764 883,517

7 May 2010 13 October 2012(6) 13 October 2019 – – 109,643 0.0p 1,426,394 1,536,037

7 May 2010 13 October 2013(7) 13 October 2019 – – 109,643 0.0p 1,426,394 1,536,037

15 April 2010 15 April 2013(8) 15 April 2020 – – 151,929 0.0p 1,856,982 2,008,911

15 April 2010 15 April 2014(9) 15 April 2020 – – 247,084 0.0p 1,844,245 2,091,329

17 February 2011 17 February 2014(10)  17 February 2021 819,350 – 11,900 0.0p 807,450 –

17 February 2011 17 February 2015(11)  17 February 2021 819,350 – 11,900 0.0p 807,450 –

1,638,700 – 721,813 9,984,442 9,067,555
* Vesting of these awards will be satisfied by market purchase of shares, transfers from the Employee Benefit Trust or transfers of treasury shares

Performance condition footnotes:

(1)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share of the Company (“NAV”) over four financial years ending 31 December 2010. 
The targets were not met and the awards have lapsed

(2)  Awards subject to stretching growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited over three financial years of the Company ending 31 December 2011. The targets were not met and the 
awards have lapsed

(3)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s NAV over four financial years ended 31 December 2011. The targets were not met and the awards have lapsed

(4)  Awards subject to stretching growth targets in the gross value of SVG Advisers Limited over three financial years to 30 June 2011. The targets were not met and the awards lapsed

(5)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s NAV over four financial years ended 30 June 2012

(6)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) over three years ending 13 October 2012. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or 
become capable of exercise if average annual TSR over the performance period is equal to 10% and equal to or greater than 20% respectively. For performance between these two points awards 
will vest on a straight-line basis

(7)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share of the Company (“NAV”) over four financial years ending 30 June 2013. 
Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 7% and equal to or greater than 15% 
respectively. For performance between these two points awards will vest on a straight-line basis

(8)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) over three years ending 15 April 2013. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or become 
capable of exercise if average annual TSR over the performance period is equal to 10% and equal to or greater than 20% respectively. For performance between these two points awards will vest 
on a straight-line basis

(9)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted Net Asset Value per Share of the Company (“NAV”) over four financial years ending 31 December 2013. 
Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 7% and equal to or greater than 15% 
respectively. For performance between these two points awards will vest on a straight-line basis

(10)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) over three years ending 17 February 2014. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or 
become capable of exercise if average annual TSR over the performance period is equal to 10% and equal to or greater than 20% respectively. For performance between these two points awards 
will vest on a straight-line basis
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21 Share capital continued
(11)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted NAV over four financial years ending 31 December 2014. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest 

or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 7% and equal to or greater than 15% respectively. For performance between these two 
points awards will vest on a straight-line basis

(12)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) over three years ending 22 March 2015. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest or 
become capable of exercise if average annual TSR over the performance period is equal to 10% and equal to or greater than 20% respectively. For performance between these two points awards 
will vest on a straight-line basis

(13)  Awards subject to performance conditions based on growth in the Company’s undiluted NAV over four financial years ending 31 December 2015. Specifically, 0% and 100% of an award will vest 
or become capable of exercise if average annual NAV growth over the performance period is equal to 7% and equal to or greater than 15% respectively. For performance between these two 
points awards will vest on a straight-line basis

The price of an ordinary share on 22 March 2012, when awards were granted under the performance shares plan, was 274.8p. 
The price of an ordinary share on 17 February 2011, when awards were granted under the performance shares plan, was 240.3p. 
The price of an ordinary share on 15 April 2010, when awards were granted under the performance shares plan, was 170.7p. The price 
of an ordinary share on 13 October 2010, when awards were granted under the performance shares plan, was 126.2p. The price of 
an ordinary share on 13 March 2008 and 25 September 2008, when awards were granted under the performance shares plan, 
was 708.5p and 579.0p, respectively.

Share-based payments

The mid-market price of shares at 31 December 2012 was 287.9p and the range during the year was 205.0p to 291.4p. A total of 
1.8 million performance shares were exercised during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted under both plans is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The expected lives of the options under both plans 
are based on historical data and are not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the 
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other 
features of options granted under either plan were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

22 Own shares

31 December 
2012

£’000

31 December 
2011

£’000

Opening balance (19,334) (5,000)

Additions – (14,334)

Disposals 3,904 –

Closing balance (15,430) (19,334)

Own shares consist of shares in SVG Capital plc held by the SVIIT Employee Benefit Trust and the SVIIT USA Employee Benefit Trust. 
During the year the Trusts disposed of 1,806,743 shares in order to cash settle performance share awards that vested in the period. 
The average cost of the shares disposed was £3.9 million. 

The SVIIT Employee Benefit Trust and the SVIIT USA Employee Benefit Trust each participated in the tender offer in March 2012. 
Each trust used the proceeds from the tender to repurchase shares in the Company in the market. Through this transaction the 
Company tendered 509,849 shares and acquired 567,201 shares, netting an additional 57,352 shares.

At 31 December 2012 the Trusts held 7,298,621 shares in SVG Capital plc (2011: 8,891,318). The market value of these shares at 
31 December 2012 was £21,012,730 (2011: £18,227,202). The Trusts are funded by an interest-free loan from SVG Capital plc.
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23 Reserve accounts
The purpose of the various reserve accounts used by the Group is set out below.

Share premium account

The net proceeds of share issues in excess of the nominal value of such shares are credited to the share premium account.

Capital redemption reserve

This reserve represents the nominal amount of the Company’s own shares that have been purchased for cancellation. The amounts 
included in this reserve represent transfers from the Company’s share capital account.

Share purchase reserve

On 24 June 1998, the Company obtained permission from the High Court to cancel its share premium account (in existence at that date) 
and set up a new distributable reserve, the share purchase reserve, against which the cost of purchasing the Company’s own shares for 
cancellation can be debited.

31 December 
2012 

£’000 

31 December 
2011 

£’000

Opening balance 85,279 92,054

Transfer of shares for cancellation 20,375 –

Purchase of own shares into Treasury (101,414) (6,775)

Closing balance 4,240 85,279

During the year the Company acquired 34,133,052 shares at a cost of £101.4 million. 

Share option reserve

The Group’s share option reserve represents the fair value amounts in respect of options issued that have been charged through the 
income statements of SVG Advisers Limited and SVG Advisers Inc, as well as related deferred tax. The Company’s share option reserve 
represents the corresponding amount included in SVG Capital’s accounts as a contribution to subsidiaries (note 16).

Convertible loan notes – equity

This reserve represents the equity component of the convertible loan notes 2016, which were issued on 5 June 2008. At issue, the option 
element was valued at £14,726,000, based on £120,000,000 nominal of loan notes in issue. At 31 December 2012, the reserve balance is 
£12,352,000 based on £100,650,000 nominal of loan notes still in issue.

Hedge reserves

This reserve includes the effective portion of unrealised gains or losses on cash flow hedges.

Capital reserves 

This reserve represents cumulative capital profits and losses. As an investment trust (defined by the Corporation Tax Act 2010), the 
Company is prohibited by its Articles of Association from distributing as dividend any surpluses arising from the realisation of investments.

Revenue reserve 

As an investment company (defined by the Companies Act 2006, as amended), the Company’s revenue reserve represents its profits 
available for distribution.
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24 Net asset value per ordinary share (“Shareholders’ funds”)

31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Group Company Group Company

Basic 403.7p 401.1p 348.4p 345.8p

Diluted 391.2p 388.7p 337.1p 334.6p

Calculations of the net asset values per share are based on Group net assets attributable to equity shareholders of the parent of 
£1,072,971,000 (31 December 2011: £1,038,733,000), Company net assets of £1,065,917,000 (31 December 2011: £1,031,070,000) 
and on 265,775,034 (31 December 2011: 298,158,695) ordinary shares in issue at the year end.

The Group and Company diluted net asset values per share assume that share options and performance shares (note 21) with a 
strike price lower than the undiluted net asset value per share are exercised at the balance sheet date. This would result in the issue 
of 8,634,675 ordinary shares (31 December 2011: 10,502,266) for consideration of £617,000 (December 2011: £1,732,000).

The convertible loan notes 2016 are exercisable at a strike price of 610p and are therefore not dilutive at 31 December 2011 or 2012.

Therefore, the calculation of the diluted net asset value per share of the Group is based on Group net assets attributable to equity 
shareholders of £1,073,588,000 (31 December 2011: £1,040,465,000), Company net assets of £1,066,534,000 (31 December 2011: 
£1,032,802,000) and on 274,409,709 (31 December 2011: 308,660,961) ordinary shares in issue at the year end. 

Reconciliation of NAV per share

Group £’000 Shares in issue
Undiluted  

NAV per share

Opening shareholders’ funds 1,038,733 298,158,695 348.4

Disposal of own shares – 1,749,391 n/a

Purchase of shares (101,414) (34,133,052) 297.1

Opening balances adjusted for share movements 937,319 265,775,034 352.7

Gain attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 131,804 265,775,034 49.6

Other reserve movements during the period (hedging) 3,848 265,775,034 1.4

Closing shareholders’ funds 1,072,971 265,775,034 403.7

Group £’000 Shares in issue
Diluted  

NAV per share

Opening shareholders’ funds – dilutive basis 1,040,465 308,660,961 337.1

Adjustment re lapses and grants of performance shares – (1,506,947) n/a

Disposal of own shares – 1,749,391 n/a

Purchase of shares (101,414) (34,133,052) 297.1

Adjustment re dilutive options (1,115) (360,644) n/a

Opening balances adjusted for share changes 937,936 274,409,709 341.8

Gain attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 131,804 274,409,709 48.0

Other reserve movements during the year 3,848 274,409,709 1.4

Closing shareholders’ funds – dilutive basis 1,073,588 274,409,709 391.2

25 Post balance sheet events
The Company has entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Aberdeen Asset Management PLC (“Aberdeen”) relating to the sale of 
50.1% of SVG Advisers and SVG Managers. The consideration payable by Aberdeen for the sale is £17.5 million. At the end of a three year 
term, Aberdeen has the option to acquire, and the Company the option to sell the remaining 49.9% stake, at a price based on a valuation 
of the businesses at the time the option is exercised, with minimum and maximum prices set for the stake at £20 million and £35 million 
respectively.

Following completion of the transaction, SVG Advisers and SVG Managers will be derecognised as subsidiaries. 

There have been no other post balance sheet events that require disclosure.
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26 Analysis of changes in net debt

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Group

Cash and cash 
equivalents

£’000

Short-term  
debt

£’000

Long-term  
debt

£’000

Net cash/ 
(debt)
£’000

Balance brought forward 121,004 – (252,975) (131,971)

Foreign exchange movements 487 – 5,349 5,836

Amortisation of issue costs – – (2,904) (2,904)

Cash flow 147,950 – 7,399 155,349

Fair value gain on currency swap – – 2,430 2,430

Balance carried forward 269,441 – (240,701) 28,740

For the year ended 31 December 2011
Group

Cash and cash 
equivalents

£’000

Short-term  
debt

£’000

Long-term  
debt

£’000

Net cash/ 
(debt)
£’000

Balance brought forward 17,111 (19,279) (300,411) (302,579)

Foreign exchange movements (640) 1,084 (1,867) (1,423)

Amortisation of issue costs – – (2,917) (2,917)

Cash flow 104,533 18,195 52,220 174,948

Fair value gain on currency swap – – 4,159 4,159

Balance carried forward 121,004 – (248,816) (127,812)

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Company

Cash and cash 
equivalents

£’000

Short-term  
debt

£’000

Long-term  
debt

£’000

Net cash/ 
(debt)
£’000

Balance brought forward 109,580 – (252,975) (143,395)

Foreign exchange movements (72) – 5,349 5,277

Amortisation of issue costs – – (2,904) (2,904)

Cash flow 143,734 – 7,399 151,133

Fair value gain on currency swap – – 2,430 2,430

Balance carried forward 253,242 – (240,701) 12,541

For the year ended 31 December 2011
Company

Cash and cash 
equivalents

£’000

Short-term  
debt

£’000

Long-term  
debt

£’000

Net cash/ 
(debt)
£’000

Balance brought forward 7,912 (19,279) (300,411) (311,778)

Foreign exchange movements (102) 1,084 (1,867) (885)

Amortisation of issue costs – – (2,917) (2,917)

Cash flow 101,770 18,195 52,220 172,185

Fair value gain on currency swap – – 4,159 4,159

Balance carried forward 109,580 – (248,816) (139,236)

27 Related party transactions
Lynn Fordham is a member of the Advisory Committees of certain of the Permira funds in which the Company invests. She does not 
receive fees for these services.

Lynn Fordham is entitled to participate in the Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. 
During the year Lynn Fordham was awarded 571,402 (2011: 563,900) performance shares. The shares awarded were split equally 
between awards based on NAV growth and awards based on Total Shareholder Return.

Lynn Fordham has a service contract with SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”), a wholly-owned subsidiary. Andrew Sykes is a non-executive 
Director of SVGA and acts as SVG Capital’s observer in relation to SVG Diamond Holdings Limited.
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27 Related party transactions continued
The Directors of the Company and their beneficial family interests in the Company’s share capital during the period to 31 December 
2012 are shown in the Report of the Directors on page 31. In addition, certain Directors and their beneficial family interests also have 
an interest in funds managed or advised by the SVG Capital group, as detailed below:

Director Investment in SVG Funds

Charles Sinclair – 200,000 shares in Sapphire (PCC) Limited

– 250,000 shares in Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III plc

– 900 shares in SVG UK Focus Fund

– 100,000 shares in SVG Diamond Holdings II Limited

– 150,000 shares in SVG Diamond Private Equity III plc

Andrew Sykes – 100,000 shares in SVG Diamond Holdings Limited

– 100,000 shares in SVG Diamond II Holdings Limited

– 100,000 shares in SVG Diamond III plc

– 24,378 shares in Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds plc

– 125,000 shares in Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds III plc

– 200,000 shares in Sapphire (PCC) Limited

– 4,101 shares in SVG UK Focus Fund

No other Director has any material interest in any other contract that is significant to the Company’s business.

The Directors are the only key management personnel of the Company. Details of their remuneration are included in the 
Remuneration Report.

The Company invests in a number of funds for which its subsidiary companies, SVG Advisers Limited (“SVGA”), SVG Managers Limited 
(“SVGM”) or SVG Investment Managers Limited (“SVG IM”), act as either investment adviser or investment manager and receive fees for 
their services. The following table details funds managed or advised by SVG IM or SVGA that are also part of SVG Capital’s investment 
portfolio.

Investment Manager/Adviser
Uncalled commitment 

£’million
Valuation
£’million

Management buy-out funds

P123 SVGM/SVGA – 25.5

P1234 SVGA – 60.6

P25 SVGA – 78.6

Sapphire IV SVGA 0.2 1.4

SVG Sapphire IV SVGA 1.4 8.8

SVG Advisers’ funds – private equity

SVG Diamond Holdings SVGA – 72.1

SVG Diamond Holdings II SVGA – 44.8

SVG Diamond Holdings III SVGM/SVGA 14.8 21.2

Schroder PE Fund of Funds III Schroders/SVGA 0.1 0.8

SVG Investment Managers’ funds – public equity

SVG Focus Fund SVG IM – 14.1

Strategic Equity Capital plc SVG IM – 11.9

Strategic Recovery Fund II co-investment SVG IM – 16.6

Non-core investments

SVG India LP PEIAL* 0.4 3.0

*  Private Equity Investment Advisers Limited (“PEIAL”) is a joint venture investment advisory company based in Mauritius in which SVGA holds a 50% interest in the 
equity shares

SVG Capital has no employees but uses the services of its wholly-owned subsidiary, SVGA, to provide certain advisory and administrative 
services to SVG Capital in return for a fee of 0.5% p.a. of gross assets. The fees payable in respect of these services for the year ended 
31 December 2012 amounted to £6.5 million (2011: £7.2 million). SVGA pays for all staff costs, including the remuneration costs of the 
Company’s executive Director, Lynn Fordham, as well as the office costs incurred in providing the services to SVG Capital.
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27 Related party transactions continued
SVG Capital has an interest in SVG India LP, in which it is the sole limited partner. PEIAL, a joint venture between SVGA and a third party, 
provides investment advice to SVG India LP, for which it currently receives a fee of $150,000 per annum.

In 2007 the Company advanced a loan of £624,000 to SVG Investment Managers Limited, for regulatory capital purposes, which 
remains outstanding. Interest of 5% per annum is payable on the loan.

During the year the Company repaid a loan from SVGA of £10.0 million that was outstanding as at 31 December 2011. The loan accrued 
interest at a rate of 5% per annum. During the year the Company received dividends of £6.0 million from SVGA (2011: £5.9 million), 
£0.2 million from SVGIM (2011: £0.5 million), and £0.1 million from SVGM (2011: £0.2 million). In addition, SVGA paid £11.0 million 
as a return of capital during the year. There were no other distributions paid by subsidiaries during the year.

During the year SVGA received €1.6 million of SVG Diamond I Loan Notes and €0.8 million of SVG Diamond II Loan Notes, as part of its 
ongoing investment advisory fee arrangements. These Notes were purchased from SVGA by SVG Capital plc at par value on the date of 
issue, as the holding of investments is the main activity of the parent company. In addition, the Company received a further €0.4 million 
of SVG Diamond II Loan Notes in lieu of interest.

As previously disclosed, the ‘Diamond Investment Scheme’ enabled staff to purchase shares in SVG Diamond II from SVG Capital. Until 
they have been transferred, shares remain in the name of SVG Capital but are held on trust for the beneficiaries. At 31 December 2012, 
the total amounts receivable by the Company under the Scheme was £0.4 million (2011: £0.4 million). 

Related party transactions during the year were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s-length transactions.

28 Risk

Financial instruments and risk profile

The Company’s primary investment objective is to achieve capital appreciation by investing in a portfolio of private equity and private 
equity-related assets. These investments are typically illiquid. In addition, the Company holds money market instruments, cash and 
short-term deposits and various items such as debtors and creditors that arise directly from its operations. These financial instruments 
held by the Company are generally liquid.

The holding of securities, investing activities and associated financing undertaken pursuant to this objective involves certain inherent risks. 
Events may occur that would result in either a reduction in the Group’s net assets or a reduction of revenue profits available for dividend.

As an investment trust, the Company invests in securities for the long term. The Company has not taken out any derivatives contracts to 
date, other than the interest rate swap and currency swap agreements referred to in note 19, which were executed to hedge against 
fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates with respect to the Senior Notes in issue. SVG Advisers Limited has entered into 
forward currency contracts, referred to in notes 17 and 19, which are used to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, since 
the majority of its fee income is euro-denominated but its ongoing costs are primarily sterling-denominated.

Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

Company Group

Floating 
rate 

£’000

Fixed 
rate 

£’000

Non-interest 
bearing 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Floating 
rate 

£’000

Fixed 
rate 

£’000

Non-interest 
bearing 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Currency denomination of assets  
at 31 December 2012: 

Sterling 187,866 – 135,970 323,836 199,322 – 123,762 323,084

Euro 63,615 – 646,259 709,874 67,358 – 649,585 716,943

US dollar 1,761 – 77,685 79,446 2,572 – 77,716 80,288

Japanese yen – – 188,993 188,993 – – 188,999 188,999

Singapore dollar – – – – 189 – 1 190

Danish Krone – – 19,095 19,095 – – 19,095 19,095

Indian rupee – – 45 45 – – 45 45

Swiss Franc – – 392 392 – – 392 392

253,242 – 1,068,439 1,321,681 269,441 – 1,059,595 1,329,036
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28 Risk continued

Company Group

Floating 
rate 

£’000

Fixed 
rate 

£’000

Non-interest 
bearing 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Floating 
rate 

£’000

Fixed 
rate 

£’000

Non-interest 
bearing 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Currency denomination of assets  
at 31 December 2011: 

Sterling 89,022 – 155,050 244,072 100,237 – 145,018 245,255

Euro 20,269 – 753,851 774,120 20,269 – 753,910 774,179

US dollar 289 – 126,124 126,413 498 – 126,435 126,933

Japanese yen – – 22,877 22,877 – – 22,877 22,877

Singapore dollar – – 528 528 – – 624 624

Hong Kong dollar – – 120,156 120,156 – – 120,156 120,156

Indian rupee – – 11,839 11,839 – – 11,832 11,832

Canadian dollar – – 608 608 – – 608 608

109,580 – 1,191,033 1,300,613 121,004 – 1,181,460 1,302,464

Non-interest bearing assets represent non-monetary items such as the Group’s investment portfolio, warehoused assets and other 
short-term debtors. Floating rate financial assets consist of cash at bank, short-term deposits and AAA-rated money market funds. 
All financial assets are included at fair value.

(b) Financial liabilities 

The Company had £150.3 million nominal (2011: £162.0 million nominal) of Senior Notes outstanding at the year end. 

The Company had in place a loan facility of €250.0 million with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, Lloyds Banking Group plc and Unicredit 
Bank AG at 31 December 2012, which was undrawn (2011: undrawn) at the balance sheet date. During the year, the loan facility was 
renegotiated, €100.0 million matured in January 2013 and €150 million matures in December 2015. 

The Company had £92.8 million nominal (2011: £90.9 million nominal) of subordinated convertible loan notes in issue at the balance 
sheet date.

The level of borrowing will impact on the Group’s performance by amplifying the effect of movements in the valuation of the investment 
portfolio. 

In addition to financial liabilities (note 19), the Company also has uncalled fund commitments (note 20) as at 31 December 2012 of 
£91.7 million (2011: £170.2 million), which are discussed below as part of commitment/liquidity risk.

It should also be noted that fund investments and underlying investee companies may also utilise borrowings to varying degrees. This is 
particularly the case with respect to CLO funds and structured private equity funds of funds, which are highly leveraged vehicles.

Currency denomination of the financial liabilities of the Group:

31 December 
2012 

£’000

31 December 
2011 

£’000

Sterling 140,659 141,333

Euro 109,049 113,103

US dollar 11,384 13,640

261,092 268,076

The currency exposure of liabilities is shown after adjusting for the $180 million currency swap referred to in note 19.
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28 Risk continued
Gross contractual cash flows* (cumulative interest and principal amounts) payable on the liabilities of the Group are as follows:

31 December 
2012 

£’000

31 December 
2011 

£’000

Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 55,740 63,279

Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 68,662 86,373

Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 43,320 46,655

Convertible loan notes due 5 June 2016 129,713 138,016

Other creditors 11,195 10,857

Forward currency contracts (gross payments) 33,255 28,273

Currency swaps (gross payments) 215,562 126,343

557,447 499,796

* Based on exchange rates at each year end and allowing for interest rate swaps

A more detailed analysis of the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets, financial liabilities and gross-settled derivatives based on 
contractual undiscounted cash flows and year end exchange rates is shown below. Gross settled derivatives are calculated based on the 
spot prices at the year end.

Financial liabilities (maturity)

The maturity groupings are based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. When 
a counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group can be required 
to pay. For loan facility drawdowns this will be within three months, although the amounts will be available to be re-drawn, subject to 
compliance with loan covenants. For the purposes of this analysis it is assumed that outstanding loan amounts, if any, will remain drawn 
until the quarter-end prior to the expiry date of the facility, i.e. 31 September 2015.

Financial assets (maturity)

Analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into maturity groupings is based on the long-term nature of these assets and, 
in the absence of evidence to the contrary, it is assumed that no distributions or realisations will occur within 12 months of the balance 
sheet date, although it is clearly possible that realisations will occur within that period. Beyond that it is extremely difficult to judge the 
precise size or timing of such cash flows. It is, however, a requirement under IFRS 7 to disclose such an analysis and therefore a breakdown 
is provided in the following table for illustrative purposes only. It is emphasised that the analysis is provided purely to comply with 
accounting standards. It is not a forecast and should not be construed as such. It is based on broad assumptions, further details of which 
are provided below the table. For other assets, the analysis into maturity groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the 
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or if earlier, the expected date the assets will be realised.

Maturity analysis (Group)

31 December 2012
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 269,441 – – – – 269,441

Interest receivable 516 – – – – 516

Prepayments and other debtors 1,487 1,695 397 1,059 – 4,638

Accrued investment advisory fee income – 2,135 – – – 2,135

Deferred consideration – – 21,383 13,859 – 35,242

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,681 – – 860,416 151,938 1,014,035

273,125 3,830 21,780 875,334 151,938 1,326,007

31 December 2012
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Financial liabilities 

Other creditors and accruals (11,195) – – – – (11,195)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (2,404) – (53,336) – – (55,740)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 (2,585) – (2,585) (63,492) – (68,662)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 (1,668) – (1,668) (39,984) – (43,320)

Convertible loan notes due 5 June 2016 – – (8,304) (121,409) – (129,713)

(17,852) – (65,893) (224,885) – (308,630)
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28 Risk continued
Payments in respect of debt instruments shown above include interest and principal amounts.

31 December 2012
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000
Total  

£’000

Derivatives 

Forward currency contracts

– Gross cash inflow 3,429 – 22,799 7,794 – 34,022

– Gross cash outflow (3,244) – (22,305) (7,706) – (33,255)

Currency swaps

– Gross cash inflow 115,577 – 47,112 53,394 – 216,083

– Gross cash outflow (113,144) – (48,019) (54,399) – (215,562)

2,618 – (413) (917) – 1,288

Available liquidity/(gap) 257,891 3,830 (44,526) 649,532 151,938 1,018,665

Maturity analysis (Group)

31 December 2011
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000 Total 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 121,004 – – – – 121,004

Interest receivable 341 – – – – 341

Prepayments and other debtors 1,838 – – – – 1,838

Accrued investment advisory fee income – 1,791 4,102 – – 5,893

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – – – 817,958 350,553 1,168,511

123,183 1,791 4,102 817,958 350,553 1,297,587

31 December 2011
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000 Total 

Financial liabilities 

Other creditors and accruals (10,857) – – – – (10,857)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2013 (2,513) – (2,513) (58,253) – (63,279)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2014 (3,025) – (3,025) (80,323) – (86,373)

Senior Notes due 18 July 2015 (1,668) – (1,668) (43,319) – (46,655)

Convertible loan notes due 5 June 2016 – – (8,304) (33,215) (96,497) (138,016)

(18,063) – (15,510) (215,110) (96,497) (345,180)

Payments in respect of debt instruments shown above include interest and principal amounts.

31 December 2011
< 1 month  

£’000
1–3 months  

£’000
3–12 months  

£’000
1–5 years  

£’000
> 5 years  

£’000 Total 

Derivatives 

Forward currency contracts

– Gross cash inflow 3,746 – 14,928 9,715 – 28,389

– Gross cash outflow (3,633) – (15,369) (9,271) – (28,273)

Currency swaps

– Gross cash inflow 5,064 – 5,064 120,887 – 131,015

– Gross cash outflow (4,908) – (4,908) (116,527) – (126,343)

269 – (285) 4,804 – 4,788

Available liquidity/(gap) 105,389 1,791 (11,693) 607,652 254,056 957,195
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28 Risk continued
The Group’s actual liquidity profile is likely to be very different to the analysis outlined above. In particular, it is very difficult to predict the 
quantum and timing of returns on the Group’s long-term investment portfolio. As already mentioned, it is important to note that the 
maturity analysis in respect of financial assets at fair value (i.e. the investment portfolio) is highly subjective and is not a forecast of the 
expected cash flows. For the purposes of the maturity analysis it has been simply assumed that all financial assets will be realised at their 
year end carrying value. The amounts receivable within three months are based on actual cash flows. The residual balance has been 
allocated 85:15 between less than and more than five years. This is considered to be a reasonable and prudent estimate, but is no more 
than that. It is not a forecast. The Group’s undrawn loan facility amounted to £202.8 million at 31 December 2012 (£121.7 million 
following the maturity of €100 million in January 2013), and is subject to financial covenants as discussed in note 19.

Uncalled fund commitments

At 31 December 2012, the Group had uncalled fund commitments of £91.7 million, which are expected to be drawn over a number of 
years. It should be noted that when these commitments are funded they will typically be used to make investments and therefore create 
an asset that would be expected to be realised for cash over the longer term. The Group’s uncalled commitments are more than covered 
by the year end cash balance of £269.4 million, and the £121.7 million tranche of the loan facility maturing in December 2015. 

Risks

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are considered to be commitment risk and valuation risk. The Board 
reviews and agrees policy for managing these and other risks as summarised below. The Directors consider that the risks faced by the 
Group are primarily those faced by the Company.

Borrowing and funding risks

The nature of investing in buy-out and development capital funds entails making significant financial commitments, as shown in note 20. 
At 31 December 2012, the Group had uncalled commitments of £91.7 million (2011: £170.2 million), compared to cash balances of 
£269.4 million (2011: £121.0 million) and shareholders’ funds of £1,073.0 million (2011: £1,038.7 million).

The Company is a ‘closed-ended’ investment trust and is therefore not subject to redemption requests from its investors. The Company’s 
shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

It is anticipated that over the longer term, and in normal circumstances, the Company’s commitments to private equity funds and other 
financial liabilities will be financed by available cash resources and distributions received on the realisation of underlying investments 
within the fund portfolio, although in the current market environment it is not anticipated that there will be significant realisations 
from the investment portfolio in the short term. In addition, the Group had a €250 million loan facility, which was undrawn 
at 31 December 2012, that could be drawn on, subject to financial covenants as described in note 19, to meet fund commitments as 
they fall due. That facility was reduced to €150 million in January 2013. The Board monitors liquidity risk and, if considered appropriate, 
could renegotiate its lending arrangements or issue new securities. The Group’s investments are mainly illiquid but, in extremis, the Board 
could consider selective disposals of long-term investments, if required to meet commitments as they fall due. In these circumstances it is 
possible, dependent on prevailing market conditions, that the realisation value of such assets could be at a significant discount to their 
previous carrying value. 

The Company is in a relatively strong financial position but a residual risk remains that the Group could be unable to meet its future 
commitments in full. If as a consequence of a failure to pay a call, the Company is treated as a defaulting investor to the relevant Fund, 
it will suffer a resultant dilution in interest and possibly the compulsory sale of its interest. A default on a fund commitment would 
also result in a cross-default on the Company’s senior debt. In December 2008 the Company agreed to reduce its commitment 
to Permira IV. The total direct commitment by the Company to Permira IV was €2.4 billion, of which 56.8% has been called as at 
31 December 2012. The Company elected to cap its commitment at 60% of the total. At 31 December 2012 the Company had 
an uncalled commitment to Permira IV of €77.0 million (2011: €84.4 million), which will only be called to finance follow-on investments 
and fees. The terms of these arrangements require that future distributions from the realisation of portfolio companies receivable by those 
investors in Permira IV that elected to cap their commitments will be reduced by 25%, such benefit to accrue to the Limited Partners that 
did not elect to cap their uncalled commitments.

The Company’s loan facility part expired in January 2013 (€100.0 million) with the remainder expiring in December 2015 (€150.0 
million). The Senior Notes in issue mature between July 2013 to July 2015 (see note 19). The convertible loan notes are repayable in 2016.

The Board manages liquidity risk by regularly and rigorously reviewing cash flow forecasts and available funding options. Commitments 
to fund investments are reviewed by the Board. 

Valuation/market price risk

The Company’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly movements in the value of its underlying investments. A breakdown of the 
Fund portfolio is given on pages 26 and 27 and a detailed analysis of the 10 largest underlying companies is given on pages 6 to 7. 
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies, set out on pages 56 to 60, all underlying investments are valued at fair value 
by the Directors in accordance with the current International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEV”) Valuation Guidelines. The IPEV 
Guidelines contain detailed methodology setting out best practice with respect to valuing unquoted investments. It should be noted 
that a large proportion of the Company’s underlying investee companies are expected to be unquoted and therefore the valuation 
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28 Risk continued
of such companies involves exercising judgement. The Company does not ordinarily hedge against movements in the value of these 
investments. Uncertainty arises as a result of future changes in the valuation of the Company’s underlying investments, the majority of 
which are unquoted, and the effect changes in exchange rates may have in the sterling value of these investments. Development-stage 
equity investments and early-stage equity investments, by their nature, involve uncertainty as to the ultimate value likely to be realised 
on the disposal of those investments, particularly as their unquoted nature means that a ready market may not exist for them. As an 
indication of the valuation risk facing the Company, in 2012 the Group benefited from gains on its investment portfolio totalling 
£146.3 million (2011: gains of £138.5 million).

The Company’s sensitivity to valuation risk will be affected by changes in the Company’s levels of borrowing (see note 19) and liquidity, 
as approved by the Board. It will also be affected by leverage in the funds in which we invest and the local currency denomination of 
such funds, which is considered separately under currency risk.

At 31 December 2012, a 10% movement in the valuation of the Group’s aggregate investments designated as fair value through profit 
and loss would result in a 9.5% (2011: 11.3%) change in Shareholders’ funds.

Valuation risk will be affected by leverage in the underlying investee companies. A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the 
valuations of the 10 largest underlying investee companies, which had an aggregate valuation (before providing for carried interest) 
of £791.2 million or 94.1% of the gross management buyout fund portfolio valuation (2011: £917.7 million or 90.9%), the results 
of which are set out in the table below.

Fair value 
£’million

Hypothetical 
fair value

(10% uplift)*
£’million

Hypothetical 
fair value 

(10% write-
down)*

£’million

31 December 2012

Gross valuation of 10 largest investee companies 791.2 947.0 635.2

Change in valuation/effect on income +19.7% –19.7%

31 December 2011

Gross valuation of 10 largest investee companies 917.7 1,113.5 751.6

Change in valuation/effect on income +21.3% –18.1%

*  All investments are included in the balance sheet at fair value. Quoted companies are valued based on market prices. For such investments, a 10% movement in the 
valuation basis will have a 10% impact on fair value. For unquoted investments valued on a different basis, such as earnings-related, a 10% movement in the earnings 
of the investee company will not necessarily result in a 10% change in fair value, because of other factors such as the level of debt utilised by the investee companies

The Board manages valuation risk by reviewing and approving the valuation of the private equity fund portfolio.

Holdings risk

In certain circumstances, the Company may wish to transfer its holdings in particular funds. In a majority of the funds in which the 
Company will invest, the general partner, trustee or manager has the ultimate right, similar to that exercisable by a board of a private 
company, to refuse to register the transfer of an interest. While the Company has no reason to believe that any request for the transfer of 
an interest would be refused, it is of course conceivable that the general partner’s, trustee’s or manager’s overriding fiduciary duty could 
result in it refusing to register a particular transfer proposed by the Company.

Concentration risk

At present, the Company holds a significant proportion of its investments in private equity funds that are managed or advised by 
Permira. At 31 December 2012, the value of the Top 10 largest underlying holdings represented 91.4% of the gross management buyout 
portfolio (31 December 2011: 90.9%). 

The future performance of the Group in the short term will therefore be largely dependent on the future performance of the 
Permira funds in which we invest (see note 29 for an indication of the Group’s exposures). Investors should also be aware that greater 
concentration of the investment portfolio presents a risk. The performance of Permira funds depends to a significant extent upon the 
skills and experience of Permira and its personnel. The continued service of these individuals is not guaranteed and there can be no 
assurance that key individuals can be replaced with equally skilled and experienced professionals by Permira. Therefore, the departure 
of one or several key investment professionals or partners at Permira may have an adverse effect on the performance of the Company 
and the value and trading price of the Ordinary Shares. Each fund investment proposition is considered by the Board in accordance 
with a structured investment process. This includes presentations from the manager of the proposed fund, extensive due diligence, 
consideration of the terms and conditions for investment in the fund, consideration of the Group’s own cash flows and future 
commitments and a review of the effect of any such investment on portfolio concentration.

During the year the Company’s shareholders passed a resolution to change the Company’s Investment Objective to achieve wider 
asset diversity and better flexibility in the management of the Company’s cash flows. Over time, the Company will evolve from 
a concentrated, single manager investor to one that is more diversified, and will look to build on our Permira portfolio through 
commitments to a limited number of other leading private equity funds. In time, the Company may also make co-investments 
alongside funds. 
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s revenue will be affected by changes in prevailing interest rates since a large portion of its income ordinarily derives from 
money market instruments and bank deposit interest. It also pays interest on its Senior Notes and drawings on the loan facility that may 
be taken out from time to time.

The Company’s primary objective is to achieve capital returns from its investments and, as such, the main exposure to interest rate 
risk is indirect, through its impact on the valuation of the private equity funds, although it is not possible to quantify such effects. 
Interest rates are one of the key determinants of economic growth. At a more specific level, interest rates and credit spreads also have 
an important role in the ability of private equity funds to secure profitable deals, as many transactions are partly financed by debt. 
The effect of interest rate changes on the valuation of investments and debt forms part of valuation risk, which is considered separately.

At 31 December 2012, the Group held investments in AAA-rated money market funds valued at £179.8 million (2011: £112.0 million), 
earning interest at market rates. The money market funds are redeemable on less than 24 hours’ notice. Other floating rate financial 
assets comprised cash at bank or short-term deposits.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had £150.3 million (2011: £162.0 million) of Senior Notes in issue and £92.8 million (2011: 
£90.9 million) of convertible loan notes (see note 19). Interest rate risk on the Senior Notes and the Bonds is mitigated as the Bonds and 
most of the Notes pay fixed rates of interest. The weighted average interest rate payable on the Notes and the swaps amounted to 8.8% 
at 31 December 2012.

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group unless otherwise disclosed. The Group is subject to credit risk on its 
cash and cash equivalents. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to cash and cash equivalents is represented by carrying value as at 
the balance sheet date. The Group’s cash and deposits are held with a variety of counterparties. Cash equivalents at the year end 
comprised money market funds with a variety of counterparties, each fund having a credit rating of AAA.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk directly since the majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currency and their 
sterling value can be significantly affected by movements in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not normally hedge against 
foreign currency movements affecting the value of its investments, but takes account of this risk when making investment decisions. 
The Group has a €250 million loan facility which, if drawn, would also act as a hedge against the currency risk on the value of its 
euro-denominated assets.

The Group also has issued Senior Notes of US$184.0 million. As described in note 19 the Company has taken out a currency swap to 
effectively convert $180.0 million of Senior Notes into a euro exposure, which acts as a partial hedge against the currency risk on the 
value of its euro-denominated assets. A fair value asset of £2.4 million (2011: £4.4 million) has been recognised in respect of this. 

The Group has also entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate against movements in exchange rates. These contracts 
are primarily to provide a cash flow hedge against euro-denominated investment management and advisory fees receivable by 
subsidiary companies in 2012 and 2013. The total outstanding under such contracts at 31 December 2012 amounted to a sale of 
€33.5 million (2011: €33.9 million) in exchange for £28.0 million (2011: £28.4 million). A fair value loss of £0.9 million (2011: gain of 
£0.7 million) was taken to equity in respect of these contracts as a result of the appreciation of euro against sterling since the contracts 
were entered into. Contracts have maturities of between 3 and 21 months. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the value of shareholders’ funds, the results of 
which are set out in the table below.

Equity 
shareholders’ 

funds 
£’million

Hypothetical 
value 

(10% £
depreciation)

£’million

Hypothetical 
value 

(10% £
appreciation)

£’million

31 December 2012

Equity shareholders’ funds 1,073.0 1,161.5 984.4

Change in shareholders’ funds/effect on income +8.2% -8.3%

31 December 2011

Equity shareholders’ funds 1,038.7 1,131.8 945.7

Change in shareholders’ funds/effect on income +9.0% –9.0%

Capital risk management

The objective of the Company is to provide shareholders with long-term growth in capital. In pursuing this long-term objective, the 
Board has a responsibility for ensuring the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. It must therefore maintain an appropriate 
capital structure through varying market conditions. This involves the ability to: issue and buy-back share capital within limits set by the 
shareholders in general; and borrow monies in the short and long term.

Changes to ordinary share capital are set out in note 21. Borrowings are set out in notes 18 and 19.
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28 Risk continued

General risks associated with investment in private equity

Investment in private equity involves a high degree of risk. The Group invests in private equity through its exposure to buy-out and 
development capital funds. Such investments are illiquid and as such may be difficult to realise, particularly within a short timeframe. 
The Directors seek to maintain a diversified portfolio of investments to mitigate these risks, although the portfolio does remain 
concentrated with respect to private equity fund managers and also to vintage as explained in concentration risk on page 89.

Default risk

A fund’s documentation generally provides for certain penalties in the event that an investor in the fund fails to meet a call. There 
is typically a grace period during which interest accrues on the unpaid amount. If the default continues, the investor may become subject 
to various sanctions, including termination of the investor’s right to participate in future investments, loss of its entitlement to distributions 
or income but not its liability for losses or expenses, mandatory transfer or sale of its interest, continuing liability for the principal and 
interest in respect of the defaulted amount and partial or total forfeiture of the investor’s interest. In addition, the general partner or 
manager may have other rights and remedies (including legal remedies). The investor may also remain liable for future calls in respect of 
the relevant fund as and when they are made. There can be no assurance as to the price which may be achieved in any mandatory 
transfer or sale following a default on a call. Certain funds give the general partner or manager the right to proceed directly to forfeiture 
proceedings following notice and continuation of default by an investor. In the case of a forfeiture, the share of the fund held by the 
defaulting investor would generally be allocated among the general partner or manager and the remaining investors. In addition, the 
investor may remain liable for the defaulted amount. 

Consequently, any failure by SVG Capital to meet any call may have a material adverse effect on the value of SVG Capital’s interest in a 
fund and/or on the net asset value of SVG Capital and/or on SVG Capital’s ability to generate returns for its Shareholders. In addition, a 
failure to meet a call may result in a cross-default under the Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility which could result in a substantial loss.

If another investor or limited partner in a fund in which the Company holds an interest were to default on a call, this may result in the 
other investors (including the Company) in the fund in question becoming subject to individual calls of a larger amount (but subject to 
each investor’s original capital commitment) and, in addition, the fund in question may make fewer or smaller or more highly leveraged 
investments. Any such occurrence may lead to a reduction in the diversification of the Company’s interests in underlying portfolio 
companies, increase volatility, increase the Company’s financing requirements and may have an adverse effect on the Company’s 
business and prospects. 

Investment holding risk period

Investment in private equity requires a long-term commitment with no certainty of return. Many of the investments made by the Group 
are illiquid holdings in buy-out and development capital funds and, in some cases, may not be capable of being realised in a timely manner 
or at all. The timing of cash distributions, if any, made by the buy-out and development capital funds is uncertain and unpredictable. 

Recent market conditions have made it more difficult for general partners or other managers of private equity funds to dispose of 
investments at attractive prices and otherwise on favourable terms. The Company considers that, although signs of improvement are 
present, it is likely that these difficult circumstances will ease but continue in the short to medium term and, while they do continue, 
it may be that the returns of the Company from its investments will be reduced and/or delayed.

Any further material change in the economic environment, including a continued slow-down in economic growth and/or changes in 
interest rates or foreign exchange rates, could have a negative impact on the performance and/or valuation of the underlying portfolio 
companies. SVG Capital’s performance may be affected by prolonged weakness or further deterioration in public markets and by market 
events, which may impact on not only its quoted portfolio companies but also the public company comparable earnings multiples used 
to value unquoted portfolio companies.

A further consequence of the subdued market for portfolio companies exits in that the general partners, or other managers, of the 
private equity funds in which the Company holds interests are more likely to delay disposing of portfolio companies until market 
conditions improve. As a result, the Company is likely to receive distributions in respect of its investments at a slower rate than may have 
otherwise been the case in a more favourable economic environment. In addition to this, a fund manager’s ability to realise its interest 
in certain portfolio companies in whole or in part may be subject to contractual restrictions such as shareholder lock-up arrangements. 
It may therefore be the case that the Company decides to pay calls with debt finance rather than relying upon receiving distributions 
from investments which it has made which may therefore increase the Company’s borrowings and risk and volatility for shareholders. 
There can therefore be no assurance as to whether, and if so how much, the value of the Company’s assets will grow or the timing 
of return if any.

Investments in buy-out and development capital funds may be difficult to value and dispositions may require a lengthy time period since 
there is only a limited market for secondary sales of private equity investments. Further, sales or other transfers of interests in buy-out 
and development capital funds sometimes require the written consent of the general partner of the fund, the granting of which is at its 
discretion. Accordingly, the Group may not be able to sell its investments in buy-out and development capital funds at their net asset 
value.

The Company’s portfolio is concentrated with respect to private equity fund managers as explained below and this may impact the 
ability to place a large holding of a single fund on the secondary market at any one time.
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Portfolio company risks

Since the Company invests through private equity funds in portfolio companies, the risks experienced by the portfolio companies will 
closely affect the returns earned by the Company and the trading price and value of its Ordinary Shares. The risks which the portfolio 
companies may experience, and the risks posed by an investment in such companies, include:

•  these companies may be highly leveraged and subject to significant debt service obligations, stringent operating and financial 
covenants and a higher risk of default under financing and other contractual arrangements, which would lead to severe adverse 
consequences for the relevant portfolio company and the value of the Company’s investment in such company if a default were 
to occur;

•  the valuations of highly leveraged companies are typically more sensitive to changes in value in public company comparable earnings 
multiples, declines in revenues, increases in expenses and interest rates and adverse economic, market and industry developments. 
The risk of loss associated with a highly leveraged company is generally far greater than for companies with comparatively less debt;

•  they may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under their debt facilities, or to refinance 
debt facilities when they fall due, which may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of their equity securities in which the 
Company is ultimately invested;

•  they may require significant additional capital investment or operational or management support to improve their operations, 
finance expansions or maintain their competitive positions. Such investment and support may not be forthcoming;

•  often, little public information exists about these companies and investors in these companies generally must rely on information 
obtained by the general partner, or other manager, of the relevant fund which holds the portfolio company;

•  reliance is placed on the general partner as to the adequacy or accuracy of information provided during any due diligence exercise 
conducted prior to an investment being made. The general partner, or relevant manager, of the fund in question may have made 
judgements concerning the materiality of contingent or actual risks or liabilities identified during due diligence that may not in practice 
turn out to have been accurate;

•  the purchase agreements relating to the investment in question may contain only limited representations and warranties from 
the relevant vendors and these may be limited in, for example, time and amount. Such contractual protection would typically not 
be addressed to the Company directly and, in any case, there can be no assurance as to the ability of the relevant vendor to satisfy 
any claims which may be made under any such agreement;

•  general operating risks arising from or being, amongst other matters, the cost of goods and services, difficulty in obtaining customers, 
losses arising from customer failure, market developments, competition risk, key man risk, foreign exchange risk, financing risks, 
an increase in costs and the legal and regulatory framework within which the portfolio company operates;

•  there are likely to be prior claims on the assets of portfolio companies from debt providers which would reduce the amounts earned by 
the equity holders including, indirectly, the Company; and 

•  lenders to portfolio companies may take actions which are adverse to the interests of the holders of equity interests in the portfolio 
company including, indirectly, the Company.

The value of the portfolio companies held by the funds in which the Company holds interests may be affected by uncertainties, such 
as political developments, changes in government policies, regulations, laws, taxation, currency fluctuations, currency repatriation and 
other restrictions, in some of the countries in which the funds may invest. The Company, directly or indirectly through the funds in which 
the Company holds interests, may also be exposed to these risks.

Passive investor with limited recourse

The Company is generally a passive investor and has limited powers under the governing documents of the funds in which it holds 
interests. The funds concerned are, within certain broad parameters, generally authorised to follow broad investment guidelines and, 
subject thereto, are able to invest in geographies, industries and investment opportunities at their discretion. The Company does not 
review each proposed investment and is, subject to certain limited exceptions, unable to refuse to meet a Call without suffering the 
consequences of a default. There can be no assurance that the strategies adopted by Permira or other general partners or managers 
of the funds in which the Company holds interests will be successful or that the portfolio companies of such funds, or the Company’s 
investments generally, will appreciate in value.

The Company also holds some investments in funds in respect of which other members of the Group are the general partner, manager 
and/or adviser. In these instances, fiduciary duties are owed by the relevant members of the Group to other investors which, together 
with the terms of the relevant fund management or advisory agreement, mean that the relevant members of the Group are unable 
to submit each proposed investment for review by the Company which will, therefore, remain a passive investor in respect of the 
relevant fund.



93SVG Capital plc 
Annual report 

2012
Overview

Business  
review

Company 
information

Corporate 
information

Financial  
informationOverview

Business  
review

Company 
information

Corporate 
information

Financial  
information

28 Risk continued
The Company cannot make claims against general partners or managers of the funds in which the Company invests even in cases 
of poor performance except in very limited circumstances typically involving severe culpability on the part of the general partner or 
manager. The Company’s recourse in the event of poor performance of the funds concerned is highly restricted. Removal of the general 
partner or manager of a fund generally requires a high level of investor participation and consent with the relevant threshold often being 
set so as to require the consent of holders of 75% of the capital committed to the fund in question. The Company is unlikely to be able to 
procure such participation and consent on its own and it may therefore be very difficult to remove a general partner or manager of a 
fund in which the Company invests such that the Company may potentially find itself locked into an under-performing fund. The fund 
documentation relating to Permira IV contains no provision for the removal of the general partner or manager by vote of the limited 
partners save in circumstances involving severe culpability. Even if those circumstances were to arise, which the Company considers to be 
unlikely, the consent of a special majority of limited partners would be required which the Company is unlikely to be able to procure on 
its own. Once the Company has made a capital commitment to a fund, it may be difficult to terminate its participation or reduce its 
capital commitment even if the investment returns arising from that fund are poor or not competitive.

Regulatory risks

The regulatory environment in which the Group operates is increasingly complex and the Group faces a number of regulatory risks. 
Breaches of regulations such as the UK Listing Authority’s Listing Rules could lead to a number of detrimental outcomes and damage 
the Group’s reputation. Breaches of controls by service providers could also lead to reputational damage or loss. Key regulatory risks 
have been identified and appropriate monitoring of such risks is undertaken regularly on behalf of the Board. 

Three of the Company’s subsidiaries: SVG Advisers Limited, SVG Investment Managers Limited and SVG Managers Limited are authorised 
and regulated by the Financial Services Authority. Certain other subsidiaries are regulated by foreign regulators.

There are a number of legislative initiatives to increase regulation of the alternative investments sector including private equity. 
Such legislation has not been finalised, however there is a risk that such legislation, when enacted, could materially affect the business 
of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Taxation risk

Any change in the taxation legislation or practice could affect the value of the Group’s investments and as a result, its performance. 
A breach of Section 1158 of the United Kingdom Corporation Tax Act 2010 could result in the Group being subject to corporation tax on 
realised gains on the sale of portfolio investments which would have a material adverse effect on the net returns earned by SVG Capital. 
However, the Group has strict controls in place to ensure that it complies with the requirements of Section 1158 and contracts with 
specialist tax advisers to provide advice on changes to tax regulation and practice. However, there can be no guarantee in advance that 
the Company will satisfy the conditions for approval by HMRC as an investment trust under Section 1158 or that the Company will not 
become a close company, which would result in its being unable to qualify as an investment trust for tax purposes. 

29 Ten largest fund investments (by value)

Manager/Adviser
2012 

£’000
2011 

£’000

Permira IV Permira 592,884 600,710

P25 SVGA 78,613 67,062

SVG Diamond SVGA 72,120 63,624

P1234 SVGA 60,582 59,879

SVG Diamond II SVGA 44,832 34,313

P123 SVGA 25,542 32,581

SVG Diamond III SVGA 21,186 16,116

SV International Life Sciences Fund IV SV Life Sciences Advisors 20,268 19,311

Strategic Recovery Fund II SVG IM 16,572 21,454

SVG UK Focus Fund SVG IM 14,137 12,152

946,736 927,202
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This document is important and requires your immediate attention. If you are in any doubt about the action you should take, 
you should consult an independent adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 in the United 
Kingdom, or another appropriately authorised independent adviser. If you have sold or transferred all your shares in SVG 
Capital plc, please send this document and the accompanying proxy form to the purchaser, transferee or agent through whom 
you acted for forwarding to the purchaser or transferee.

NOTICE is hereby given that the sixteenth annual general meeting of SVG Capital plc will be held at 11.30 a.m. on 27 March 2013 
at 61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions (the “Resolutions”), of which Resolutions 
1 to 9 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions 10 to 13 will be proposed as special resolutions:

Ordinary resolutions
1.  To receive the Report of the Directors and the audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 together with the Auditors’ 

report on those Accounts.

2.  To approve the Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2012.

3.  To elect Stephen Duckett as a Director of the Company.

4.  To re-elect Andrew Sykes as a Director of the Company.

5.  To re-elect Lynn Fordham as a Director of the Company.

6.  To re-elect Charles Sinclair as a Director of the Company.

7.  To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company.

8.  To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company.

9.  That, in substitution for all subsisting authorities, the Board be generally and unconditionally authorised to allot shares in the Company 
and to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares in the Company: 

 (A)  up to a nominal amount of £2,900,326 (equivalent to 1% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 19 February 
2013) in connection with the SVG Capital 2007 Performance Share Plan;

 (B)  up to a nominal amount of £90,472,051 (such amount to be reduced by the nominal amount allotted or granted under 
paragraph (C) below in excess of such sum); and 

 (C)  comprising equity securities (as defined in Section 560(1) of the Companies Act 2006) up to a nominal amount of £180,944,103 
(such amount to be reduced by any allotments or grants made under paragraph (B) above) in connection with an offer by way 
of a rights issue: 

  (i) to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

  (ii)  to holders of other equity securities as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers necessary,

  and so that the Board may impose any limits or restrictions and make any arrangements which it considers necessary or appropriate 
to deal with treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any 
territory or any other matter, 

  such authorities to apply until the end of next year’s annual general meeting (or, if earlier, until the close of business on 26 June 2014) 
but, in each case, during this period the Company may make offers and enter into agreements which would, or might, require shares 
to be allotted or rights to subscribe for or convert securities into shares to be granted after the authority ends and the Board may allot 
shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert securities into shares under any such offer or agreement as if the authority had not 
ended.

Special resolutions
10. That a general meeting other than an annual general meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.

11.  That if Resolution 9 is passed, the Board be given power to allot equity securities (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) for cash 
under the authority given by that Resolution and/or to sell ordinary shares held by the Company as treasury shares for cash as if 
Section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not apply to any such allotment or sale, such power to be limited: 

 (A)  to the allotment of equity securities and/or sale of treasury shares up to a nominal amojnt of £2,900,326 (equivalent to 1% of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 19 February 2013) in connection with the SVG Capital 2007 Performance 
Share Plan;

 (B)  to the allotment of equity securities and sale of treasury shares for cash in connection with an offer of, or invitation to apply for, 
equity securities (but in the case of the authority granted under paragraph (C) of Resolution 9, by way of a rights issue only): 

  (i) to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and 

  (ii)  to holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities, or as the Board otherwise considers necessary, 

   and so that the Board may impose any limits or restrictions and make any arrangements which it considers necessary or 
appropriate to deal with treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under 
the laws of, any territory or any other matter; and 

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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 (C)  in the case of the authority granted under paragraph (B) of resolution 9 and/or in the case of any sale of treasury shares for cash, 
to the allotment (otherwise than under paragraph (B) above) of equity securities up to a nominal amount of £13,570,807 
(equivalent to 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 19 February 2013), 

  such power to apply until the end of next year’s annual general meeting (or, if earlier, until the close of business on 26 June 2014) but, 
in each case, during this period the Company may make offers and enter into agreements which would, or might, require equity 
securities to be allotted (and treasury shares to be sold) after the power ends and the Board may allot equity securities (and sell 
treasury shares) under any such offer or agreement as if the power had not ended.

12.  Without prejudice to any subsisting or future authorities, that the Company be authorised for the purposes of Section 701 of the 
Companies Act 2006 to make one or more market purchases (as defined in Section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of its ordinary 
shares of £1.00 each (“Ordinary Shares”), such power to be limited: 

 (A)  to a maximum number of 40,685,281 Ordinary Shares (equivalent to 14.99% of the issued ordinary share capital of the 
Company as at 19 February 2013); 

 (B)  by the condition that the minimum price which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is £1.00 and the maximum price which 
may be paid for an Ordinary Share is the highest of: 

  (i)  an amount equal to 5% above the average market value of an Ordinary Share for the five business days immediately 
preceding the day on which that Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and 

  (ii)  the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the trading venues where 
the purchase is carried out, 

 in each case, exclusive of expenses; and 

 (C)  by the condition that purchases may only be made pursuant to this authority if the Ordinary Shares are (at the date of the 
proposed purchase) trading on the London Stock Exchange at a discount to the latest published net asset value per ordinary 
share, 

  such power to apply until the end of next year’s annual general meeting (or, if earlier, until the close of business on 26 June 2014) 
but in each case so that the Company may enter into a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares which will or may be completed or 
executed wholly or partly after the power ends and the Company may purchase Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract 
as if the power had not ended. Ordinary shares purchased under this authority may be sold for cash, transferred to satisfy claims 
under employee share schemes, held in treasury or cancelled.

13.  That the Articles of Association produced to the meeting and initialled by the Chairman of the meeting for the purpose of 
identification be adopted as the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of the existing 
Articles of Association.

21 February 2013

By order of the Board

Company Secretary
Stuart Ballard

Registered Office:
61 Aldwych, London WC2B 4AE
Registered in England and Wales No. 03066856

1.  Members are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf at the meeting. A shareholder may appoint 
more than one proxy in relation to the annual general meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by 
that shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A proxy form which may be used to make such appointment and give proxy instructions 
accompanies this notice. If you do not have a proxy form and believe that you should have one, or if you require additional forms, please contact Equiniti on 0871 384 2776. 
Calls cost 8p per minute plus network extras. Lines open 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., Monday to Friday. The Equiniti overseas helpline number is +44 121 415 7047 

2.  To be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing a proxy must be received by post or (during normal business hours only) by hand at Equiniti, Aspect House, 
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA or at www.sharevote.co.uk, in each case no later than 11.30 a.m. on 25 March 2013

3.  The return of a completed proxy form, other such instrument or any CREST Proxy Instruction (as described in paragraph 9 below) will not prevent a shareholder 
attending the annual general meeting and voting in person if he/she wishes to do so 

4.  Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights (a “Nominated Person”) 
may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a 
proxy for the annual general meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such 
agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights

5.  The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 1 and 2 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights 
described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company 

6.  To be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting (and for the purpose of the determination by the Company of the votes they may cast), shareholders 
must be registered in the register of members of the Company at 6.00 p.m. on 25 March 2013 (or, in the event of any adjournment, 6.00 p.m. on the date which is two 
working days before the time of the adjourned meeting). Changes to the register of members after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of 
any person to attend and vote at the meeting

7.  As at 19 February 2013 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this notice) the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 290,032,690 ordinary 
shares, carrying one vote each. 18,616,535 shares were held in Treasury. Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 19 February 2013 were 271,416,535

8.  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures described in the 
CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a service provider(s), should refer to their 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf
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9.  In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly 
authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications, and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the 
CREST Manual (available via www.euroclear.com/CREST). The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the 
instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA19) by the latest time for the 
receipt of proxy appointments specified above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to the message 
by the CREST Application Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any 
change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means

10.  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors, or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available 
special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. 
It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member, or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting 
service provider, to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means 
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting system providers are referred, in 
particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings

11. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001

12.  Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a member provided that they 
do not do so in relation to the same shares

13.  In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the 
other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by order in which the names appear in the register of members. A company which is a member can 
appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all its powers as a member, provided that they do not do so in relation to the same shares

14.  Under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 members meeting the threshold requirements set out in that Section have the right to require the Company to publish 
on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the auditors’ report and the conduct of the audit) that are 
to be laid before the annual general meeting; or (ii) any circumstance connected with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at 
which annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with Section 437 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company may not require the shareholders requesting any 
such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with Sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Act 2006. Where the Company is required to place a statement on 
a website under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement 
available on the website. The business which may be dealt with at the annual general meeting includes any statement that the Company has been required under 
Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to publish on a website

15.  Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. The Company must cause to be answered any such question relating to the business being dealt with 
at the meeting but no such answer need be given if (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential 
information, (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question, or (c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good 
order of the meeting that the question be answered

16.  A copy of this notice, and other information required by Section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, can be found at www.svgcapital.com

17.  You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice or any related documents (including the proxy form) to communicate with the Company about 
proceedings at the meeting or the contents of this notice or for any purpose other than those expressly stated

Explanatory Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting
The notes on the following pages give an explanation of the Resolutions.

Resolutions 1 to 10 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This means that for each of those Resolutions to be passed, more than half 
of the votes cast must be in favour of the Resolution. Resolutions 11 to 13 are proposed as special resolutions. This means that for each of 
those Resolutions to be passed, at least three-quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the Resolution.

The Directors believe that the proposals set out in this notice are in the best interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole. 
Accordingly, the Board (other than, in the case of Resolutions 3 to 7, the Director proposed for reappointment in each Resolution), 
unanimously recommends that members vote in favour of each Resolution.

Resolution 1: Annual Report and Accounts 2012

The purpose of this Resolution is to receive the Company’s Accounts and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the year ended 
31 December 2012.

Resolution 2: Remuneration Report

The purpose of this Resolution is to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2012. This can be 
found on pages 34 to 39 of the Annual Report.

Resolutions 3 to 6: Directors

Biographical details of the Directors presenting themselves for election or re-election can be found on pages 28 and 29 of the Annual 
Report.

Resolutions 7 and 8: Auditors

The Company is required to appoint Auditors for each financial year of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
general meeting at which accounts are presented. The purpose of these Resolutions is to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to agree the remuneration of the Auditors.

Resolution 9: General power to allot

The Directors intend to exercise the authority referred to in paragraph (A) of Resolution 9 to grant options under the SVG Capital 2007 
Performance Share Plan. Options granted pursuant to this authority will nevertheless count towards limits on the number of new shares 
that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of options.

Paragraph (B) of this Resolution would give the Directors the authority to allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any 
securities into shares up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to £90,472,051 (representing 90,472,051 ordinary shares). This amount 
represents approximately one-third of the issued share capital of the Company as at 19 February 2013 (excluding treasury shares), the 
latest practicable date prior to publication of this notice. 

Notice of Annual General Meeting continued
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In line with guidance issued by the Association of British Insurers, paragraph (C) of this Resolution would give the Directors authority to 
allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any securities into shares in connection with a rights issue in favour of shareholders 
up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to £180,944,103 (representing 180,944,103 ordinary shares), as reduced by the nominal 
amount of any shares issued under paragraph (B) of this Resolution. This amount (before any reduction) represents approximately 
two-thirds of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) as at 19 February 2013, the latest practicable 
date prior to publication of this notice.

The Directors have no present intention to exercise any of the authorities sought under paragraphs (B) and (C) of this Resolution. 
However, if they do exercise the authorities, the Directors intend to follow recommendations from the Association of British Insurers 
concerning their use (including as regards the Directors standing for re-election in certain cases). 

The authorities sought under paragraphs (A), (B) and (C) of this Resolution will expire at the earlier of 26 June 2014 and the conclusion 
of the annual general meeting of the Company held in 2013.

As at the 19 February 2013, being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this notice, the Company held 18,616,535 shares 
in treasury, representing 6.88% of the Company’s total ordinary share capital in issue (excluding shares held in treasury).

Resolution 10: Notice of general meetings

Changes made to the Companies Act 2006 by the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations increase the notice period required for general 
meetings of the Company to 21 days unless Shareholders approve a shorter notice period, which cannot however be less than 14 clear 
days. (Annual general meetings will continue to be held on at least 21 clear days’ notice.)

Before the coming into force of the Shareholders’ Rights Regulations on 3 August 2009, the Company was able to call general meetings 
other than an annual general meeting on 14 clear days’ notice without obtaining such shareholder approval. In order to preserve this 
ability, Resolution 11 seeks such approval. The approval will be effective until the Company’s next annual general meeting, when it is 
intended that a similar resolution will be proposed. The shorter notice period would not be used as a matter of routine for such meetings, 
but only where the flexibility is merited by the business of the meeting and is thought to be to the advantage of shareholders as a whole.

Note that the changes to the Companies Act 2006 mean that, in order to be able to call a general meeting on less than 21 clear days’ 
notice, the Company must make a means of electronic voting available to all shareholders for that meeting.

Resolution 11: General power to disapply pre-emption rights

This Resolution will be proposed as a special resolution, which requires a 75% majority of the votes to be cast in favour. It would give the 
Directors the authority to allot shares (or sell any shares which the Company may elect to hold in treasury) for cash without first offering 
them to existing shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings. 

The Directors intend to exercise the authority referred to in paragraph (A) of Resolution 12 whenever they believe it is advantageous 
to shareholders to do so. 

The Directors are seeking the authority referred to in paragraph (B) of Resolution 12 in order to provide flexibility in raising monies to take 
advantage of opportunities arising through the launch of new funds and for general corporate purposes. It is the intention of the Board 
that any equity securities allotted under this authority will be allotted at an effective premium to the estimated net asset value per share at 
the date of pricing of the issue of the relevant equity securities. 

The authority in paragraphs (A) and (B) would be limited to allotments or sales in connection with pre-emptive offers and offers to 
holders of other equity securities if required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers necessary, or otherwise 
up to a nominal amount of £13,570,807 (representing 13,570,807 shares). This nominal amount represents approximately 5% of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 19 February 2013, the latest practicable date prior to publication of this notice. In 
respect of this aggregate nominal amount, the Directors confirm their intention to follow the Pre-Emption Group’s Statement of 
Principles regarding cumulative usage of authorities within a rolling 3-year period where the Principles provide that usage in excess of 
7.5% should not take place without prior consultation with shareholders.

The authority will expire at the earlier of 26 June 2014 and the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held in 2014.

Resolution 12: Authority to undertake market purchase of own shares

Authority is sought for the Company to purchase up to 14.99% of its issued Shares, renewing the authority granted at previous 
annual general meetings. The Company purchased 16,522,729 Ordinary Shares in the period from the last annual general meeting 
to 19 February 2013 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this notice). In addition, 15,576,323 shares were purchased 
pursuant to the Tender Offer. Shares purchased under this authority may be sold for cash, transferred to satisfy claims under employee 
share schemes, held in treasury or cancelled.

The Directors would consider exercising the authority provided by this resolution to acquire shares to hold in treasury to satisfy share 
options. The Directors believe holding such shares as treasury shares will provide the Company with increased flexibility in managing 
its share capital. As at 19 February 2013, being the latest practicable date prior to publication of the notice, the Company held 
18,616,535 shares in treasury.

The Directors intend to exercise the authority to continue the Company’s buy-back programme as part of their strategy to keep under 
review and manage the share price discount to net asset value. The Directors will exercise this authority only when to do so would be in 
the best interests of the Company, and of its Shareholders generally, and could be expected to result in an increase in the net asset value 
per share taking into account relevant factors and circumstances at the time.
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The minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for a share is £1.00. The maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which 
may be paid for a share is the highest of (i) an amount equal to 5% above the average market value for a share for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of the purchase and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current 
independent bid on the trading venues where the purchase is carried out.

The total number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at 19 February 2013 was 9,071,186, which represented 
approximately 3.32% of the issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) at that date. If the Company were to purchase the 
maximum number of ordinary shares permitted by this resolution then the options outstanding at 19 February 2013 would represent 
approximately 3.93% of the issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares). The Directors intend to continue to purchase 
ordinary shares under the existing authority prior to its expiry on 26 March 2013.

The authority will expire at the earlier of 26 June 2014 and the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held in 2014.

Resolution 13: Amendment to Articles of Association

This resolution to amend the Articles of Association will be proposed as a special resolution.

Following recent amendments to the Companies Act 2006 and the investment trust taxation rules, the Company is seeking the approval 
of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for a change to its Articles of Association so as to allow the Company to pay dividends to 
shareholders by taking account of its capital reserves as well as its income reserves. Before these legislative changes, the Company was 
prohibited from applying capital profits and surpluses arising from the realisation of investments in the payment of dividends, although 
these amounts could be used for the purposes of other distributions. The Articles of Association accordingly contained relevant 
prohibitions in this regard. Given that these restrictions have been removed, this constitutional prohibition is no longer appropriate. 
Accordingly, Resolution 13 to be proposed as a special resolution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting proposes to amend the 
Articles of Association by removing Article 124(C) and making certain consequential changes to the rest of Article 124. Following this 
change, the Company will continue to operate as an investment trust under the investment trust taxation rules and as an investment 
company under the Companies Act 2006.

The full terms of the new Articles of Association of the Company which will apply if Resolution 13 is passed, together with a version 
showing the changes proposed, are available for inspection until the close of the Annual General Meeting at the registered office of 
the Company.

Notice of Annual General Meeting continued



99SVG Capital plc 
Annual report 

2012

Company 
informationOverview

Business  
review

Corporate 
information

Financial  
information 99SVG Capital plc 

Annual report 
2012

Company 
information

Company summary and E-communications for shareholders

The Company
SVG Capital plc is a private equity investor and fund management business listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

The Company carries on business as an investment company within the meaning of Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

In order to obtain exemption from capital gains tax the Company conducts itself with a view to continuing as an approved investment 
trust for the purposes of Section 1158 of the United Kingdom Corporation Tax Act 2010. The Company is not a close company for 
taxation purposes.

Information for shareholders
The Company’s shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. The stock exchange code for the shares is SVI. The price of the shares 
is quoted daily in the Financial Times, the Daily Telegraph and The Times.

The net asset value is calculated quarterly, with the Company publishing accounts with a full investment portfolio review as at 
30 June and 31 December each year.

A factsheet containing information including the diversification of the portfolio and the Company’s largest investments is published 
quarterly and is available on the website and also by request from the Company Secretary.

Registrar services and E-communications for shareholders
Communications with shareholders are mailed to the address held on the share register. Any notifications and enquiries relating 
to registered share holdings, including a change of address or other amendment should be directed to Equiniti Registrars at Aspect 
House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA. The helpline telephone number of Equiniti Registrars is 0871 384 2776 
(Calls cost 8p per minute plus network extras). Lines open 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., Monday to Friday. If calling from overseas, 
please call +44 (0)121 415 7047.

SVG Capital would like to encourage shareholders to receive shareholder documents electronically, via our website or by email 
notification instead of hard copy format.

This is a faster and more environmentally friendly way of receiving shareholder documents.

The online ‘Shareview’ service from our registrar, Equiniti, provides all the information required regarding your shares. 

Its features include:

•  The option to receive shareholder communications electronically instead of by post. 

•  Direct access to data held for you on the share register including recent share movements and dividend details.

•  The ability to change your address or dividend payment instructions online.

•  To receive shareholder communications electronically in future, including all reports and notices of meetings, you just need 
the ‘shareholder reference’ printed on your proxy form or dividend notices, and knowledge of your registered address. 

Please register your details free on:  
www.shareview.co.uk

Should you require further information, please visit: 
www.svgcapital.com/capital/invrelations/shareholder_services 
or contact investorrelations@svgcapital.com/ 
020 7010 8900
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Head office
61 Aldwych  
London WC2B 4AE  
Telephone 020 7010 8900  
Fax 020 7010 8950  
www.svgcapital.com

Secretary and registered office
Stuart Ballard  
61 Aldwych  
London WC2B 4AE  
Telephone 020 7010 8900

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP  
1 More London Place  
London SE1 2AF

Bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc  
10 Gresham Street  
London EC2V 7AE

Registrar for ordinary shares 
Equiniti Limited  
Aspect House  
Spencer Road  
Lancing  
West Sussex BN99 6DA  
Telephone 0871 384 2776* 
Overseas helpline +44 121 415 7047 
Website www.shareview.co.uk
*  Calls cost 8p per minute plus network extras.  

Lines open 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. Monday 
to Friday.

Solicitors
Slaughter and May  
One Bunhill Row  
London EC1Y 8YY 

Brokers and financial advisers
J.P. Morgan Cazenove  
20 Moorgate  
London EC2R 6DA

Numis Securities  
The London Stock Exchange Building  
10 Paternoster Square  
London EC4M 7LT

Espirito Santo Investment Bank 
10 Paternoster Square 
London EC4M 7AL

31 December Company’s year end
February Preliminary results for the financial year announced
February Annual Report published
March Annual General Meeting
April 31 March NAV published
30 June Company’s half year
August Half-yearly results announced 
August Half-yearly report published
October 30 September NAV published
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Glossary of terms

Early-stage

Seed:

Financing provided to allow a business 
concept to be developed, perhaps 
involving production of prototypes and 
additional research, prior to bringing a 
product to market.

Start-up:

Financing provided to companies for the 
use in product development and initial 
marketing. Companies may be in the 
process of being set up or may have been 
in business for a short time, but have not 
sold their product commercially.

Other early-stage:

Financing provided to companies that 
have completed the product development 
stage and require further funds to initiate 
commercial manufacturing and sales. 
They will not yet be generating profit.

Late-stage

Expansion financing:

Capital provided for the growth and 
expansion of a company which is breaking 
even or even trading profitably. Funds may 
be used to finance increased production 
capacity, market or product development 
and/or provide additional working capital. 
Capital provided for turnaround situations 
is also included in this category.

Management Buy-In (MBI):

Funds provided to enable a manager or 
group of managers from outside the 
Company to buy into the Company.

Management Buy-Out (MBO):

Funds provided to enable current 
operating management and investors 
to acquire an existing business.

Follow-on investment
A company which has previously received 
private equity.

Secondary purchase
Purchase of existing shares in a company 
from another private equity firm, or from 
other shareholders.

Public to private
Purchase of the share capital of a company 
quoted on a stock exchange with the 
intention of de-listing the company and 
taking it private.

General Terms
Carried interest (“carry”).

Carried interest or simply “carry” 
represents the share of a private equity 
fund’s profit (usually 20%) that will accrue 
to the general partners.

Committed funds (or “raised funds” or 
“committed capital”) is capital committed 
by investors. This will be requested or 
‘drawn down’ by private equity managers 
on a deal-by-deal basis. This amount is 
different from invested funds for two 
reasons. Firstly, most partnerships will 
invest only between 80% and 95% of 
committed funds. Second, one has to 
deduct the annual management fee which 
is supposed to cover the cost of operation 
of a fund.

Distributions
Payments to investors after the realisation 
of investments of the partnership.

Divestments (or realisations or exits)
Exits of investments, usually via a trade sale 
or an IPO (Initial Public Offering) on a stock 
market.

Draw downs/calls
Payments to the partnership by investors 
in order to finance investments. Funds 
are drawn down from investors on a 
deal-by-deal basis.

Fund of funds
Private equity funds whose principal 
activity consists of investing in other private 
equity funds. Investors in funds of funds 
can thereby increase their level of 
diversification.

Gearing, debt/equity ratio 
or leverage
The level of a company’s borrowings as 
a percentage of shareholder funds.

Hurdle rate
Arrangement that caps the downside 
risk for investors. It allows investors to 
get preferential access to the profits of 
the partnership. In the absence of reaching 
the hurdle return, general partners will 
not receive a share of the profit (carried 
interest). A hurdle rate of 8% means 
that the private equity fund needs to 
achieve a return of at least 8% before 
the profits are shared according to the 
carried interest arrangement.

Limited partnership
Most private equity firms structure their 
funds as limited partnerships. Investors 
represent the limited partners and private 
equity managers the general partners.

Realisation
The sale of an investment.

Secondary market
The secondary market enables institutional 
investors to sell their stakes in a private 
equity partnership before it is wound up.

Trade sale
Sale of the equity share of an investee 
company to another company.

Turnaround
A loss-making company which can 
be successfully transformed into 
a profit maker.

Further information on our website

www.svgcapital.com
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independent adviser. If you have sold or otherwise 
transferred all of your shares, please pass this 
document together with the accompanying 
documents to the purchaser or transferee, or to 
the person who arranged the sale or transfer so they 
can pass these documents to the person who now 
holds the shares.

This document is important and requires your 
immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to 
any aspect of the resolutions being proposed at the 
Annual General Meeting, notice of which is set out 
at the back of this document, or as to the action you 
should take, you should seek your own advice from a 
stockbroker, solicitor, accountant or other appropriate 
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